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INTRODUCTION.

HAVE been asked to write a short introduction to this book,
and have much pleasure in doing so.

Afghanistan is a country which should be of interest to
thinking Englishmen, for its history during the last hun-
dred years has been closely bound up with the history of our
Indian Empire ; and whatever may be the course of future events
in Asia, the Afghan tribes, with their warlike character and
rugged territory, will always have an important part to play.

Having seen something of them, in peace and in war, and
learned to admire their many fine qualities, I hope that they may
long retain the independence to which they are so passionately
attached, and that our future relations with them may become
more and more friendly. However this may be, it is very desir-
able that EEnglishmen should know as much as possible about
them and their past.

Mr. Tate has many special qualifications for the work he has
undertaken. His long service on the North-West Frontier, and
his evident sympathy with the people among whom he has spent
so much of his life, must make what he writes valuable to all
students of Afghan affairs.

The book contains here and there passagesin which I do not
entirely agree ; butthisisinevitable in all such cases. Mr, Tate
has certainly brought to his work not only knowledge and sym-
pathy but much care and research.

A book of the kind is really wanted, and I hope it may meet
with the attention it deserves.

H. M. DURAND.
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URING a period of many years of service on the outskirts
of Afghanistan, I was brought into contact with all classey
of the inhabitants who are now British subjects, and after the
Ghilzai and Hazara rebellions against the late Amir, with

refugees who had retired for a season into the districts adjoining
Afghanistan. ‘*On other occasions also I came into touch with chiefs
and common folk who were the subjects of H. H. the Amir. In this way
an appetite was created for a fuller knowledge of that country and the
people, which was sharpened by the fact that it was impossible to enter
the country. [ very soon found that, besides Elphinstone’s Caubool,

which, although a classic, does not satisfy modern requirements, it
was not possible to obtain in any one book, a general and connected
account of the Afghans. In the course of time, as I had concentrated
my efforts in this direction, I discovered that a very great deal of
valuable information can be found in books, published but out of
print, or difficult to get at; and also in the works of many oriental
authors, the texts of which, either manuscript or printed, can be
obtained. | have ventured to collect between two covers and to
present in a connected form, the record of the most important incidents
in the history of the Afghans and their relations with neighbouring
States, avoiding details which would obscure the narrative without
adding to the value of the result.  An exhaustive account of Afghanistan
and the races, which are grouped under the name Afghan, could not be
achieved at all satisfactorily, except in many volumes, and it would be a
task bevond the powers of an individual author.

The narrative will disclose the help I have received from my friend,
W. Irvine, Esq., I.C.S. (retired); but I am constrained to make a
special acknowledgment for the encouragement 1 have received from
him, and also for a very great deal of active and effective assistance
in prosecuting my researches in this direction ; and lastly for the labour
he has voluntarily undergone in aiding me with valuable information
gleaned trom sources, which, but for him, would have been inaccessible
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to me—at any rate for some time to come. Any merit, which this
narrative may possess, will be due largely to his valuable and cordial
assistance.

With regard to the map of Atghanistan, attached to this book, itis
as well to state explicitly, that it is intended to be no more than a key
to the positions of the more important localities and places mentioned
in the text and to the geographical situation of that country with
reference to the dominions of neighbouring powers. Many very
excellent maps of Afghanistan are to be found in the various atlases
published recently. It would not be possible to improve on those maps
without making inroads on information which at present is withheld
from publication.

G. P. TATE.

Mussoorie, 7th June 1g910.
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Note : for Aar rcad Rhine.
Note : for Forwards read Towards.

Note : 4th line from the bottom, for Hazar Suft r»cad Hazar
Juft.

8th line from the top, delete final s in dissensions.

Note : 3rd line from the end, for Akat read Akal.

Note : for Mists read Misls.

2oth line from the top, for gth August read 19th August.
Note : sth line from the end, delete V after Shuja.
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8th line from the top, read Chiefs. 1gth line from the bottom,
full stop before Shah Shuja.

7th line from the top, for foot read feet.
5th line from the top, delete second | in collossal.
14th line from the top, for expedition read expeditionary.

Appendix IV : 23rd line from the bottom, for Surbat read
Turbat.

Index : for Vilkerrich read Vitkevich.
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THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.

CHAPTER 1.

THE CoUNTRY OF AFGHANISTAN.

ETWEEN the Russian Dominions in Asia and the Indian
Empire of Great Britain, Afghanistanis placed, like a nut,
between the levers of a cracker. The notoriously unwhole-
some quality of the kernel, however, will perhaps continue

to preserve it from being shared by its powerful neighbours. The dis-
organised condition of Persia relieves the Ruler of Afghanistan of all
fears of military aggréssion, but it is not unlikely to be the cause of
considerable anxiety to His Majesty the Amir. The progress of modern
ideas, and the aspirations of the Persians in the direction of some form
of constitutional government, which apparently has terminated the old
established despotism of the Shahs, must, in course of time, filter across
the border into Afghanistan ; and the democratic nature of the people
would seem to render them peculiarly susceptible to the movement,
which has reformed the governments of the Kingdom of Turkey (the
head of Islam) and Persia. The restrictions placed upon trade by the
late Amir, and, therefore, to the influx of foreigners into his country,
may possibly have been designed as a precaution also against the
introduction of modern ideas among his subjects, which would greatly
increase the difficulties with which the rulers have always had to contend
in the administration of that State.

The rivalry (that has happily, of late years, subsided) between the
great powers which are the neighbours of the Afghans has led to the
careful demarcation of the boundaries of that State, with the exception

I
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of a short and unimportant length on the west and east. The generally
accepted area of 243,000 square miles, therefore, may be regarded as
correct. While, however, a fairly accurate general knowledge exists
with regard to the geography of Afghanistan, very little is known as to
the number of the inhabitants the country supports. From observations
made in Seistan, in 1904, there is reason to believe that an average
density of 5o souls to a square mile, is not an excessive estimate, or
(say) 12,000,000 souls for the population of the country. The richer
lands in the wider valleys drained by the principal rivers of the country
carry the dénsest population. In the more elevated and poorer
districts, there are fewer inhabitants, and they are to a certain extent
migratory. Those who are able to avoid the rigorous winter descend
to the lower levels on the approach of that season. Above these
districts, again, are others to which shepherds resort in the spring, and
in which, during the summer, a considerable population is to be found.
These tracts are vacated as winter draws on. The flocks are driven
down to warmer districts, where fodder is procurable and in which
during the early spring (the lambing season), the climate is not too
severe for the young stock.

The name Afghanistan was invented in the 16th and 17th centuries,
as a convenient term by the Moghal government in India, and since
then it has become current in the mouths of foreigners. The Afghans
speak of their country as Wilayat and less commonly as Khurassan,
although Afghanistan covers less than a third of the area of that
ancient Division of Asia. As late as the 14th and 15th centuries, the
country from Kandahar to Kabul, including the Valley of the Helmand,
was still known as Bakhtar Zamin, the country of Bakhtar, and in
1832 Sir Alexander Burnes was tcld that the country from Kabul to
Balkh had also been known by the same name. In this name, perhaps,
may be found a corruption of tke older form of Vaerkerata, which
scholars, versed in the ancient languages of Persia, say, was the name
of a Province which appears in the Avesta. In this name, Bakhtar,
may also be found the origin of the name Baktria, and the Paktyan
land of ancient Eurcopean writers, which was governed by the
Asiatic Greeks till their declining authority, was extinguished by the
inroads of hordes from Central Asia.

The great range of the Hindu-Kush divides Afghanistan into two
unequal parts, about a third part lying to the north of the water-shed.
The country generally consists of narrow valleys sheltered by giant
spurs, and ridges of inferior elevation, which descend from the
parent range, The latter is a double range pierced by streams which
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flow alternately north and south, and drain the trough between the
ridges. The Heri-Rud, the River of Herat, drains the western end of
this trough. Within the present limits of Afghanistan, permanent
snow covers only the loftier summits of the range or collects at the
heads of the most elevated valleys, which descend on either side ; but
the heavy snowfall of winter, on the whole range, and rain which falls
at certain seasons replenish the rivers which rise high up on the
slopes of the mountains., The southern ridge of the Hindu-Kush is
pierced by the beds of the principal rivers of Afghanistan, and the
northern ridge is broken by torrential streams which descend towards
the Oxus ; but only the more important of these actually join that river.
The beds of these streams and rivers are followed by the routes which
cross the lofty saddles of the range, and the lowest of these passes
is the Khawak, considerably over 11,000 feet above sea-level.

The two ridges culminate in the vicinity of the mass of Tirich

“Mir, close to the eastern boundary of Afghanistan, the highest peak
of which attains to an altitude of 25,426 feet above the sea.
Westwards from the junction of the ridges, the Hindu-Kush throws
off minor ranges or great spurs, and continuously decreases in
height ; and to the north of Herat, the mountains disappear under the
sloping glacis which descends towards the Turkoman Desert. A
broken chain of low hills, links the southern water-shed of the Heri-
Rud, and the Hindu-Kush,? with the mountain system of Northern
Persia.

The Kabul, Helmand, the Heri-Rud, the Murghab and the River
of Badakshan to the north of the Hindu-Kush are the principal rivers
of Afghanistan. The Arghassan, Tarnak, Arghandab, which swell the
discharge of the Helmand ; the Rivers of Khash, of Farah and Kushk,

_~~ 1 Geography and Geology of the Hiwalayas : Col. Burrard, RE., F.R.S,,
~4and H. H. Hayden, B. A., F. G. S., 1908 : Part III, pp. 122-123.

? The soldiers of Alexander, the first of all Europeans to cross the range,
named it the Parapamisus. That eminent scholar, the late Sir Henry Rawlinson,
derived this name from Paru-parae-sanna.and which, he wrote, was the cuneiform
title of the range read in full. Jour R. Geogr. Soc. Vol. XLIi, pp. 501-2,

Hindu-Kush is not a modern name. It appears to have been current in the
14th Century, when Timur crossed from Andarab, ‘' by the Pass of (the) Hindu-
Kush, and the ice-bound road (or path) of Jarkidrin’ (Charikar ?) into the valley
of the Kabul river, on his way towards India. Ina 17th Century Indian Chronicle
(Badshihnimah) the variant Hindu-Kuh, is to be found.

Hindu-Kush is probably a corrupticn of Hindi-Kash or Kesh—the boundary
of Hind, 7.e. India. Before the Christian era, and afterwards, there was an inti-
mate connection between the Kabul Valley and India. All the Passes of (he
Hindu-Kush descend into that valley; and travellers from the north as soon as
they crossed the watershed, found a civilization _and religion, the same as that

Mhe great range was the boundary in those days and
a b:{Frﬁ—m-TIfTvE's”Ef'ﬁmes impassable.
Hindu-Kuh—the mountains of Hind—was similarly derived
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the streams which water the district of Sabzawar and which terminate
in the Lake of Seistan ; the other streams which nourish the districts
of Andikhui, Shibarghan and Hazdanahr (Balkh) are the minor rivers of
the country.

Of these the Helmand is the first in rank draining an area of
about 100,000 square miles, and with a discharge in the summer
(taken in Seistan) of 70,000 cubic feet per second in ordinary years.
This river also ranks the twelfth in the list of the rivers of Asia, having
regard to the area drained by it and its tributaries, and eleventh with
reference to the population it supports.? The Kabul river draining an
area of 35,000 square miles, and a discharge about 30,000 cubic feet
per second in the summer, ranks next to the Helmand. The river Hel-
mand is crossed near Girishk with difficulty by travellers from Herat.?
The waters-of the Kabul river flow swiftly to meet the Indus and the
fords are deep and unsafe. Recently, however, it has been spanned_
by a suspeasion bridge near Jalalabad, and permanent communication
between one bank and the other has been insured ; the numerous canals
which irrigate the valley of Herat deplete the waters of the Heri-Rud,
but the Murghab has always nourished the famous oasis of Merv, and
a dam across the river-bed maintains a good supply of water in the
irrigation channels which fertilize the soil. This work was destroyed
by the troops of the Amir of Bokhara towards the close of the 18th
century, but it has been restored by the Russians and the Tsar’s
private domains in that district are a valuable property on which great
results have been achieved by irrigation. The rivers of Andikhui and
Shibarghan are exhausted by the canals which are supplied with water
by them, which have always rendered those districts fertile. The
rivers of Khash, Farah, of Sabzawir, and the Harut Rud are
torrents. They rise in the mountainous district of Ghor aund the
Zamindawar, and are subject to sudden irresistible floods, rendering
them inpassable for a time. These streams contain no flowing water for
some distance' above the lake of Seistan into which their tfloods are

discharged. The principal tributary of the Helmand is the Arghandab,

1 Geography and Geology of the Himalayas, Pt, I1I, p. 120.

* The column detailed to Girishk under Brigadier Genl. Sale, in 1839, crossed
the Helmand in the month of May. The troops crossed with some ditticulty
on rafts made of rum kegs. ‘‘lt was, at one time, contemplated to swim over the
Cavalry horses ; but it is said there would huve been great risk, as the water was
deep, and the stream rushed with such violence, that some few who tried it riding
barebacked were carried more than a mile down the river.,” Major Hougn’s
narrative:—Major Abbot, on his journey from Herat to Simla in 1837-35, crossed
the Helmand at this place on an elephant. Captain Edward Conolly at au earlier
date found that boats, which ferried passengers and goods to the opposite banlk,
were provided at this crossing.
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and its name is derived from the swiftness of the current when in flood.
Itis said to become impassable when the depth of water in its channel
exceeds three feet. In 1839 a cavalry reconnaisance from Kalat-i-
Ghilzai visited the Maidan district on the banks of the Arghandab, and
the tired horses were ridden girth-deep into the stream and slaked their
thirst in its clear swift waters. The country on either banks was found
to be cultivated and studded with towns and villages. The district of
Malistan, in which this river has its source, is famed for its temperate
climate in the summer, rich pastures, and an abundance of springs.
The waters of the Tarnak and Arghasan barely suffice for the demands
of the agriculturists in the country round Kandahar, and in the valley
of the last-namegd stream. The district of Ghor, in which the rivers
of Khash and of Farah rise, has always been famous for its strength
and inaccessibility.

. The Kabul river and its tributaries, the Panjshir and Kunar, rise
at great elevations upon the slopes of the Hindu-Kush. At Dakka
(below Jalalabad), close to which their united waters pass out of Afghan
territory, the elevation of the valley is under 1,300 feet. The Helmand,
at the point where it is crossed on the road from Kabul to
Bamian, is about 10,500 feet above sea-level. The lake which it
forms in Seistan is 1,600 feet above the sea. The rivers of Herat and
the Murghab rise at elevations of about 9,000 feet. Herat itself is
6,000 feet below the source, and Bala Murghab is lower still. Kabul is
under 6,000 feet, Kandahar a little more than 3,000 feet ; Balkh (about
40 miles from the left bank of the Oxus), at the foot of the Hindu-Kush,
is 1,300 feet, and Khamiab, the frontier post of Afghanistan on the left
bank of the Oxus, is only goo feet above the sea. No less than one
hundred and four peaks, attaining altitudes from 20,000 to over 25,000
feet above the sea’ break the sky line of the ridges of the Hindu-Kush;
but these are situated outside of‘the modern limit of Afghanistan on the
east. Within the boundaries of that country, the summit of the range
is considerably below 20,000 feet. The differences in -elevation,
which the country exhibits, are very considerable? and are accompanied
by corresponding differences in climate, scenery, and produce. In the
highest inhabited valleys, the moderate temperature of a short-lived
summer provides a single crop of cereals for the inhabitants. In the
low-lying valleys, a warmer climate, a rich soil, and an abundance of

! Geography and Geology of the Himalayas, Pt. I, p. 31.

* In Switzerland the lowest levels are on the Lago Maggiore 614 feet and at
Basel on the Aar gi4 feet above sea level. The Monte Rosa attains to an elevation
of more than 15,000 feet above the sea.
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water are congenial to rice, the lemon flourishes, and the plantain
was introduced by the famous Baber, who founded the Moghul dynasty
in India. With the exception of Kafiristan and the northern slopes
of the Hindu-Kush, where the forests which once must have clothed
the mountains have escaped complete destruction, the country may,
with justice, described as treeless, except where, in the valleys,
fruit trees take the place of natural vegetation.

There is no part of Afghanistan where snow never falls. The
rainfall is very small, and except on irrigated lands, there is
an absence of moisture, and the climate of the country is very
favourable to human existence. The inhabitants of those lands
suffer from ailments, due to malaria and damp. ** The district of
Hazdanahar (so called from the 18 water-courses which exhaust the
water of the River of Balkh) in which Balkh stands, the country round
the Cities of Kabul and of Kandahar and the small district of Girishk
on the right bank of the Helmand, are notoriously unhealthy in the
summer. Owing to neglect of the elements of sanitation, and owing
to vicious habits diseases are rife in the towns. The dry atmos-
phere, and bright sunshine during the greatest part of the year,
combined with the migratory habits of a large proportion of the
inhabitants, and the isolated position of the principal centres of
population in Afghanistan with respect to neighbouring countries,
have preserved the inhabitants of that country from the pestilences
which scourge India so frequently. 2

Years of scarcity are not infrequent, but severe distress is
confined to those districts in which cultivation depends chiefly on the
rainfall. It rarely becomes very general or developes into a famine.
The rivers, which are fed by the snowfall on the Hindu-Kush, provide
an unfailing but variable supply of water, which is conveyed to the
lands on either bank by open flood water canals, and in suitable locali-
ties, under-ground springs are tapped and their waters led by means
of Karezes to lands often many miles distant from the heads of these

1 In the vicinity of Kabul, the sub-soil water is about 6 feet below the surface
of the land. At Kandahar it is about 4 feet, and in the vicinity of Herat trom 10
to 12 feet below the surface.

* In the 15th century an outbreak of pestilence—probably of plague, almost
depopulated the City of Herat, at that time the capital of the wide Empire, ruled
by Shah Rukh, the son of Tamerlane. The disease attracted notice on the
6th february 1435, by which time it had become established. It raged for four
months. A local chronicler has recorded the mortality in that period at
1,000,000 souls in the city itself and the surrounding country. An oulbreak of
pestilence in 1685 was general, and as it was considered worthy of being recorded,
the mortality must have been very great. The year 1828 was marked by another
visitation, and Herat was again afflicted.
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works. Wherever it is possible to do so, the inhabitants surround
their villages and towns with orchards and vineyards,* and the banks
of the irrigation channels are adorned with fruit trees, poplars and
willows. The Tajiks are famous horticulturists.  Expert judges
profess to recognise more than thirty varieties of grapes alone. All
stone fruits attain to perfection. The melons (of many varieties),
grown in the country round Herat and Kandahar have always been
celebrated for their flavour. Dried fruit of all kinds used to be
imported in very great quantities to India; and the value of this
branch of trade is said to have exceeded that of all other exports not
excepting even the export of horses, at a time when the imports ot
horses into India from Australia was in its infancy, and when
Afghanistan supplied India with animals suited for all kinds of work.
Wheat and barley are the staple crops ; but rice and other cereals are
cultivated successfully in suitable localities. The chaff, after the
Wwheat and barley have been trodden out and winnowed, forms the
principal supply of food for horses, camels, and live-stock generally
during the winter, and for the greater part of the year. The
silkworm is raised in the valley of Herat, and silk is manufactured
there, not, however, to the same extent that it was when Herat was
the capital of Khurassan. Sir Alexander Burnes is credited with the
introduction of the potato into Afghanistan in 1837. The soil is
a light loam, impregnated with saline constituents, but wherever water
is available for irrigation, it yields a good return to the husbandman.
The animals owned by the latter supply the manure which is necessary,
but as the quantity is not great, it is reserved for those lands which
can be irrigated. Shepherds are encouraged to herd their flocks on
outlying fallow lands during the winter, and the wmanure which
collects within the folds is valued by the owners of the soil. The
national agricultural implement is the spade, and the universal pattern
of plough, which is used everyv\;here in the east, is also employed to till
the land. In constructing irrigation channels, a shallow brass or iron
dish containing water is used as a guide for the eyve of the person in
charge of the work and serves the purpose of a level.

The theory usually prevalent in oriental countries that the soil is the
property of the State, is considerably modified in Afghanistan owing
to the turbulent character of a large part of the population occupying
the land ; and among the latter some very curious primitive customs

1 The vines are grown inside parallel trenches, and are trained up the slopes
of the banks into which the soil is heaped between the trenches. The plants are
in this way sheltered from the cutting winds, and additional protection is afforded
by means of high walls enclosing the vineyard,
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are in force regarding the distribution of tribal lands whether among
the various families of the tribe or among individuals in the latter.
The underlying principle is probably to attempt to maintain a rough
equilibrium of prosperity between the occupiers of land unequal
in quality, so as to prevent some members of the community
becoming rich on good holdings, while others starve on poor soil.
The periods for which the shares are held extends to several years,
but the details of the system vary among the tribes observing it and
in different districts. Some extend its application—each male, female
or child receiving a share, including the houses in their villages in
the redistribution, and on the other hand among the certain tribes of
the Ghilzais, unmarried men are said not to receive any share at all,
the right being apparently restricted to the heads ot families. In
some districts the distribution is effected by lot, if a majority of those
interested in the operation wish it.

About 43,000 square miles of unproductive desert exists in the
extreme southern portion of Afghanistan. The river of Khash and
the Helmand flow through this inhospitable region, but the restricted
areas on their banks, which might be cultivated by means of irrigation,
are insignificant in comparison with the expanse of desert on every side.
Although no one knows how much of the remaining area of 200,000
square miles is capable of cultivation, yet it is possible to make a
rough estimate which may be not very far from the truth, by taking as
a guide the proportion of cultivable land, which is known to existin
those districts (once a part of Afghanistan), which have been trans-
ferred to the Indian Empire, from the Kuram Valley on the north to
Sibi on the south. Ten per cent. of the whole area of Afghanistan may
perhaps represent the area which might be cultivated. Of this, how-
ever, only ten per cent. again may be actually under crops in any
year, owing to a variety of causes, of which the varying quality of the
soil, the precarious supply of moisture supplied by nature, and the
nomadic proclivities of a large proportion of the population are the
more important.

The mineral resources of the country are as yet unexplored ; and
as it is a task which can be successfully carried out only by foreign
experts, progress in this direction must be slow. Some minerals such
as silver, lead, antimony and iron have always been worked in a very
unskilful and desultory fashion; and traces of gold have been dis-
covered in the neighbourhood of Kandahar. The dislike of foreigners
and of their interference, whether it is due to hostile relations with
foreigners in the past, a dread of sinister designs on their country and
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cherished liberty, or to an unconfessed knowledge of their own barba-
rity, on the part of the Afghans themselves, offer an unsurmountable
barrier to the exploration of the mineral resources of the country, and
to development in other directions. Thelast thirty years of peace be-
tween India and Afghanistan cannot but have had an effect on this ex-
clusive attitude. India offers now, as it always has done, a field for
the enterprise of the Afghans, whose hands can wield indifferently a
cloth measure, a spade, a sword or a rifle. Numbers of the poorer
classes of the population enter India every winter, when all avocations
are suspended in their own country, either for trade or seeking
for employment. The needy tribesmen wander as far afield as Assam
and Burma in search of work, which the natives are too well off or too
indolent to undertake themselves, and for wages which apparently
offer no temptation to the natives for exertion. The Afghans have
crossed the sea to Australia with camels, and some have amassed
money there in other occupations. A very few individuals have even
returned to their homes accompanied by white women, whom they have
induced to take a step, the ultimate result of which-can never be
known. Such intercourse with countries beyond their borders cannot
but have an effect favourable to the increase of knowledge, and that
desire for the amenities of civilized existence, which is such an incentive

to progress.

The future of Afghanistan lies in Afghanistan; and though the
ignorance of the mass of the population will retard the development of
the natural resources of their country ; of late years, it is evident that
the government, and probably the more thoughtful among the popu-
lation, haverealized the fact. Recent small importations of machinery
for industrial purposes is a very hopeful sign of this movement. The
absence of fuel is a serious hindrance; but it has led to a search for
coal, hitherto apparently without much success, which will probably
lead to other discoveries, and finally may attain the desired end.

Lastly, owing to the poverty of the country and scanty supplies,
the difficulties of transport and communications, and the intractable
character of the inhabitants, in whom an aptitude for guerrilla warfare
has become an inherited talent, the words of King Henri IV of France,
by which he described Spain of his day, are almost equally appropriate
as a description of Afghanistan of the present time:—It is a
country which it is impossible to conquer, a little army is beaten
there, and a large one starved.-

T Life of Louis, Prince of Conde—Earl Stanhope.



CHAPTER II

CLAIM OF THE AFGHANS TO BE DESCENDED FROM
DisPERsSED TRIBES OF ISRAEL.

HE origin. of the tribes who call themselves Afghans has
attracted a great deal of attention, owing to the fact that
they claim to be the descendgngsﬁqiiegﬁwdsettléd
in Ghor; and the various clans refer their origin to some

one of the¥hree sons of Kais, the chieftain of that community, who is
said to have been the 37th in descent from Saul, King of Israel.
Owing to intercourse with the Jews settled in Arabia, so the story
goes, Kais was induced to visit the Prophet Muhammad, who won
the Jewish Chief to Islam, and bestowed on him the name of Abdur
Rashid, and the title of Pahtan. This last is a mysterious word which
cannot be traced to an origin in any known language, but it is believ-
ed to mean either or both, the rudder, or the mast of a ship. So say
those who have committed the genealogy of the Afghans to paper.
The conversion of Kais is not mentioned in the history of Islam.

The so-called genealogy of the Afghans was compiled at a time
when all the races of Mankind were believed to have been the
offspring of the first man and woman created by the Almighty and the
eponymous ancestor of every tribe appears at some stage in the
genealogy, which there seems every reason to believe was concocted
in the 15th century A. [., probably when the Afghans began to
attain to power in India, The main feature in it is the alleged Jewish
ancestry of all the tribes, and this belief must have been very strong
for the retention of the legend, when the tables of descent were
compiled. All that can be said at present is that the legend has pre-
served the memory of a fact which has dropped out of history. Itis not
improbable that there may have been a Hebrew Community in Ghor."

The Jews of Bokhara delivered to Dr. Wolff a tradition to the
effect that ‘when their forefathers belonging to the Reubenites,
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Gadites and the half tribe of Manasseh were removed by Tiglath
Pileser ’ (B.C. 738) * they were brought to Hala (Balkh), and Habor
‘(-S‘_;r;l—arkand) and Hara (Bokhara) and to the river of Gozan (that is
to say, the Amu, (called by Europeans the Oxus), from Palestine’. If

this is a genuine tradition, it would render possible the presence of

an independent community of professing Jews in the adjoining
fastnesses of Ghor and the Firuzkoh. This tradition described the
dispersal of the Hebrews by Chingiz Khan' and they fled into
Sabzawar and Nishapur in Khurassan and dwelt there for some
centuries till they at last returned to their former seats along the
Oxus, and claim to have been kindly treated by the famous Tamerlane,

In February 1896, on the southern boundary of Afghanistan, men
pointed out an almost obliterated mound and a hollow, which they
said were the remains of a fort and tank constructed by the Bani Israel,
who had come from the west and passed on towards the north.
Both the mound and hollow needed to be carefully pointed out, so time-
worn were thev. It is, as far as can be ascertained, the only instance
in which the tradition of the exiled Israelites—the Bani-Israel of the
Afghan legend, has been found to be associated, with a definite site
or remains. There is, of course, that famous shrine in the Lamghan
district on the Kabul River, dedicated to the Saint Mihtar Lam, who is
said to have been buried there and who is supposed by some to have

been none other than the Patriarch Lamech.
’M

The persecution of the Hebrews inPersia, set on foot by the
Sassanian Monarch Firuz, in 490 A.D., scattered them over Asia.

European travellers and authors in the 12th century mention the
existence of independent communities of Israelites in Eastern Persia

P S—
\

and in Afghanistan and in India.?
¥

The silence of local historians as to the existence of any Hebrew
communities cannot be regarded as proof to the contrary ; for those
writers were more eager to embellish their pages with the record or
high political aflairs and the marchings of vast armies, led by potent
sovereigns, than to treat of humbler events ; but the existence of an
independent community and a ruling chief could hardly have escaped
notice, except by reason of the fact that they had forsaken their
religion and had adopted Islam or an earlier Pagan religion instead.

! Life and adventures of the Revd. Joseph Wolff,D D.,LL.D., Vol.1l pp. r2-53

D i .

* The mystery that shrouded the fate of those Israelites, Who never returned
to their native Jand, inspired the journey of discovery, undertaken by the Rabbi
Benjamin of Toledo and by Petachya of Prague. The former discovered a com-
munity of professing Jews, 4,000 strong, belonging to the tribes of Dan, Asher,
Zebulon, and Naphthali who maintained their independence in the mountains of
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The district of Ghor is an unexplored part of Afghanistan, and no

European has set eyes _on the ruins of the comparatively modern capi-

tal of the Ghori Sultans. It was also the last stronghold of an ancient

religion professed by the inhabitants when all their neighbours had
become Muhammadan. In the 11th century A. D. Mahmud of Ghazni

defeated. the Prince of Ghor, 1bn-i-Suri, and made him prisoner in a
severely contested engagemeﬁt in the valley of Ahingaran. Ibn-i-
Suri is called 1« Hindu by the author, who has recorded his overthrow ;
iﬁfo‘es not follow that he was one either by religion or by race, but
merely that he was not a Muhammadan.

Although the Afghans firmly believe the legend of their Jewish
origin, yet indications exist which support a contrary opinion. Afghan-
istan has been the ante-chamber of India for centuries of time beginning
with ages of which no knowledge exists. Through this country have
passed those successive immigrations of nations which have spread
over the plains of the Punjab and Upper India, from which the preseﬁt-
day population of those tracts has descended. Some part of these
immigrants may have drifted over the barrier of the Hindu-Kush, as
bands of fugitives, but the great movements must have followed the
easier route round the western end of those lofty mountains, the immi-
grants travelling deliberately, encumbered with their families, and
driving before them their herds of cattle and live stock. The valley of
the Helmand and of its tributaries provided easy routes for this advance,
and further to the east, the well trodden paths, which follow the
courses of the Kuram, the Tochi, Gomal and Bolan Streams admit-
ted the immigrants to their ultimate destination in the valley of the
Indus and further 1o the east. It is reasonable to suppose that some
part of the immigrating nations must have remained in Afghanistan,

Nishapur. Their Prince, a Hebrew, in 1153 acknowledged the Sultan of the
Saljuks as his Suzerain. Petachya found a race of dark skinned Israelites in India,
who had preserved merely the observance of the Sabbath, and the rite of circum-
cision. History of the Jews. H. Graetz, Vol. II.

Edrisi in the 12th century compiled a treatise on geography, and he
gives a curiously circumstantial and accurate description of the old town
of Kandahar, where he says a whole quarter in the town was occupied by
infidel, i.e., professing Hebrews, for Edrisi was a Muhammadan. The existence
of such a community is not confirmed by well known authors, such as Al
Baihaki (12th century), and the author of the Tabakat-i-Nasiri (r3th century),
both of whom were natives of Khurassan and might be expected to have known
of the existence of such a community. There were, however, two cities both named
Kandahar and both with the same letters, one was in the Southern Afghan country
and the second in the Peninsula of India. Whether the latter town was in
existence in the 12th century is uncertain ; if it was, perhaps that was the town
intended by Edrisi, who may have confounded it with the other town of the same
name in Afghanistan. In the Indian town of Kandahar a community of pro-
fessing Hebrews might very possibly have been in existence.
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and that from them are descended the semi-pastoral tribes who call
themselves Afghans. These may have comz to regard, in course of
time, the Jewish Princes of Ghor as their overlord and, as time passed,
themselves as members by blood of that community. At the present
day there are confederacies of tribes called by one name, the members
of which belong to a variety of tribes who have been drawn together
by common interests, and who now call themselves by the general
name of the group to which they belong—Brahui, Imak, Durani, and

s0 on. The spread of Islam, which for some six centuries had put an
end to the recurring immigrations, on a large scale, of nations from
Central Asia into the countries to the south of the Oxus, has ina
great measure obliterated all knowledge of their origin among those

who follow the teachings of that religion.

The name Afghan appears in chronicles of the 11th and succeed-
ing Centuries A. D,, when they had passed under the rule of the dynasty
founded by Sabaktakin (on the ruins of the Empire of the Samams),

and whose capital was Ghazni, now a town of second-rate import-
ance in Afghanistan. Af that time the Afghans appear to have been
located in the country to the south and east of that city, oo the banks
of the Indus river, and in the narrow valleys and glens of the Roh.
This name was applied to the mountainous and unproductive tract, with
which we are now very familiar as the home of those unruly people,
the Afridis and the Waziris. It is composed of great spurs which
descend from the western water-shed of the Indus ; and the name was
given to all the country from the Safed Koh, south of the Kabul River to
Cape Monze, overlooking the Sea of Oman. The mountains to the
north of the Kabul River and between the Kunar and Jhelum rivers
also, were at one time regarded as forming a part of the Roh. Later,
when the Afghans had risen to importance in the country to the west
of the water-shed, the country up to the Helmand River was supposed by
them to be a part of the Roh. In the r11th century, the Afghans were
notorious for their turbulence and as bad subjects, and the famous
Mahmud Sultan of Ghazni, the son of Sabaktakin, was forced to
take order with them, and the difficult character of their abodes or
fastnesses (in the Roh) is mentioned.

Up to the first quarter of the 13th century, the countries to the
west of the Roh were occupied and controlled by a civilized population.
Then took place the collapse of the barriers that Islam had opposed for
almost six centuries to the inroads of barbarians from ,Central Asia,
Religious schisms had weakened the faith of the professors of Islam, and
political rivalries had still further relaxed the bond of unity between
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them that had prevailed at an earlier period.* The hordes of Chingiz
Khan beat down the ill-concerted and desultory oppogffirahmby
the world of Islam, and for a time the fabric of society and civilization
was overthrown by the onslaught of the Mongols. The fair Province
of Khurassan was depopulated and devastated. For three hundred
years and _more, wandering hordes of Mongols, Turks and later of
Uzbegs rendered life in it too strenuous for the barbarous Afghans, who
—— .

were pushed about the country or projected into India. It was not
till the 16th century and the early part of the following century that
the Uzbegs were forced beyond the Hindu-Kush and the vacant lands

that existed in all districts were available for the Afghans to occupy.?
- R Sam——

These conditions which lasted for nearly 300 years have left their
impress on the population, which is now composed of three races, each
of which differs from its neighbours in many very important respects:
in physiogonomy, in character and in their mode of life. These are the
Hazara, the Tajik, and the Afghan tribes. The Hazaras are Mongols—
relics of the invasion of Chi;lgiz Khan, reinforced afterwardsk‘t_)Tlater
arrivals from the banks of the Oxus and the country beyond. The

ps

physical traits of the Hazaras have rendered them easilydistinguishable.
Tmmme heretical form of bellefofthMt
They do not coalesce socially or politically with either Tajik or
Afghan. They are located to the west of the road from Kandahar to
Kabul ; and they occupy that tract to-day in which the Huns settled and
where they had their centres of government in the 6th century A. D.

The Hazaras are hardy, strongly built and industrious, and the ranks

1 The political ambitions of the Caliph-an-Nasir, caused him to fall out with
his (at one time) any, Muhammad, Khwarazm Shah. The Caliph was powerless
for open enmity with a potentate whose Empire reached from the Jaxartes to the
Persian Gulf, so he invited Chingiz Khan to attack the Khwarazm sovereign, and
sent an embassy to the pagan chieftain to urge him to take this course, which a
few years later extinguished the Caliphate itself. The Caliphate, Muir. pp. 582-3.

* Some time in the 13th or 14th century the Mongols expelled the Momands
and Khallils from their possessions in the valley, from Kalat-i-Ghilzai, towards
Kabul, including Ghazni, Shashgau, Hafttasia and Haidar Khel. The tribes then
wandered down the valley of the Kabul, and seized the lands they now occupy
turning out the Dilazaks, who were driven across the Indus into Chach. The
Wardak clan deprived the Hazaras subsequently of the lands they had taken
from the Momands and Khallils to the north of Ghazni.

A similar probable cause also decided the Yusufzais to abandon their homes
in the country between Nushki and Quetta. They wandered northwards through
the Zhob Valley, and after a long period passed in moving about Afghanistan and
northwards towards the Hindu-Kush, in the first quarter of the 15th century ; they
finallysettled down in their present abodes.

The Parni tribe, who came into collision with Timur at the close of the 14th
century, in the upper part of the Lohgar Valley, were impelled southwards.
These are a few instances that will illustrate the vicissitudes the tribes suffered
before the rise of the Safavi, and Moghul Empire of Delhi gave them an
opportunity of a less strenuous existence.
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of servants and labourers throughout the country are recruited from
them. In consequence of this they are to be found all over Afghanistan,
and have even provided the Indian Army with useful soldiers.

The Tajiks display to-day all those qualities, which distinguished
the agricultural population in the valley of the Oxus, who were known to
the Chinese as the Ta-hia. They live in houses and form orderly village

commumtles. They are apprec1at1ve of the benefits of education
and of the amenities of civilized existence ; and in their households
they maintain a higher standard of cwt \vhicmails
among the Afghans or Hazaras. Théy are everywhere regarded as
the people of the soil; descendants of the ancient race which
owned the land. In spite of centuries of misgovernment and op-
pression at the hands of predatory barbarians, they have clung
tenaciously to agriculture, and engage in commerce as well. Wherever
there is arable soil and water to irrigate it, there always is to be
found a remnant of this ancient race. Called by different names in
different localities, whether they be known as Dehwar “or Dehkin
(inhabitants of villages), Tajik, or Farsiwan (Persian-speaking—Persian
is their mother-tongue) ; they are one people and in all probability they
represent the original Iranian or Aryan race among whom Zoroaster
published his doctrine ; among whom the Greek colonists of Alexander

e — s

settled, and to whom_a tEousand years later the soldiers of Islam
“offered the alternatives of the Koran, the Poll-tax, or the sword.
———e e

While the Mongol Hazara holds aloof, the Tajik and Afghan are

drawn together by common interests ; and the former first calls himself
an Afghan and owns to being a Tajik afterwards.

The Afghans pride themselves on their nomadic proclivities,
and on those qualities, which they complacently regard as military
virtues, but which others may stigmatize, with good reason, as
brutality. The Afghan is frequently spoken of as a Pat-han, and in the
latter some have professed to recognise the name of a people
mentioned by Herodotus * and other writers of antiquity. In some

“parts of the country, the term Pat-hin appears to be restricted to
those tribes who are cultivators of the lands they occupy. Afghan is
applied to the tribes collectively, and also to the pastoral tribes among
them. These affect to despise the Tajik as men of peace, civilians, in
fact—and this attitude towards the arts of peace attaches a stigma to
those tribes of Afghans, who themselves engage in agricultures.

——="1 The Paktues, and Pakthas of the Vedas. The Afghans. call themselves
Pakhtin (pl. Pakhtﬁna) from which the change to Pahtina and again to Pathin
is easy.
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Differences of religious dogmas of Islam—the Shia and Suni
schools of thought tend to keep the Tajik apart from the Afghan.
The Tajik is usually a Shia—the Afghan always professes to be a
Suni of a bigoted type. In the Kuram Valley there are, however,
tribes which regard themselves as Afghans, but which profess the Shia
doctrines. They are, however, the exception, and of not great im-
portance. The ignorant and arrogant Afghan cannot, however, do
without the despised Tajik, whether as agriculturists or administrators,
They intermarry, but the Tajik wife ranks below other wives belonging
to Afghan tribes. Some of the greatest men in the history of the
country have been the offspring of such mixed unions, the ability and
prudence for which they have been distinguished having been in-
herited from their Tajik mothers.

An Afghan tribe is theoretically constituted from a number of
kindred groups of agnates, that is to say, descent is through the
father, and the son inherits the father’s blood. The groups coin-
prising the tribe are divided into a multiplicity of sub-divisions, which
it is almost impossible to follow ; but for practical purposes, four are
in common use—the ‘‘ Kaum ” or main body, the ¢ Khel ”’ or ¢ Zai,”
representing both the class (a group generally occupying a common
locality), and the section, a group whose members live in close
proximity to one another and probably hold common land ; and lastly
the *“ Kahol", a family group united by kinship. Affiliated with many
tribes are to be found a number of alien groups known as * mindun ”
r *“ hamsayah.” In such cases the test of kinship does not apply,
and such groups, families, or individuals are united to the tribe by
common good and common ill. In other words, common blood feud
is the underlying principle uniting a tribe, but the conception in
time merges into the fiction of common blood, f.e., connection by
kinship.

Amon«r the -\t«rhans heredity is not a fixed Qrmcmle but the unﬁt

_’_—__—/’- e ——.
13 war an to manage 1ts affairs in tlmes of peace Individuality has
a greater held for its expression among Afghans than among other

races.
Social or class distinctions are lightly esteemed by them.' [n

every tribe, however, there are families who claim a superior social

1 As free-born, all Afghans areon an equality with, though not as rich. perhaps
as their chiefs. Honours and property can only be inherited by sons borne by
free women—the son of the handmaid inherits the disabilities of his mother, and
is regarded as spurious. A bare subsistence is all he is entitled to.

A Baluchistan District Gazetteer, Vol. V..=Quetta, Pishin, 1907.
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status, the reason for which is no longer apparent. Among the rest
all are on an equal social level, and even the office of malik does not
give the holder of it any superiority over the rest of his countrymen.
The office is filled by election, and depends on the goodwill of the
electors, With regard to the supreme chieftainship of a great tribe,
consisting of many sub-divisions, the dignity is hereditary in some par-
ticular family, any member of which, however, can be elected as
the chief, the choice depending on the characters of the available
candidates. In time of peace the eldest son of the chieftain usually
succeeds his father ; but in times of peril it not unfrequently
happens that some person who has displayed pre-eminent courage and
ability is acknowledged as their chieftain by the tribesmen, although he
may not belong to the family in which the office has become hereditary.

The bold and warlike character of the Afghans has always pre-
served them (rom being crushed by the despotic use of power by their
chiefs or kings. Innovations are liable to be fiercely resented and
opposed by the armed strength of the tribes concerned. The
petty and selfish ambitions of the chiefs, tribal feuds and jealousies
have always enabled an adroit Ruler to maintain his authority, and
by acts of well-timed daring even to assert his supremacy, over the
chiefs and people of Afghanistan. The great Ahmad Shah, and his
equally famous minister, were compelled to regard the wishes of the
people, and their policy and schemes were liable to be frustrated by

his stiff-necked subjects, when they were not in accordance with popu-

lar feeling. The ruthless determination displayed by the late Amir,

Abdur Rahman, with regard to the establishment of the supremacy of
the crown, and in order to break down opposition to his plans for

raising his country in the scale of civilization, placed him far above
his predecessors. Having subdued the tribes by removing those

persons whose influence was likely to prove dangerous, he was able to

control the irresponsible priesthood of Afghanistan—a measure which

no preceding Rulers of the country would have dared to attempt.r

The progress of modern ideas which promises to remodel the con-
servative and despotic monarchies of Turkey and Persia into some
form of constitutional governments cannot but affect Afghanistan i
course of time ; and it is easy to understand the interest which events

1 The support of the Duranis and Tajiks enabled him to do this succesfully.

The latter are always ready to support a stable government, Their interest lies

on the side of law and order or as close to these_conditions _as it_is possible to

attain in Afghanistan., Theé Duranis had their ancient feud with the Ghilzaisand

Txﬁ‘tﬁﬂ'ﬁﬁb‘rﬁﬁm with the Hazaras. The Triumph of the Barakzai Amir was

shared by every single Durani, as they attained to supremacy over all the other
tribes in their country period,
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in those countries are reported to have created among the Afghans,

who appear to be peculiarly susceptible to a movement which has
revolutionized the Muhammadan Empires of Western Asia, by reason

of their democratic nature and the practice of managing their domestic
ffairs by means of tribal and family councils.

The history of the Afghans is practically the story of the two
great confederacies led by the Duranis and Ghilzais. At present the
former are supreme in Afghanistan, but the latter possess the more
brilliant record. They have given kings to India and Persia, and have
ruled as kings in their own country. The memory of these achieve-
ments has led to sanguinary struggles against the supremacy of the
Duranis. The bravery and the numerical superiority of the Ghilzaiy
mmwever, been rendered of no avail, owing to a fatal absence of
co-operation. Owing to the extent of country over which they are
spread, local interests have caused theinterests of the clan atlarge to be
lost sight of, some tribes holding back, while the others were asserting
their pretensions in arms. Owing to their position at the head of the
Passes, which lead to India, they have been intimately connected with
that country. The Ghilzais are both agricultural and pastoral in their
mode of life, according to the position of the lands they occupy. The
Duranis have been associated with Persia, owing to their situation in
Afghanistan. Theirs is apparently a better military organisation than
that of their rivals. They are more equestrian or nomadic in their
habits than the latter. The histories of the less famous tribes contain
a great deal of interesting information, but do not illuminate the
obscurer portions of the history of their country. With some
'/fnportant exceptions, such as the Momands, the Yusufzais, the Afridis
and Khataks, the tribes have adhered to one or other of the con-
federacies led by the Ghilzais and the Duranis.?

! The Duranis are divided into two groups known as the Panjpai, or Panjpao
and Zirak. The former consist ofthe tribes of Nurzai, Alizai, Ishakzai, Khwa-
gani and Maku. The Zirak division, of the Popalzai, Alakozai, Barakzai and
Achakzai. The Sadozais belonged to the Popalzai clan, the present Muham-
madzai Dynasty to the Barakzai clan. The Popalzai are located to the north of
Kandahar, but are to be found in the country towards the Helmand. The
Barakzais to the south of Kandahar, towards the Helmand and in the Arghasan
valley. The Achakzais were a branch of this tribe from which they were separated.
it is said, by Ahmad Shah. The Achakzais inhabit the country between the
Kadanai and Lora rivers, the western edge of the Pishin district and the Khojak
and Toba hills, in the Baluchistan Agency.

The Nurzais towards Seistan, Khish and Farah. The Alizai head-quarters
are in the Zamindiwar country. The Ishakzais (or Sakzis) range from Seistan to
the Arghasan valley. The Khwagani and Makus are small clans, with no distinct
range or habitat. Some regard them as merely the ‘* Hamsayahs' or clients
or adoptives of the other three tribes.
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The Alakozai tribe of the Zirak division now is to be found towards Herat,
but the eponymous ancestor of this tribe —Alako—is said to have been buried at
Nicharah, a valley in the Harboi mountains to the east of Kalat in Baluchistan,
The tomb of Alako is said to be regarded as a Ziarat.

These tribes were known early in their history as the Abdals or Avdals.
Perhaps in this name we may find a survival of the Ephthalites, called by the Per-
sians Hiatila, the name of the dominant race in the confederacy of equestrian tribes
known in history as the Huns., Durani is a later name for the Avdals or Abdals,
and is popularly believed to have originated in the practice of wearing pearl
earrings, but in the time of Ahmad Shah, the clansmen as a body could not have
afforded such luxuries. It seems not impossible, however,that this name existed at
an earlier date as it seems to appear in a 17th ceatury chronicle, the Shahjahin-
namabh.

The Tarins, of whom the Abdals are supposed to have been a branch accord-
ing to the fabulous genealogy of the Afghans, migrated largely to India and
maintained a steady intercourse with that country through Multan, but the Dura-
nis or Abdals for some reason do not appear to have followed this example to any
appreciable extent. Probably their equestrian or nomadic way of life rendered
them disinclined to settle in India.

The Tarins, on the contrary, are agricultural and commercial in their mode of
life compared with the Abdalis.

NOTE.

»

NOTE.—The tradition preserved by Lhe Hebrews of Bokhara (according to
Dr. Joseph Wolff) gains in m, when it 1s recollected that, according to
classical story, Bactria was first conquered and added to Assyria by Ninus.
The connection of this country with the early Persian Empire rests on a better
foundation. We are told that Cyrus built the great city of Cyropolis to guard
the fords of the Jaxartes (Jihun). He initiated the policy of governing Bactria,
through a Prince of the Blood Royal, as the Satrap.

After the disastrous invasion of Greece, by Xerxes (about 480 B.C.), tha
monarch planted a colony of Ionian Greeks beyond the Oxus. The Branchiadae,
originally from Miletus ; they had been compelled to fly from this place when the
Greek cities of Asia finally cast off the Persian yoke. They were obliged to escape
from the wrath of their Greek neighbours because they had been guilty of betray.
ing the ireasures of Apollo of Didymi to the Persians.

Their descendants enthusiastically welcomed the soldiers of Alexander; but
they were butchered by his orders presumably on account of the sacrilege
committed by their forefathers. (Bactria: the Hare University Prize Essay,

?1908, by H. G. Rawlinson, M. A.)

A connection between the country in the valley of the Oxus, and beyond that
river—and therefore, presumably with Afghanistan—and the valley 6f the Euphra-
tes and the seaboard of the Mediterranean, must have existed from times of
which we have no knowledge.




CHAPTER IIIL

RELATIONS wWITH INDIA,

HE kingdoms of the Sultans of Ghazni and of Ghor gave place

to another whose capital was situated on the lower Oxus.

Their territories to the west of the Indus became a part ot

the unwieldy kingdom of Khwarazm. On the downfall of

the Ghori Sultans in the early years of the 13th century, the Mameluke
of the last Sultan, who had governed his master’s Indian possessions,
set himself up as an independent ruler. During the predominance of
the Mongols and Turks in the countries beyond the Indus, India
offered an asylum to fugitives from the west, who formed a welcome
addition to the military resources of the Muhammadan Rulers of
Delhi. The fugitive chieftains and their followers acquired wealth
and influence in India, and in course of time disputed the throne of
Delhi, or established themselves as independent kings on the frontiers
of Islam in India. But the vigour and resolution of the racesto which
they belonged deteriorated in the malarious and enervating climate of
their new possessions, and the services of warlike immigrants from
the west were gladly accepted and formed a valuable accession to the
forces of the Muhammadan Princes, confronted as they were with
coalitions of powerful Hindu adversaries. The hardy Afghans were
assured of lucrative employment as mercenaries ; and the Ghilzais as
the nearest to India appear to have availed themselves very readily of
guch a state of affairs, Among these, the Lodism
pre-eminent. This tribe (which has practically disappeared from
Afghanistan) belonged to the eastern section of the Ghilzais. In 978,
Shekh Hamid Lodi had been appointed governor of the Lamghan
district (on the Kabul river) and of Multan by the founder of the
me dynasty, and his descendants, or members of his sept,
played an impertant part in the history of India for about 700 years.
The grandson of Hamid Lodi governed Multan (for the famous
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Sultan Mahmud) till he embraced the heretical tenets of the Karma-
thians, numerous in Multan. Another member of this family, Malik
Mahmud, accompanied the ill-fated M_MU_LZ_ULCIIH on his
expeditions to India. v

When the grandfather of Bahlol Lodi of the Shahu Khel sept
quarrelled with his elder brother, it was to India that he directed his
footsteps, and he appears to have prospered. The uncle of Bahlal
Lodi attained to power and wealth, and is said to have given employ-
ment to 12,000 Afghan soldiers of fortune. The father of Bahlol
WWnother Ghilzai tribe, and
his son was brought up by the uncle Islam Khan, and eventually
succeeded to the estates and wealth of the latter. About 1486-7 Bahlol
Lodi seized the throne of Delhi, and when he died he left a fair
heritage to his son (1492). The successors of Bahlol departed from

the democratic mode of life and conduct of their ancestors, and a

rigorous ettiquette offended their Afghan nobles. Notwithstanding

his unpopularity, when he was threatened with invasion by the famous
Ilmurlde Prince, Baber, the Afghans rallied to the standards of
Sultan Ibrahim, grandson of Bahlol, who took the field at the head of
a vast but unwieldy force, and in the decisive action at Panipat, the
Lodi Sultan fell with some 3,000 of his countrymen (26th April 1526).
Among others whom the late Sultan had estranged was his kinsman,
Daulat Khan Lodi, who possessed great influence in the Punjab, and
‘who incited and aided Baber in his attempt on India. ,~

The Afghans were, however, a power in the country, and Humayun,
the unwarlike son of PRaber, was driven out of India by Farid Khan
Sur, who had earned the title of Sher Khan by his braver):, and who
assumed the title of Sher Shah after he seized the throne in Delhi.
Mﬁﬂfgw Shah with his s son, Hasan, had come to India
to seek his fortune, and Sher Shah was the son of Hasan Sur, by
m lady. The Sur tribe, of which he was a member, belonged
probably to that tribe of Sur, which, at an earlier period, had been
independent in Ghur, but which had either become a part of the
Ghilzais subsequently, or were confederated with them.

Sher Shah was killed at the siege of Kalinjar on the 24th May
1548 and the dynasty he founded endured but a few years. In the

record of the troubled reigns of his successors, there appear the names
of many tribes, which have practically disappeared from Afghanistan;
but which at that time were powerful in India, and they prove how
great must have been the influx of Afghan tribes into India, while the
Lodis and Surs occupied the throne in Delhi.
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The last member of this family, Mubariz Khan, wag the son of

izam Khan, own brother of Sher Shih, and he obtained the throne
by the murder of his sister’s son (a minor) Firuz Khan, thé»&\ran_dig"
of Sher Shah. The assassin took the style of Muhammad Shah-i-Adil.

e was a worthless and dissipated person. Everywhere the Afghan
n%ble& withdrew their allegiance from him. HM"
associates to positions of trust and high rank. Chief among these
was one Hemu the Dhusar, a Hindu of the trading caste, who
sbecame Vazier to the Afghan Ruler. The authority of the latter was
disputed by members of his tribe, one of whom, Ahmad Khan Sur, was
governor of the Punjab, and he was raised to the throne in Delhi by a
number of influential Afghan Chiefs. The invasion of India by
Humayun was aided by the disunion that prevailed among the Afghans.
Ahmad Sur advanced to Naushahr, beyond Sirhind, and took up a
position to await the invaders. For some days the armies lay inactive
in sight of each other, till at last the Afghans, numbering some 80,0060
men, moved out of their lines in order of battle on the 2nd May 1553-

The result was fatal to their cause, and the defeated Ruler of Delhi
fled into the Siwalik hills and made his way into Bengal. There
remained the unprincipled Adil, who lurked behind the defences of
Chunar, which he feared to leave on account of the hatred borne him
by the revengeful Afghan Chieftains. To Hemu, the Hindu, was

intrusted the task of maintaining his master’s cause.

In the meantime Humayun had died from the effects of an accident.
The young Prince Akbar and his tutor Bairam Khan—the Turkoman—
had been called to the Punjab to disperse the Afghan followers of the
defeated Sultan Sikandar (Ahmad Khan Sur). The Afghans of the
tribes of Lodi, Sur, and the Niazis were in arms in the east, and only
the country to the north of Delhi was effectively held, when Hemu
took the northern road from Chunar at the head of a vast array of
armed men, leaving his unworthy master safe in that fortress. Agra
and Delhi were evacuated by the Moghuls, and Hemu advanced north-
wards at the head of an army said to have numbered 100,000 horse

with 500 elephants: once more in the vicinity of Panipat the
sovereignty of Hindustan depended on the issue of a decisive battle.
On the sth November 1556, Hemu, defeated and made a prisoner,
was put to death in cold blood. His followers dispersed, and the
sovereignty over Hindustan passed for ever from the hands of the
Afghans, —_— T

Sher Khan, son of Muhammad Shah-i-Adil, was at the head of
30,000 men in 1561 ; but he was defeated and his followers scattered.
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For a time, Afghan adventurers attempted to establish themselves in
Bengal and Orissa, but they were overthrown and compelled to
acknowledge the supremacy of the Moghuls. In a very short time the
powerful tribes, which had emigrated from Afghanistan, lost their
.distinctive organisation and were absorbed into the mass of the popu-

lation. A part of them appear to have returned to their original seats,
preferring the unrestricted freedom among their native hills to loss of
prestige in India. Those, who were unable or unwilling to follow this
course, directed their_ste uthwards towards the Peninsula of India;

and a very large influx_of Afghans took place, encouraged by the

existence of independent Muhammadan Principalities, which afforded
an outlet to their restless natures. A part of the Carnatic was so

largely occupied by these emigrants, that in the 17th century it was

'sﬂ known as the Carnatic of the Afghans. In Rajputana, Central

India, and in the fertile lands orn the left bank of the Ganges, there was
a‘very strong Afghan element in the population. In the last-named
tract the earlier colonists were reinforced from time to time by immi-

P

orants from the hills to the west and north of Peshawar, and the
L

country in which they settled became known as Rohilkand, the country

of the Rohillas. There the Afghans and their descendants became the

dominant race, the original Hindu population being reduced to the
r/condition of their serfs.?

The first Emperors of Delhi maintained a firm grip on their posses-
sions beyond the Indus ; but while Kandahar was a bone of contention
between Indian and Persian Monarchs, being alternately won and lost
by each, the right of the former to Kabul and its Province was never
seriously challenged for zoo years. With all the advantages they pos-
sessed, the Moghul Emperors of Delhi had continual trouble with their
unruly subjects. The religious sect of the Roshanis afforded constant
occupation for the Imperial troops even in the reign of the famous
Akbar. In about 1583, an Imperial General Zain Khan built a fort at

sChakdarah and defeated the Yusufzais in twenty-three engagements.
Owing to the insubordination of the leaders of the reinforcements he
had received, Zain Khan fell back on Peshawar. He was caught in

! Rohilla seems to be an Indian term. An ‘* Afghan” must be able to prove
or at least to state clearly his lineage. Members of the servile or less regarded
tribes, provided they adopted a sufficiently martial air; disguised their less
honourable origin under the name Rohilla or Rohela, a hillman, and were accept-
ed at their own valuations Among the Rohillas, the distinction between the
descendants of long domiciled colonists and new arrivals was carefully main-
tained. The term Dési, country-born, was applied to the former implying and
probably correctly a taint of indigenous blood. The term Vilayati was applied to
later immigrants of approved Afghan descent on both sides of the family. Both
however were called generally, Rohilla Pathan.
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the Balandri Pass or defile' and overwhelmed by the mountaineers—
about 8,000 men and 500 officers, are said to have perished ; but Zain
Khan, who commanded the van-guard, extricated the remains of his
master’s troops and retired on Attock. The next year he was back
in the Yusufzai country. He built a large fort on the Panjkora river,
and the lost supremacy was restored. In 1586-87, the Momands and
Ghoris, under Jalaluddin, the Roshani (son of the founder of the sect),
committed great depredations in the Peshawar district. Two years
later, the Roshanis in Tirah had to be subdued. In 1593-94, the
Governor of Kabul was killed by the Roshanis. His successor invad-

ed Tirah, but was compelled to retire hastily owing to a failure of
- —

supplies.
Towards the close of Akbar’s reign, a Roshani leader named
Ihdad (grandson of the founder of the sect), kept the Province of Kabul
in a ferment. In the reign of the next Emperor, Jahangir, the chieftain
dared to attack Kabul itself, and on the 3th April 1611, he todk
advantage of the absence of the Governor to plunder the city. Nad Ali,
the Chief of Maidan, hurried reinforcements to the city,and co-operating
with the garrison of the Citadel and townsmen, Thdad was driven off
with loss. The Viceroy of Kabul blockaded him for a long time in
a fastness in Jarkhai, in the Kohistan of Kabul, and Ihdad fled
/towards Kandahar (1615). Many years afterwards he was in Tirah,
where he possessed a retreat in the Awagarh mountain. Here he was
attacked, the sangars which he had built to defend the narrow defile
were stormed, 26th January 1625, and he was shot dead.?

After the loss of Kandahar (1622), Kabul remained in the hands of
the Indian Government, and was the only city of the first rank beyond
the Indus. A garrison in Ghazni controlled the country up to the limits
Wﬁnce. Charbagh (or Karabagh) near the pools in
which the Tarnak stream takes its rise, was the frontier post in this
direction, to the south of which the country was held by the Persians.

_~ In the reign of the Emperor Shah Jahan, the revenue of Kabul was
stated at 4o lakhs, but it was probably insufficient for all purposes of

—

the government of that Province as the revenue from four good

! Probably the Malandari Pass, at the head of the Barkua Stream, about
3o miles N. E. of Hoti Mardan.

® This stronghold was undoubtedly in the valley in which the villages of
Za.yvo, Yasta, Kotkika, are situated to the south of the Zawagarh Peak, in the
Zaimukht country, about 8 miles north of Chinarak and about 18 miles north of
Thal in the Kuram., The Zawagarh Peak rises to over 9,400 feet above sea
level, on the water shed between the Khanki valley and that of the Kuram.

In December 1879 (during the second Afghan war), an expedition repeated the
Performances of the Moghul troops. Marching from Thal, Zawo was burnt after
two days' desultory fighting.
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districts in the Punjab was bespoken for the expenses of the Kabul
Province. The tribes probably were left alone to manage their domes-
tic affairs by means of their tribal jirgahs ; the Viceroy of Kabul exercis-
ing a paternal and general supefvision so long as the rights of the
Emperor of Delhi were not infringed, and the peace of this Province
depended very greatly on the character of the Viceroy. Service under
the Royal Standard in India, or under the banner of tribal chieftains,
who had settled on valuable estates in India, as nobles of the Court of
Delhi, provided ample and congenial employment for the wilder spirits
of the tribes, and afforded avenues whereby they might attain to
wealth and rank. Among those who had exchanged their mountainous
and unproductive patrimony for estates in India, the more distinguished

were the chiefs of the Lodis, the Parni and Bangash clans, but pre-
eminent among them was the chief of the Lodis. -~

The fickle and turbulent nature of the Afghans rendered them bad
subje'cts, whether in their own country or in India ; and it was a well

ur_xieistood regulation that no fortresses were to be intrusted to their
care. The most serious rebellion of Afghans against the supremacy
of the Emperor Shah Jahan took place not in Afghanistan but in India ;
and apparently was aimed at the subversion of the Moghul dynasty.
The chief of the Lodis at this time wa?_Pir Khan, a descendant of that
Daulat Khan, who had urged Baber to essay the conquest of Hindustan,

or of a younger branch of the same family. In the reign of the Em-
peror Jahangir, Pir Khan Lodi had attained to the rank of a comman-
der of 7,000 horse with the title of Khan Jahan Khan. Among other
offices he had enjoyed, were the goveme Provinces of Mul-
tan and Malwa. Such was his influence among the Afghan tribes, that

‘while at Multan, the trans-frontier Afghans had offered to put him in
possession of the country up to Isfahan, if he would take them into his
pay. But, while he was governor of Malwa, he had sold some districts
belonging to the Moghul Emperors, to Murteza Nizam Shah, an indepen-
dent Ruler in Southern India. The closing years of the life and reign
of Jahangir had been embittered by the rebellion of his son, afterwards
the Emperor Shah Jahan. In the second year, after the latter had
ascended the throne, Khan Jahan Khan was summoned to Agra. v

The attitude of the new monarch and his courtiers roused the suspi-
cions of the Afghan chieftain. Deeming his honour and life in danger, he
broke out of Agra on the night of the 14th October 1629 at the head of
2,000, or 3,000 Afghan retainers and fled southwards, w-l;;e he hoped to
find an asylum with one or other of the independent Rulers, and
adherents among their Afghan subjects and troops. He is said to have
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despatched letters inciting the Afghan tribes round Peshawar and
Jalalabad to rise and create a diverson in his favour. Escape in that
direction was impossible, and the only prospect of making good his
retreat lay towards the south. He succeeded in reaching the district
of Baghlana belonging to Murteza Nizam Shah, with the royal troops at
his heels. The Deshmuks or zamiadars, of Baghlana took up arms in
his defence. They beat off the Imperial forces, and neither threats nor
bribes could induce them to surrender the fugitives. So important was
the matter that the Emperor Shah Jahan took the field in person.
Three divisions of Imperial troops under selected Commanders were
detailed to suppress the movement. One division broke down the
aesistance of Murteza Nizam Shah, and penetrating by the western
route, Kkan Jahan Khan was forced to retreat further south. Mu-
hammad Adil Shah, King of Bijapur, refused to countenance the Lodi
Chief, but the Afghans had begun to join him.

The season was unfavourable, no rain had fallen, a dreadful famine
was raging, and, in addition, a pestilence had broken out. Asalat Khan,
eldest son of Khan Jahan Khan, died at Daulatabad. The resolution
of the Lodi Chief broke down, and he began to talk publicly of retir-

ing to Mecca. His adherents became discouraged, and recruits ceased
to join. Khan Jahan Khan then formed the desperate resolution of
attemptiag to reach the Ganges, in hopes of being able to find sup-
porters among the Afghan settlers, and of making his way to the north
to join the tribes whom he had incited to rebellion. Followed by the
Imperial troops, he made his way across the Central Provinces into
“Bandelkand. Jagraj Bikramajit, son of Jhujhar Singh, the Ruler of that
country, defeated the fugitive’s rearguard killing one of his sons and
Darya Khan; the Lodi Chief’s best officers (11th January 1631). "
An attempt on Kalinjar failed, and here another son of Khan Jahan
Khan was killed. He continued his flight to Sehonda® where he
“turned to bay on the bank of a tank. He allowed all his retainers,
who desired to abandon him to depart. He also sent off the families
and wounded or wearied followers, and with 500 or 600 of his staunch-
est followers covered their retreat. Here the pursuers closed with

their quarry who had given them such a long chase. After a desperate
conflict, in which Pir Khan Lodi displayed the utmost bravery, he was
run through by the lance of Madhu Singh, a Rajput cavalier, and was
cut to pieces with his son Aziz Khan (24th January 1631). Several of

1 At that time the head of a district, now a mere village in the Banda district of
the United Provinces of Agra and Oudh. Sehonda is situated among the ravines
on the bank of the Ken River, which joins the Jumna forty miles further to the
north. Sehonda lies about 25 miles from Kalinjar to the north,
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his sons survived, and made their peace with the Emperor ; but no
member of this great family ever again rose to distinction.

Whether in respouse to Khan Jahan Khan’s appeal or not, a
great rising of the Afghan tribes in the Peshawar district did take
place; but the movement failed to beneft the rebel chieftain, The
rTxlTrT,g:, spirit of the movement was one Kamal-ud-din, a Roshani
leader, and he was joined by tribal chiefs and other Roshani leaders.
The glens of Tirah poured forth their warriors. The levies of the
tribes of Dawar Natu, Naghar, the Bangash, Khataks, Imak Hajs,
and even the Turis from Kuram, attended the rendezvous at Ilm Gudar,
on the Bara river (about 3 miles above fort Bara). The tribes of
Peshawar, and Ashghar-Khalils, Momands,mufzais, threw in
their lot with the other malcontents. Said Khan, the governor of
Peshawar, was at Kohat when warning was conveyed to him, and he

had barely time to hurry back to Peshawar to concert measures for
the defence of the town before the storm burst. The assembled tribes-
men surrounded the place on the r2th July 1630, but Said Khan was
a brave and competent man. In a sortie in force, the ringleaders
of the enemy were killed and the multitudes of armed men lost

heart, and broke up. Peshawar was saved.
There seems to have been no especial trouble with the Afghans

during the rest of Shah Jahan’s reign. On the 22nd March 1638, Ah
Mardan Khan, Chief of the\ZTKurds of Kirman, in revenge for
the treatment meted out to his family by Shah Sefi of Persia,
delivered up Kandahar to the Indian Government, and Southern

Atghanistan once more and for the last time, became a part of the
. ¢ . . -
territory of the Emperor Shah Jahan. Ali Mardan rose to high posi-

tions under this Emperor, and more than once governed the
Province of Kabul® and the immunity enjoyed by his master from
troubles with the Afghans was probably due to the genius of Ali
Mardan Khan. An unprovoked attack on Kabul by the Ruler of
Balkh led to an expedition to the north of the Hindu-Kush and Balkh
was occupied on the sth July 1641, and there was some talk of pushing
on to the conquest of Bokhara and of Samarkand, the capital of
Tamerlane from whom the Indian Emperors were descended. The
operations to the north of the Hindu-Kush resulted in a collision with
the Ruler of Bokhara, and a two years’ campaign was the result, in
which the Princes Murad Baksh, and (after him), Aurangzebe, com-
manded the Indian forces. Shah Jahan, like his father, paid many

! He built the Bazar in Kabul, destroyed by General Pollock in 1843 ; and
the principal Bazar in Peshawar. :
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isits to Kabul. Gradually, however, unbridled sensualj:lugmeﬂts

sapped his vigour, and .Mnobles alike lost their martial
ardour. Kandahar was r:napped up by the youthful Shah Abbas II,

——

who surprised it in the depth of winter, suffering terrible losses him.

self, owing to the severity of that season (25th of February 1648),

Three efforts were made to recapture the place, each of these
failed ignominiously, and no further attempts were made to restore
Indian influence in Southern Afghanistan : the country as far north
as Char Bagh remained in the hands of the Fersians.

In the reign of Aurangzebe, a a feeling of antipathy towards that
Emperor began to spread, and at last culminated in a general rising
of the Afghan tribes, from Kandahar to Peshawar, which lasted four
ym}m—n,_an Afghan Chief, proclaimed his independence in

the hills near Peshawar, and coined money in his own name. The
Viceroy of Kabul, Muhammad Amin Khan, was surrounded at Gharib

Khana on his way from Peshawar to Kabul (May 6th, 1672); and
though he cut his way through the enemy, his women, artillery,
elephants, treasure, and baggage, fell into the hands of the Afghans ;
6,000 men also were lost on this occasion. The aspect of affairs was

Ming that the Emperor took the field in person. He placed
his head-quarters at Hasan Abdail to direct operations. He was
absent from Delhi from m1674 to the 5th April 1676. The
Afghan rising was quelled, but the Imperial troops on more than one

occasion were very roughly handled by their adversaries.

After peace was restored, the affairs of Kabul were increasingly
\subordinated to the schemes for the subjugation of the Mahrattas,
to which the Emperor was compelled to devote his personal attention
and the whole of his resources---and in vain. So long as there was
no overt rebellion, the Afghans were allowed to do as they pleased.
A succession of able governors kept the country quiet, and subsidies
rewarded the good behaviour of the tribesmen, and kept open the
road to Attock, where the merchants and caravans of Central Asia
met those of India.

Careful arrangements were made with the tribesmen, who were
heavily bribed to allow Royal Princes to visit the City of Kabul,
without accidents on the way. These visits gradually became less
frequent and shorter as time wore on, until in 1401-2, the last visit
was paid by Shah Alam, the eldest son of the Emperor. On this oc-
casion the opportunity was seized to despatch an expedition into
the Khost Valley, by a route not usually adopted. The tribesmen
along the route resented the intrusion ; the Imperial Commander was
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slain, and his command is said to have been annihilated. Prince
Shah Alam had to bribe the Afghans heavily before he could leave
Kabul for Peshawar, or the road was safe for merchants.:

In India, the Parnis possessed a record only less brilliant than
that of the Lodis. A portion of this tribe, the Borizi Parnis, are still
to be found near Sibi, in the Baluchistan Agency. They attained to
notoriety in the 17th century, in the person of their headman, who
betrayed Prince Dara Shekoh into the hands of his brother Aurangzebe,

Malik Jiand, son of Malik Ayub, the headman of this tribe, had
been a very notorious robber. He was caught at last and sent to
Delhi to receivesentence from the Emperor, before whom he was
produced in full durbar. Not one person in that splendid assembly had
any pity for the wretched Afghan, who was sentenced to be trodden
to death by an elephant—save the Heir-Apparent, Prince Dara
Shekoh. He begged the life of Jiand, and when the boon was grant-
ea, the prisoner was set free and allowed to go home to Dadur.

Years passed and fortune’s wheel had made a revolution, and he,
who once had been like Darius of old in his splendour, was now a
fugitive with a @n his head. The unfortunate Prince, defeated

and deserted, was making his way to Kandahar, where he hoped to
find (with the Persians) an asylum and a respite from his pressing
troubles. In an evil moment, the Prince relied on the gratitude of
Malik Jiand and refused the aid of the chivalrous Sardar of the
Magasi Baluchis, who had offered to escort the fugitives to Persian
territory. To crown the Prince’s misfortunes, his wife fell ill and died,
and he sent her remains to be buried at the shrine of the famous saint
near Lahore, escorted by 200 veteran men at arms, the staunchest
and last of his adherents. Malik Jiand had given the Prince an
ostensibly cordial welcome to Dadur, but secretly he was in corre-
spondence with his enemy. The capture of the Prince and his small
party, left only with personal attendants, had become an easy task.
When the march up the Bolan Pass had been commenced towards
Kandahar, they fell into an ambush planned by Malik Jiand, but
garried out by his younger brother—the arch traitor did not care to
appear in the matter, and had returned to Dadur, on an excuse,
promising to join the party further on. 2 This deed was accomplished
on the 17th October 1658.

The traitor accompanied the captives to Delhi, and when they
were paraded through the city the treachery of Malik Jiand was

1 Storia do Mogor, W. Irvine, Vol. III, p. 492 and note.

* This seizure took place near Bibi Nini in the Bolan Pass.
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execrated by the populace, for the Prince Dara was beloved by all men,
and a few days later an excited mob fell on Malik Jiand’s followers
and evilly treated them. But the traitor received from the Emperor
the rank of a commander of 1,000 horse, and the tigle of Bakhtiar
Khan (the fortunate chief), which was borne by his descendaiits,
After a short stay he was allowed to go home. But fortune turned
away her countenance from the ingrate, and almost on the boundary
of his own district, the sons of Mubarak, the Daudpotra, waylaid
Bakhtiar Khan in the Lakhi Jangal, to the north of Shikarpur, and
slew him in pursuit of a vendetta.’
" The most famous of the Indian branch of this tribe was the
relebrated Daud Khan, who was killed in battle on the 6th September
1715. His power and accessibility were such as to give rise to a
popular saying—*‘¢if you can do it, well and good, if not, try Daud
Khan Pani.” He was famous among his contemporaries as a valiant
soldier and as a good ruler—not an usual circumstance in those
days. The Madras Records of 1709 preserve a picture of an Indo-
Afghan grandee of the early 18th Century, in these words:—*‘‘ Very
’precarious in his temper when sober, free and generous when sul;plied
with the liquors he asks, which we always take care to supply him with;
a great favorite with late and present king as a soldier fit for rough
work.” 2 And the lavish and barbarous mode of life of an Afghan is
exemplified in the following account of this celebrated person:—*‘ He
left only a small amount of money, a hundred elephants, seven
hundred horses, some Persian grey-hounds, tigers, leopards, and a
number of birds. Neither tents nor equipage had he ; he lived like
a trooper or a mendicant.” 3

As Daud Khan had no issue by an Afghan wife, his brother after
Lhis death became faujdar of Kurnool; and the Afghans there raised
him up as their chief: the family became established as Nawabs of
Kurnool. They apparently became involved in the war between the
French and English, but appear to have escaped the fate of the
earthen pot—at the cost of most of their estates. In 1838 the Parni
Nawab rebelled and was deported, and was stabbed by a servant soon
after in Trichinopoly. A pension was granted to his son which lapsed
.on his death in 1848.4

L Nicolas Manucci gives a different account of the end of Malik Jiand. Storia
do Mogor, W. Irvine, Vol. I., p. 363, and 1V., p. 125.

2 1bid.

3 [bid.

* There was a Colony of Parni Afghans at Biinah to the S. W. of Agra.
This tribe were the principal adherents of the Mahdavi sect founded in 1553 by
Saiad Muhammad of Jaunpur. Storia do Mogor, Vol. 1V., p. 263.
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A member of the Bangash tribe migrated in the 16th century from
the lower end of the Kuram Valley, their ancient patrimony, and
obtained valuable estates on the banks of the Ganges with the title of
Nawab. Their capital was the city of Farrukhabad. The last Nawab
Wimﬁlicated in the events of 1857 and exiled to Mecca. The late
Major Raverty saw him at Nasik, on his way to Bombay ; and
describes this exile as a womanish effeminate young man. He had
probably been a tool in the hands of those around him; or he may
have been eager to seize any chance, however desperate, to retrieve
the decayed fortunes of his house. He chose the wrong side, and
was exiled for his mistake. He died in 1882 at Mecca. v

The ruling family of Bhopal in_Central India is descended from
an Orakzai immigrant of the 17th century, belonging to the Roshani
Sect, who at first was given estates near DPanipat. In the next
g‘e—;leration, fresh estates were given to his descendants in Central
India, where they appear to have become fixed. The Nawibs of
Maler Kotla claim to represent the Lodis, and they retain their
possession and honours; as also do the Khweshgi Afghans of Kasur.

By the casual observer the Afghan element in the population of

India no longer can be recognised. Owing to climatic influences,
they have lost those striking attributes of physique which at once
attract attention to the Afghan newly arrived from the west of the
Indus, but the Indo-Afghans preserved the traditions of their ancestry
and gloried in them.

o NOTE.

NoTE.—Fcrwards the end of the 17th century there seems to have been some
Englishmen _in Kabul, who were either in the service of the Emperor of Delhi, or
) abul for purposes of trade. Une of them was buried there ; and
in 1839, Major Hough saw his tomb which bore the following inscription p. 287 :—

‘“ Here lyeth the body of John Hicks, son of Thomas and Edith Hicks, who
departed this life, the eleventh of October 1666."”  “w——

The tomb was in the Muhammadan burying ground near and to the S. E. of
the city. This raises a suspicion that the deceased had embraced Islam. The
inscription must have been the handiwork of another Englishman (and not an
illiterate person), who must have been also a resident in Kabal at the time when
Hicks died there.

For Kandahar and its relations with the Indian Government of the Moghul
Enmperors of Delhi, see Appendix II,

[ N




CHAPTER IV.

ReLATIONs wITH PERsIA.

NTIL the successful revolt of the Ghilzais against the Persians
had brought the Afghans prominently before the world,
they were regarded as barbarians,whose affairs were beneath
the notice of writers of chronicles both in Persia and in

India. Such works cast no light on the history and affairs of even very
important tribes such as the Abdalis and Ghilzais, and these tribes
themselves were too barbarous and illiterate as a body to produce
any authors, who could have preserved their early history and whose
record would have carried weight. The mullas, the only literate
persons were given over to vain disputes and to mystical expositions
of doctrine, and were ambitious only to leave behind them collections of
such works, to be able to devote attention to tribal histories. Among
the tribesmen, traditions are handed down orally; and these are grouped
round the names of chieftains whose deeds are still the theme of story
round the camp fires of the nomadic tribes. As these traditions ap-
proach the 18th centur};, they, however, assume a connected form and
are probably correct, in a very general way, as a narrative of events.
At all events they provide all the information that exists.

After the rise of the Sadozais to power as the sovereigns of
Afghanistan, and in the reigns of the first and second kings of this
dynasty, efforts were made to collect these traditions; and to make
out of these materials a connected story of the doings of the earlier
chieftains of this family, and their transactions with the Persian
Governors of Kandahar. The accounts compiled by native Afghan
authors of this period (18th-1g9th century), are therefore, of too recent
a date to be regarded as being in any way authoritative. With regard
to the early history of the Afghans, these authors repeat the standard
genealogy of all the Afghan tribes from Kais, or Abdur Rashid, and
assign arbitrary dates to various persons in the tables of descent, in
order to fit these into the histories of the Arab Conquest of Khuras-
san, and of those dynasties which have included Afghanistan within
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their possessions. The later native chronicles were compiled with a
view to exalt the Sadozai sept of the Abdalis,” and to invest the chiefs

with a kipd of divine right to impose their authority on their more
{numerically) powerful tribesmen. ‘

Sado (a corruption of Asadullah) was the eponymous ancestor of
this branch. He is said by the author of the Tazkirat-ul-Mulk to have
been born on the night of the joth September 1538.

His father Umar had grown up in straitened circumstances, for his
father had squandered the resources of the family, Umar’s mother, a
lady of family belonging to the Ishakzai tribe, had besought the holy
men (Pirs) of her own tribe, and of the Alizais, to bless her son Umar.
After that the latter had grown up and become a householder ; it is
said that one day he was visited by the holy Shekh, Ako, belonging
to the Alizai tribe. The Pir and his disciple were cordially welcomed,
and the resources of the family were strained to do them honour.
Food was placed before the reverend guest, and Umar was assiduous
in his attentions. When the meal was concluded, the latter ventured
to ask the Shekh for his blessing. The latter consented, but put off
doing so till the time of his departure. The next morning he drew
his host aside and informed him that he had seen two visions during
the night. First he had seen a lion enter Umar’s dwelling, and it
meant that a son would be born to him, whom he should name
A_s_gg-_ull_al_‘n__&h\g_LiM). He would be greatly favoured by
Providence. The other vision was that the skin of a hoy was spread
in Umar’s dwelling, but this was to be regarded not at all as an un--
favourable omen.? Induecourse Asadullah was born, and his father's
affairs took a favourable turn for the tribe elected him as their Chieftain,
to manage their affairs and to deal with the governor of Kandahar.

Asadullah was succeeded by his eldest son Khizr Khan, and the

latter by his eldest son, Sultan Khudadad, or Khudkai Sultan as his
tribesmen call him.

At this time the chieftainship of the Ghilzai tribes had become
fixed in the Tokhi Division ; and Malakhe, son of Muhammad, was

1 Kais, or Abdur Rashid, had a son Ibrahim. The latter had a son named
Sharkhbun. The last, a son named Tarin, who had four sons. Spin (white),
Tor (black), Zhar, and Bor Tarin. The name Abdal, however, gradually
superseded that of Bor Tarin, and eventually became predominant when Ahmad
Shah became King. The Tarins are to be found, principally in the Pishin
district, near Quetta. The Spin (or white Tarins), the superior branch numbered
only about 200 souls. The Tor, or black Tarins about 6,192; while some 20,245
souls returned themselves as Abdals in the census of 1goi. Baluchistan District
Gazetteer Series. Vol, V, Quetta- Pishin, 1907, p. 67 et seq.

_ ' The First Afghan War, 1839-43, is believed to have been the fulfilment of
this vision.

3
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head of the famous tribes. He and Khudkai Sultan were friends and
they met at Pul-i-Sangi to the south of Kalat-1-Ghilzai and fixegd
the boundary between certain disputed tribal lands, on the Garmaib
stream. The country to the north and east of that stream was to be
regarded as belonging to the Ghilzais, and all that lay to the south
and west, fell to the share of the Abdalis. In 1¥39-40, during the
Afghan War, Major Leech, C. B., Political Agent in the Ghilzai country,
was shown a document, purporting to be a commission issued by an
Emperor of Delhi, to Sultan Malakhe, making him responsible for the
safety of the road from Kalat-i-Ghilzai to Karatu in the valley of
the Arghandab. The date of this firman corresponds to the 17th
June 16131

The Ghilzai traditions represented the action of this famous
chieftain to have been so effective, that in four days the Hazara
marauders were driven out of this valley. The author of the Tarikh-i-
Sultani states that Malakhe was alive in 1624 (this work was written
in the last quarter of the last century, in Afghanistan). Both of these
chiefs would appear to have been contemporaries of the Indian Emperor
Jahangir. The method they adopted in settling their disputes regard-
ing the two districts of Umakai and Gwaharai was far in advance of
those usually pursued at the time. Sultan Malakhe obtained the
former and Khudkai Sultan the latter as the result of the delimitation
they carried out.

Khudkai Sultan resigned the chieftainship over the Abdalis to
his younger brother Sher Khan. The Persians had taken possession of
Kandahar in 1622 and the chief maintained friendly relations with
the Governor of the Province. During Sher Khan’s period of life the
friendly relations between the Abdalis and the Governor were inter-
rupted, Sher Khan is said to have accompanied an expedition com-
posed of Persian troops, at the head of his tribal levies, into Pishin.
Or the return march the Persians were attacked in the Khojak Pass,
lost heavily ; and the governor asked Sher Khan to arrest the leaders
concerned in this attack and send them to Kandahar. Sher Khan
evaded the demands and cast the blame for the occurrence on the
Baluchis, Kakars and other migratory tribes of Pishin. The Persian
governor enraged at his attitude retaliated on the Abdalis within reach
of Kandahar, and Sher Khan collected his tribesmen, took possession
of Shahr-i-Safa, and cut off communications with Kandahar on the
north and east.

1 Ry some mistalte however Leech has stated th»t the Emperor Alamgir
( \urangzebe) issued this firman. Jehangir was ruling in 1613.



(73]
U

RELATIONS WITH THE PERSIANS.

The Persian Government determined to find a rival whom they
might play off against the chief. A cousin of Sher Khav's, Shah
Husen, was found and was given the title of Mirza by the
government. On the other hand the officials of the Emperors of Delhi
(at Kabul and Ghazni) obtained for Sher Khan the title of Shahzada
(Prince) and the Subehdar of Kabul and the governor of Ghazni were
enjoined to aid him, whenever he invoked their aid. :

The Afghans also were better disposed towards Sher Khan than
towards his rival.

The latter provoked by an insolent remark made by his Agent
Jallil, the Alizai, stabbed the latter in the presence of the Persian
governor in Kandahar. For this disrespectful act he was put into
confinement, and a report was sent to Isfahar. Orders were received,
however, ordering Shah Husen Mirza to be set free and fresh presents
were sent to him. It was too late. During his detention the Abdalis
had gone over to Sher Khan. No sooner had Shah Husen been
released than he too visited Sher Khan, renounced his rivalry, and set
out for India, where the descendants of Kamran and Bahadur Khan,
sons of Sado, had already found a home, the former in Multan and the
latter in Dera Ismail Khan and Tonk.

Sher Khan died from the effects of a fall from his horse. Sarmast
Khan, his son, was a minor and Bakhtiar, son of Saleh Khan, was
appointed his guardian. When Sarmast Khan died, his son Daulat
Khan, being a minor, Hayat Sultan, a cousin of the late chief
succeeded to the chieftainship. He remained in good terms with the
Persian governor (appointed in 1692). CQOne day, however, while under
the influence of wine in the company of the governor, he was induced
to consent to matrimonial alliances between his tribe and the Persians.
Reminded of his promise after he had recovered his wits, and aware
of the temper of his tribesmen, he saw his mistake and fled to Shahr-i-
Safa, where he called together the elders of the tribe and made known
to them what he had done. At his heels came the emissaries of the
governor demanding the instant fulfilment of the compact. Hayat
Sultan had resigned his authority to his young kinsman BPaulat Khan,
and the latter, with the consent of the elders of his tribes, cut the
debate short by massacring the Persian agents. Persian troops
despatched from Kandahar to avenge their death were met in the open
field by the Abdalis, who defeated them at Band-i-Mukak, the Persian

1 Leech.—These transactions with the Indian Government cannot be traced.
The traditions may refer to a condition of things following on the final recapture
of Kandahar by Shah Abbas 1, February 23th, 1648, and the unsuccess{ul
attempts to retake it made by the Indian Government.



36 THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.

Commander being slain. A second expedition fared no better, ang
after this the Persians abandoned the attempt to coerce the Abdalg
by force and endeavoured to compass Daulat Khan’s downfall by
treachery. Hayat Sultan, the cause of this trouble, migrated to Indijy
and settled in Multan.

Matters were in this state when Mir Weis, the Ghilzai appeared
on the scene. The Persian Governor had been removed and Gurgin
Khan, Wali of Georgia, had been appointed as governor of Kandahar,

The new governor won over Mir Weis and two Sadozais named
Izat and Atal, and by means of these persons he managed to secure
both Daulat Khan, and his son Nazar Muhammad. They were put to
death without delay in Kandahar. After some time spent in reprisals,
the Persian Governor agreed to recognise as chief, Rustam Khan,
another son of Daulat Khan, if the latter would consent to surrender
his brother, Zaman Khbhan, to the Persians as a hostage. These terms
were agreed to, and Zaman Khan was sent to Kirman. Rustam Khan
remained on very good terms with Gurgin Khan, until a body of
Persian troops sent against the Baluchis (which was accompanied by
Rustam Khan) met with a serious reverse. Atal, the Sadozai, and
Izat, with Mir Weis, took advantage of this occurrence to poison the
mind of Gurgin Khan against Rustam Khan. The Abdali Chief was
inveigled into Kandahar where he was put to death by Atal in re-
venge, it is said, for the murder of his own uncie, Jafir Sultan. The
late chief had held the chieftainship for four years, and he left no
issue. His grave and that of Daulat Khan are in the Rezabagh, at
Kohak near Kandahar. Deprived of a leader, and exposed to the
vengeance of the Georgian chief, the Abdalis took refuge in Shorawak.

It will be useful at this point to devote some attention to Mir
Weis, the Ghilzai, who was the founder of the independence of Atghan-
istan. Sultan Malakhe, the Tokhi chieftan (to whom allusion has
been made), was a wealthy man. He had wide possessions, and was
the owner, probably, of innumerable flocks. One of his many shepherds
was a youth, Husen, belonging to the Hotaki section of the Ghilzais.
Nazo, Sultan Malakhe’s daughter, and her father’s herdsman, Husen,
fell in love with each other, and the pair eloped. The Hotakis, fear-
ing the resentment of the powerful chief, refused the lovers a shelter
in their territory, and the pair had to take to the hills where for a
season they lived on game, and dwelt in the shelter of rocks and
in caves. At last Nazo, persuaded Husen to accompany her to her

1 He was appointed to Kandahar in 1702. Storia do Mogor, Vol. 1V. See
note at end of this Chapter
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Pfather’s presence, and to put into practice the Afghan custom of Nana-
wat (suing for pardon). Sultan Malakhe, notwithstanding his reputa-
tion as a warrior, appears to have been of an amiable and forgiving
nature, and he not only forgave his daughter and Husen, but he
bestowed on her, as a dower, the right to ten days’ uninterrupted flow
of water from the Ajur-ghak Karez and a piece of land below the
Tabaksir hill opposite Kalat-i-Ghilzai. To the groom, who led the pony
on which Nazo rode, the generous chief gave the right to two days’
flow of water from the same source. This was a happy ending to
the romance. It illustrates the freedom enjoyed by women among
the Ghilzais, and affords a glimpse of the patriarchal system that
prevails among them, and among the Afghans in general, away from
the towns. In course of time, Nazo gave birth to a son, who is said
to have been the grandfather of Mir Weis. This story also disproves
thg claim advanced by Mir Weis’ son (after he had conquered
Persia), of descent from Saiad ancestors. Mir Weis belonged to the
Hotaki division of the Ghilzais.

Sultan Malakhe’s claim to the Chieftainship over both the divisions
of these tribes was challenged during his life-time, and he fell in
battle with the Hotakis, at Darwazgai between Inzargai and Surkh-
sang, and was buried at Ab-i-Tazi about thirty-six miles to the
north-west of Kalat-i-Ghilzai on the road to Ghazni.

The grandfather and father of Mir Weis appears to have suffered
many vicissitudes of fortune, and Daulat Khan, the Abdali Chief,
appears to have contributed largely to their troubles. He made
prisoners of Husen, son of Malik Yar, the Hotaki, with all his family,
and carried them away to Shahr-i-Safa, as hostages. Husen’s son
was Mir Weis, and this explains the attitude of the latter towards the
descendants of the Abdali chieftain. Upon the death of Jafir Sultan,
Sadozai, of the Kamran Khel subdivision (for whose death Rustam
Khan appears to have been in some degree responsible), his widow
chose Mir Weis to be the husband of her orphaned daughter, Khanzad,
and to manage the property and affairs of the family of her murdered
husband. This brought the astute Ghilzai into relationship with the
Sadozais, and at the same time provided another cause for his enmity
with the latter. Land, money or a woman_are the most fruitful
causes of quarrels, 1 which vendettas originate, that last for genera-
tions and not infrequently extinguish whole families. The kinsmen of
an Afghan are too often his most inveterate enemies, and this has

passed into a proverb among that people. Khanzad was the mother
of Mahmud, the conqueror of Persia.

I
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Mir Weis attached himself to the Georgtan Prince, governor of
Kandahar, and made himself very useful to the latter. The astyte
Georgian was well pleased, there can be no doubt, to have at his
disposal such an efficient auxiliary, and the relations that existed
between them became widely known. According tc an Indian
Chronicle, Gurgin Khan used Mir Weis as his agent in ali revenue
matters, and never undertook any project without first consulting the
Ghilzai ; and the custody of one of the gates of Kandahar is said to
have been made over to the latter.

The desire of Mir Weis' heart is said to have been to obtain
formal recognition ot himself as the chief of all the Ghilzais, and of his
brother-in-law, son of Jafir Sultan, as the head of the Abdalis. The
death of Rustam Khan without issue had left this office vacant. The
two Sadozais Izat and Atal, who had compassed Rustam Khan’s death
and carried out the sentence, appear not to have benefited. The
Georgian Prince was unable to obtain for Mir Weis the rewards
desired by the latter from the government in Isfahan, andis said
to have advised Mir Weis to visit the Court of Shah Husen to push
his cause in person.

In the meantime, the Persians in Kandahar were becoming very
unpopular. Gurgin Khan himself was licentious in his habits and his
devotion to wine and sensual pleasures was a bad example to his
Georgian followers. According to some authorities, he is said to have
been a Christian, and there were probably very ?ET{_A\A y Christians in

his retimroe: urg ay have professed Muhammadanism to
Mtical advancement, and the <came laxity of principle
doubtless prevailed among his followers, who were probably as bad
Christians as he was a bad Muhammadan. In addition, therefore, to
their being actually foreigners, they were infidels also in the sight of
their Afghan subjects, whose feelings they outraged.

Mir Weis’ visit to Court did not secure the rewards he desired ;
but he was able to understand the condition into which Persia and the
Shah’s Government had sunk; and he must have been able to see
clearly how weak was the hold which the Persians maintained on
Seistan, Kandahar and Herat. From [sfahan he performed the Pil-
grimage to Mecca and Medina. There he is said to have obtained
a formal decree from the theologians and lawy.ers in favour of
throwing off the yoke of the Persians, and as a last resource even
of handing over the country to the Indian Government. Such an
authority in his hands was enough to silence all opposition on the part
of timid or restive supporters, Armed with this document, and with



MIR WEIS, THE GHILZAL a9

the prestige derived from fulfilling the Pilgrimage, Mir Weis returned
to Kandahar. After a time he withdrew to Kalat-i-Ghilzai, where he
commenced to collect adherents from the neighbouring Ghilzai tribes
and waited for an opportunity to carry the designs of independence
(vith which he is credited) into effect.

e NOTE.

/ The family of the Bagratians, of which Gurgin Khar was a member (p. 36),
traced their descent from Shumbat, a Jew belonging to the Royal House of
David, who had been taken away captive by Haikan, king of Armenia, who
had joined Nebuchadnezzar, in his campaign against Jerusalem. This family
occupied the throne of Georgia from the 6th century A. ). to 1800. Under
both the Turkish and Persian governments, to which the Bagratians had been
in turn subservient, the Princes of this House had been permitted to profess
Christianity, At last dissensions arose between two brothers, each of whom
claimed the throne. The younger forestalled the other at the court of the
Shah, and was promised the throne of Georgia, conditionally on embracing
Islam. Thenceforward, a Prince of this House, who profersed Islam, was
Viceroy or Wali of the Shah. The Heir Apparent was retained as a hostage in
Ispahan, but was given the honorable office of governor of the capital. Tiflis
was the capital of the Bagratians. Their title was Czar.

I the confusion following on the death of Nadir Shah, Czar Heraclius of
Georgia, renounced his allegiance to Fersia, and in 1783 a treaty was sign®d by
which he declared himself to be the vassal of the Empress Catherine of Russia.
On the 28th of September 1500 the last Czar, George the XIII. of Georgia, in his
own name and in the names of his successors, renounced his crown in favor of
the Czar of Russia,

(History of Armenia by Father Chamich. History of Persia by R. G. Watson.)



CHAPTER V.

REVOLT OF THE AFGHANS AGAINST THE PERSJANS,

HE period had arrived (the commencement of the 18th cen-
tury) when very important events in the histories of Persia
and of India were about to take place, which caused the

downfall of the famous line of Sovereigns of the Safavis in
one country, and the decline of the Moghul in the other. Both

families had become rotten to the core, and both possessed merely
the outward semblance of strength, and only the reflection of their
ancestors’ glory, gilded the corruption which had eaten up the man-
hood of Sovereign and nobles alike. The Indian Government held
the Province of Kabul on sufferance and diplomacy found an ample
field for exercise in the disunion which prevailed among the tribes
who still acknowledged the Moghul Emperor as’their Suzerain. A
common belief in the dogmas of the Suni school of Islam formed a
bond of union between the Indian officials in Kabul and their master’s
nominal subjects. A knowledge of their weakness prevented the
former from rousing active hostility by embarking on a vigorous
policy which the enfeebled resources of the government would have
been unequal to carrry out successfully. India offered solid advant-
ages in the matter of rank and wealth, and self-interest prompted the
Afghans to maintain a connection which was profitable to them.

The Persian officials in Kandahar, on the contrary, were aliens in
religion and blood, and oppression on their part at once assumed a
religious aspect, in addition to its political significance and provoked a
correspondingly bitter feeling. The Persian hold on Southern Afghan-
istan was of the nature of a military occupation, and trials of strength
between the Persians and Afghans were rendered inevitable. The
weakness of the central government in Isfahan was unequal to the
task of holding down this distant Province, and of restoring its
supremacy, when the revolt of the Afghans was crowned with success.
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In the long and peaceful reign of Shah Husen Safavi, the military
organisation of the Persian government, in which the influence of the
intrepid brothers, Sir Anthony and Sir Robert Shirley, can be traced,
had completely disappeared. There was no army in existence when
one was needed to save the monarch and his State from the insults of
foreign enemies. The condition of Persia was no secret, but the
collapse of the Safavi dynasty was ignoble. Although powerful
antagonists were afoot on the western frontiers threatening to rend the
kingdom of Shah Husen from his nerveless grasp, his ruin was due to
the audacity of a handful of brigands. The Ghilzais forestalled both
the Russians and the Ottoman Turks.

Gurgin Khan had been rewarded by the Shah, and the title of
Shahnawaz Khan had been conferred on him.  Secure in the appro-
bation of his master, both he and his soldiers gave free rein to their
licemtious appetites, and offending the Afghans in matters affecting the
honour of their families drove them to despair. Mir Weis in his retreat
at Kalat-i-Ghilzai had been secretly collecting armed men to put his
ambitious projects into effect, and the national feelings having been
aroused by the conduct of the foreigners in Kandahar, he was able to
count on the support of his countrymen. The governor had pro-
ceeded to Deh Shekh in the Arghassan Valley in order to despatch an
expedition towards Maruf, across the Band-i-Gil Pass. His  best
troops had been detailed for this purpose, and Mir Weis and the infu-
riated Afghans found an opportunity at last for effecting the object
they had at heart. Gurgin Khan was treacherously captured and put
to death, his companions shared his fate, and Mir Weis set off to Kan-
dahar at full speed. Outstripping the report of the tragedy at Deh
Shekh, he entered Kandahar at night, with a strong body of his
followers, disguised in the dress of the murdered Persians, and seized
both the citadel and town before the garrison were aware of what had
happened. This occurred some time in 1508-9.*

Kai Khasrau Khan, brother of the murdered Gurgin Khan, was
despatched from Isfahan to retake Kandahar. The Duranis, who were
at enmity with Mir Weis, joined the Persians and the exiled Zaman

1 This is the date assigned to the occurrence by the author of the Jahan-
Kushi-i-Nadiri, who wrote not long after it had taken place. The Indian Chro-
nicler Khafi Khan states that it was one of the latest occurrences in the last year
of the reign of the Moghul Emperor Aurangzeb, who died on the 3rd March 1507.
He asserts it on the authority of the official diarists,or news-writers, of Multan and
Xabul. The author of the Majma-ut-Tawarikh, writing at Murshidabad in
Bengal, in 1792-3, gives the date 1710-11. He was a member of the Safavi family,
a refugee from Persia. (Irvine). The Tarikh-i-Mubhammadi an Indian Chronicle
assigns the date 1507-08 (Irvine). LaMamye Clairac ** Histoire de Perse,” 1. 72,
assumes that it took place in 1709. This work, written in 1730, was not published
until 1750—/bid,
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Khan, son of the late Daulat Khan, was in their camp. The invading
army forced the passage of the Helmand in spite of Mir Weis’ resist.
ance and invested Kandahar, but the leader was shot dead in 4
skirmish or assault on the place and his troops retired to Persia (1712
13). A second expedition despatched against Kandahar, never reached
it ; the leader died on the way and his forces dissolved. No other
attempt was made to restore the supremacy of Persia in Southern
Afghanistan.

Mir Weis took possession of Seistan ; and in 1714-15 he also
invested Herat. In order to strengthen his position he despatched an
Embassy to the Court of the Emperor Farukhsiyar, under his brother
Haji Anka. This Embassy was formally received on the 26th
February 1715, and the Indian Government bestowed on Mir Weis the
title of Haji Amir Khan and 5 lakhs of rupees,’ dresses of honour,
weapons and an elephant. .

The old feud between the Tokhi and Hotaki divisions of the Ghilzais
broke out during his life-time. Mir Weis had called on the former to
pay revenue. Shah Alam, Chief of the Tokhis, and his son disputed this
claim, and the quarrel which arose was never healed, and it contributed
to the downfall of Mir Weis’ son, Shah Husen.

Mir Weis fell ill in 1713-16 and died in the year following.? He was
buried at Kokaran and the Ghilzais regard his tomb as a shrine.
His son Mahmud Khan was a minor, and the headmen of the clan
elected Mir Weis’ brother Abdul Aziz to act as the guardian of the
young chief till he attained years of discretion. Abdul Aziz held this
office for about a year, when he was murdered by Mahmud, who estab-
lished himself in his father’s place, adopting the style and state of a
king, contrary to the example of his father (1718).

After the Abdalis had been expelled from Kandahar by Gurgin
Khan, the tribesmen for a time had dwelt in Shorawak. From that
place they had removed westwards and the majority of the tribe con-
centrated in the district of Bakwa where they found pasture for their
flocks in abundance. At this time the Abdalis are said to have
numbered no less than 60,000 families. A part of these, however, re-
mained in Shorawak.

When the Persiansunder Kai Khasrau Khan marched against Mir
Weis, the Abdalis had called in Abdullah Khan (son of that Hayat

T Kamwar Khan, and Majma-ut-Tawarikl {Irvine.)

* The Tarikh-i-Jahan Kushi-i-Nidiri states that Mir Weis reigned for 8years.
The Majma-ut-Tawarikh states 6 vears. LaMamye Clairac, I. g7, places the
death of Mir \Weis in 1715 (Irvine).
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Sultan, Sadozai, who, in the time of Daulat Khan, had migrated to
Multan). He with his son Asadullah came from Multan and joined Kai
Khasrau Khan, and received the office of chieftain of the Abdalis. After
the failure of the Persians to regain Kandahar, the Abdalis frequented the
country round Herat ; and Abdullah Khan and his son went to Herat
itself. They attracted the unfavourable notice of Abbas Kuli Khan,
Shamlu, the Persian governor of the city and district. The Persian
element in the population of the city,at that time broke out in rebellion
against the governor whom they put on one side. Jafar Khan Istajlu
had been sent by the Shah to put down this sedition and to chastise
the promoters. Abdullah Khan recognised the opportunity and aided
by his son he went to the Koh-i-Dushak and collected his tribesmen
who were in the neighbouring pastures. He seized the fort of Isfizar
before Jafar Khan arrived, and while yet Abbas Kuli was powerless
to prevent the design. The Abdali levies streamed in from Bakwa
and Farah, and made up their minds to essay the capture of Herat
itself. Jafar Khan,who attempted to disperse the clansmen, was made
prisoner and Herat was surrounded. The Persian Government could
not send the townsmen any assistance, and a party favourable to the
Afghans admitted the latter into the Filkhana Bastion on the night of
the 25th July 1717. They took possession of Herat, Ghurian, Kuhsan,
Bala-Murghab, and Badghis; and Obah, a strong place to the east of
Herat, also fell into their hands.

Asadullah  Khan thereupon took possession of Farah,' but
returned to Herat to meet the expedition under Fateh Ali Khan, the
Turkoman whom the Shah at last had despatched against the Abdalis,
to attempt the recovery of that City. The Persians and Afghans met at
Koh-Suieh, and the latter being undisciplined levies were defeated and
putto flight. Inthe moment of victory, the Persian Commander ventur-
ed too far in pursuit and outstripped his men; the Afghans turned on
him and slew him and the few men of his troops who had kept up with
him. The Persians took to flight and the Afghans having plundered
their camp returned victorious to Herat.

Some time in the year 1718, the Abdalis became embroiled with the
Ghilzais of Kandahar and Mahmud advanced to capture Farah.
Asadullah marched to prevent this attempt,and in an action fought at
Dilaram, on the right bank of the Khash Rud, the Heratis were
defeated and Asadullah was killed. Mahmud, however, gave up his
design against Farah and retired to Kandahar, and the Abdalis

Al l“,FI:mn the Ghilzais ; who appear to have taken Farah during the life-time of
Mir Weis
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retreated to Herat. The death of his son completely prostrated the
aged man Abdullah Khan, and he became incapable of carrying on
the government. He was set aside and Abdul Ghani, the Alakozai
chieftain, induced the elders of the clan to raise Zaman Khan-, the
brother of Rustam Khan, to the chieftainship.

The first act of the new chieftain was to put to death Jafar Khan
and other Persian leaders who were in prison, and these persons were
publicly executed in the Avenue (Khiaban) of the Bagh-i-Nau. The
aged Abdullah Khan, who was also an object of suspicion, was placed
in confinement. This revolution decided Shah Husen, of Persia, to
make another attempt to retake Herat. Zaman Khan took the field
against Sufi-Kuli Khan, Turkestan Oghlu, and on the plains of Kaifir
Kala, the Persians were defeated in a pitched battle (1720), and they
were compelled to leave their camp to the Afghans. Zaman Khan
returned to the city loaded with booty. He died shortly after from
natural causes, having ruled his clan for two years and five months.
The elders of the latter with one accord now summoned from his
retreat in Shorawak, another son of the late Abdullah Khan (who had
died in prison), named Muhammad Khan, and made him ruler over
themselves.




CHAPTER VL

THe GHiLzAl CONQUEST oF PErRsiA—NADIR SHAH.

N the year 1718, after he had overthrown and slain the Chief
of the Abdalis, in battle at Dilaram, and had returned to
Kandahar, Shah Mahmud, the Ghilzai, forwarded to the

u Persian Court a report of what he had done, making out that
he had been actuated solely by a sense of duty, and that, if the
Shah would attack the Abdalis, he (Mahmud) at the head of the
Ghilzais would operate against those rebels from Kandahar. The
simpletons, who acted as the Ministers of the Shah, were completely
deceived by these professions, and bestowed on Mahmud the title
of Husen Kuli Khan, with valuable presents, and a formal commission
was issued by which he was confirmed in the government of Kandahar.
The agents by whom the Ghilzai chief had sent his report to the Court
of the Shah had also in all probability brought back a true account
of the state of the country, and the imbecility of the Government.

The same year, on the pretext of acting against the Abdalis,
Mahmud entered Seistan. There he found a certain Baluch chief,
named Shahdad, organising a raid, in strength, on Kirman ; and the
inhabitants of that place, having obtained news of the advent of the
Ghilzai chief, implored him to act as their protector against the con-
templated attack of the Baluch chief. Mahmud appointed Bejan
Khan, a Legzi of Farah, to act as deputy in Kandabar, and advanced
to Kirman. On arrival he found that the people, in the meantime,
had repented of their action in calling him in, and they shut the gates
of the town in his face. He immediately blockaded Kirman city, but
at the end of nine months he learned that the Persian-speaking section
of the inhabitants of Kandahar had revolted, and he abandoned his
plans with regard to Kirman and set out for his capital,

After Bejan Khan had taken up his duties, he came to the con-
clusion that it was a favourable opportunity for him to seize the city
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and Province of Kandahar while Mahmud was far away. Malik
Jafar Khan, a member of the ancient family which had ruled over
Seistan for centuries, was in detention in Kandahar, and he is said
to have incited Bejan Khan to revolt. The Afghan element was
gradually weakened, till with the help of the Persian-speaking section
of the population, he was able to expel the Afghans from the city and
in this tumult numbers of them were put to death. It was a short-lived
success, for as soon as he‘arrived, Mahmud was able to put down
the movement with very little trouble, and he passed the winter
in Kandabhar.

The next year at the head of a composite and wretchedly armed
force of Baluch and Afghan adventurers, numbering 8,000 men, he set
out to capture Kirman. He again could only blockade the city and
ravage the surrounding country. The Shah's Government sent no aid
to the distressed townsmen, and they bought off Mahmud with
presents, but refused to give up the city of Kirman, till the result of
his operations against Isfahan was known. The Ghilzai having the
utmost faith in his good fortune, and the ascendancy of his star, agreed
to these terms. He accepted the bribe offered by the townsmen and

directed his march towards Isfahan.

At the Capital, the news of the advance of the Ghilzais produced
the greatest confusion and alarm. Rustics and people of the bazars,
unaccustomed to arms, were hurr‘iedly pressed into service. Armed
with weapons and accoutred with armour from the Royal Arsenals, this
rabble was marched to Gulunabad, some twelve miles from Isfahan, to
oppose the invaders. On the 28th of January 1722, Mahmud boldly
attacked the Persians ; defeated them with the loss of all their artillery
and stores, and drove them into the city. He then occupied the
strong suburb of Farahabad. Surprised at his success, the Ghilzai
chief at first kept his men together, as he was afraid that troops from
the oullying provinces would be assembled, and hurried to the rescue
of the capital, the person of the Monarch and the Royal Family. But
no help came.

There are several authorities for the blockade of Isfahan by the
Afghans, and all agree that at first Mahmud contented himself with
sending patrols of horsemen round the outskirts of the capital.
Nothing can demonstrate more clearly the utter demoralization ot the
Persians than the fact that no serious attempt was made to relieve the
capital. At first Mahmud could not have had more than 10,000 men
under his orders, but once the news of his success spread abroad, he
must have been joined by troops of needy Afghan adventurers, eager to
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share his good fortune, and hungering for plunder. The Wali of
Luristan, indeed, made a half-hearted attempt tc throw supplies and
reinforcements into lsfahan. His troops were dispersed, and the
convoy was captured by the Afghans. In the Palace, a weak sovereign
and wrangling ministers were unable to devise any remedies, or to
arrive at a plan of concerted action. The city was full of refugees,
and with an enormous population unprepared for an investment, food
very soon began to diminish. The Afghans drew together for their
own use the supplies in the open country. They collected a great
store, and burnt all they did not require. They were able to establish
garrisons at points round the city and to patrol more effectually the
intervening ground. On the gth of May Prince Tahmasp made his
escape and went off towards Kiashan in hopes that in the country
round Kazvin and in Azarbaijan he would be able to raise an army for
the relief of Isfahan. Up to this it would have been possible for the
Shah to have escaped, but after the flight ot the Prince, Mahmud
tightened his hold on the city. The sufferings of the populace increased
daily, and at last it was decided to surrender.

On the 12th of October 1722' the city was rendered up, after a
blockade of a little over eight months. The same night Mahmud sent
his officers to take possession of the Treasury, the Arsenal and the
Palace, and Shah Husen, the Safavi Monarch, was placed in confine-
ment in the Palace. Two days later Mahmud entered the city, and
his name was inserted in the Public Prayers in the Musjids, and
money was coined bearing his name and superscription. Mahmud
owed his success in a great measure to the presence of a Turkish
Army on the Western Frontier of Persia, which threatened an inva-
sion, and also to the movements of the Russians who had seized Ghilan
on the Persian shore of the Caspian Sea. The general effete condition
of the Shah’s Government must have been notorious, but Mahmud
could hardly be expected to have known the true state of affairs on
the Western Frontier of Persia, so that it was merely a piece of good
luck that he timed his invasion at a moment when other events contri-
buted towards his success.

But other causes had also helped. There had not been wanting
portents that were regarded by the superstitious as foreshadowing
the destruction of Isfahan. In the summer of 1721, an unusual dense-
ness of the atmosphere, and a red or bloody appearance of the sun,

! From the Tarikh-i-Jahan Kushi-i-Nadiri. The Agent of the East India
Company under date the z21st October 1722 fixes the date on the 12th October—
Malcolm's History of Persia: I., 436. note—Ali Hzzin dates it two days later,
which agrees with the date in the text of the formal entry of Mahmud.
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which had lasted nearly for two months, had been regarded as symbols
of Divine wrath. The astrologers had agreed that these signs were
of evil import, and these wiseacres had predicted the destruction of
the capital by fire or by an earthquake. Shah Husen and the Royal
family, attended by all the ministers, had left the city and had en-
camped in tents beyond the walls. Every means that superstition or
fanaticism could suggest were adopted to avert the threatened disaster.
Priests went about among the people exhorting them to repent of their
sins. The minds of all were depressed, and when the news arrived of
the advance of Mahmud, it seemed as if the destruction that had
been foretold was at hand.

Mahmud had reached the height of his prosperity. He made over
to his younger brother Husen the government of Kandahar, while he
himself ruled Persia from Isfahan. He gave audience to an embassy
from Peter the Great of Russia, which had been despatched to Shah
Husen, but which arrived at the capital after it had been invested by
Mahmud. This embassy had been despatched to demand of the Shah
that he should redress the wrongs supposed to have been inflicted on
Russian subjects by the Lezghis and the Khan of Khiva. Mahmud
was no better able to do this than Shah Husen had been.®

After a serious outbreak in Kazvin in which the Afghan Governor
and garrison were expelled by the citizens with great loss, Mahmud
gave vent to his blood-thirsty nature. He ordered a general mas-
sacre in Isfahan, which is said to have lasted for fifteen days. The
capital was depopulated. The fall of Shiraz, which had held out for
eight months, was also signalized by a slaughter of its inhabitants.

Towards the end of two years, Mahmud’s mind seems to have
become unhinged. On learning of the escape of one of the Royal
Princes, he put to death all the males of the blood Royal, except the
aged Shah. After this, as time went on, Mahmud’s condition became
rapidly worse, and at last he became hopelessly insane. His officers
trembled for their lives. Itis said that Mahmud’'s mother, who had
joined her son in Isfahan, at last recognised his hopeless condition,and
agreed that he should be put out of the world. His cousin Ashraf, son
of that Abdul Aziz Khan, whom Mahmud himself had put to death in
Kandahar, some years previously, was brought out of prison by the
Afghan Sardars, and with their concurrence Ashrat ordered an end to
be made of the maniac on the night of the 16th April 1723.

' In consequence of his inability a Russian Army, landed on the Coast of
Daghestan on 4th August 1722, while Shah Husen reigned. The town of Derbend
was occupied.—Malcolm’s History of Persia, 1, 442.
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Ashraf was raised to the throne ; but his tenure was most insecure.
Inthe east a Turkoman freebooter had collected a band of the turbulent
spirits of his tribe at the head of whom he waged a successful war
with Mahmud, the Seistani Prince, who had seized Meshed and had
set himself up as an independent ruler in Khurassan. Nadir Kuli,
the Afshar, * afterwards famous as Nadir Shah, in this struggle haa
given proofs of the military qualities which later on enabled him to
drive the Russians, Afghans, and Turks from Persian soil. In the
third year of Ashrat’s reign, the Ottoman Turks invaded Persia in
great force, and demanded the release of Shah Husen and his re-
storation to the throne. An express was sent by the Afghan Ruler
from his camp at Gulpaigan to the capital, with orders that the Shah
was to be forthwith put to death. The head of the unfortunate
monarch was sent to the Turkish general as the Afghan reply to his
demands. The operations against the Turks ended not unfavourably
to 'Ashraf, and he made peace'with them, but ceded some territory
to the Porte (probably as the price of his recognition). A boundary
was also demarcated between Turkish and Persian territories.
In the 4th year of his reign Ashraf received an ambassador from
Constantinople, and on the return of this mission, an agent on the
Ghilzai's behalf accompanied it. This person was one Muhammad
Ali Khan,a Baluch, but a man of great ability,and famed as the possessor

of an oily tongue.

After he had escaped from Isfahan,Prince Tahmasp had been able to
collect a few adherents enough to protect his person, but not sufficient-
'y numerous to effect anything against an antagonist such as Ashraf
was. The character and abilities of the Prince were not those which
inspire confidence. After lurking in various districts towards the
west, he had taken up his residence temporarily in Teheran ; but the
extension of the power of Mahmud over that place had rendered the
Prince again without a fixed place of abode. Unable to cope with the
Afghans, he, by a happy inspiration, joined himself to Nadir Kuli.
The wily Turkoman, whose authority was by no means acknowledged
by all of his own kinsmen, saw the advantage he would gain as the
acknowledged Generalissimo of the Titular Shah ; and he professed
himself the devoted slave of Shah Tahmasp and took the cognomen of
Tahmasp Kuli (slave of Tahmasp) to show his appreciation of his new
position. With the Prince in his camp, Nadir had captured Meshe |

! Born 10th November 1688, Tarikh-i-Jahan Kusha-i-Nadiri.

q
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and had overthrown Mahmud, the Seistani, whom he had put to
death.

Shah Tahmasp was for ever urging his general to attempt the
capture of Isfahan; but Nadir clearly saw the difficulties attending
such a task, and the necessity of first restoring the confidence of the
Persians by operations against those Afghans who were near at hand.
The successes and ruthless ferocity of the Ghilzais had rendered them
a terror to the Persians, and this feeling of inferiority had to be
,obliterated as far as possible. It was also necessary to prevent the
Abdalis of Herat from joining the Ghilzais and making a diversion
in their favour. Thus by beating his enemies in detail, Nadir laid
the foundations of his later successes. By operations which were
most carefully planned and carried out against the Abdalis of Herat,
Nadir proved to his troops that the Afghans were not invincible, and
that both Persian and Turkoman could hope to prevail over these
dreaded antagonists. The Abdalis recognised the supremacy of Shah
Tahmasp.

This confidence was soon to be submitted to a practical test; for
Ashraf having obtained intelligence of the expedition against the
Abdalis of Herat, put his troops in motion to take possession of
Khurassan, and marched out cf Isfahan, with this object in view, on
the 29th July 1729. Nadir, who had returned from Herat, was at
Meshed, resting his men after their recent exertions ; but on hearing
of Ashraf’s movement, he at once mobilized his forces, recalled his
men from leave, and accompahied by Shah Tahmasp, he took the
western road irom Meshed on the 2nd of September. Nadir marched
by way of Nishapur and Sabzawar ; but he had sent his artillery with
an escort round by Sultan Maidan, joining it near Bostan.

Ashraf was operating against one of the forts in the Semnan Dis-
trict, the defenders of which had been exhorted by Nadir to hold out to
the last extremity. On hearing of the advance of the two columns,
Ashraf sent the Nasar Chieftain,Saidal Khan, to surprise, and if possible
capture the artillery. Nadir was too quick for Saidal, and this design
failed as the former had united his forces just before the Afghans ap-
peared. Saidal Khan having put to death his guides in revenge for his
disappointment, fell back on Ashraf’'s army which had abandoned the
siege operations and was in position at Mehmandost. At this place
the first of a series of well-contested battles, was fought on the 1gth of
September. Nadir had arrayed his troops in masses, with the front
and flanks protected by artillery. Ashraf, on the other hand, divided his
army into three divisions, one of which he led in person against the
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front of Nadir's position, while the others assailed both flanks. Not-
withstanding the gallantry of the Afghans, and the desperate valour of
Ashraf himself, victory declared for the Persians, and late in the after-
noon the Afghans began to retire, after having lost their bravest men
in the effort to pierce the ranks of their enemies. They abandoned
their artillery, their tents and their baggage, which the Persians
seized ; but Nadir would not be drawn into a pursuit, and allowed the
enemy to retreat unmolested.

Teheran was at once evacuated, but before he withdrew, I[slam.
Khan, Tokhi Ghilzai, who was the Military Governor at that place,
called together the leading men of the town, and put them all to death.
He then joined Ashraf at Viramin. The Afghans attempted to defend
the Sar Darreh Pass (Pilee Caspice) leading to that place. They took up
a strong position, blocked the road with artillery supported by the flower
of their army, arrayed in full armour, and on the hills to the right and
left, sangars had been erected which were held in strength. Nadir
sent his infantry to clear the heights and turn the Afghan position,
and Islam Khan who commanded on this occasion fled to Viramin, and
joined Ashraf. The latter burst his heavy artillery and fell back on
Isfahan. The savage temper of the Afghans had been thoroughly
roused by these reverses, and Ashraf having been obliged to reinforce
his army by withdrawing the garrison of Isfahan, ordered a general
massacre, in which, it is said, 3,000 citizens perished. Ashraf also
demanded aid from the Turks, with whom he was on terms of friendship;
and the Seraskier of Baghdad had sent an army led by several Pashas
to his assistance. The Ghilzai took up a strong position in front of
Isfahan, at Murcha Khurt, and waited there for his allies to join
him.

On receiving intelligence of these events, Nadir and Shah
Tahmasp marched towards Isfahan, and attacked Ashraf, who had
been joined by the Turks, on the 3rd of October. Fortune again
turned her face from the blood-stained Afghans, and the Ghilzais
and their allies were routed after a well contested struggle. The
Turks were allowed by Nadir to retire unmolested after the defeat.
The Afghans passed through Isfahan, staying only one night to
collect their families and effects. In the meantime Kazvin had fallen,
and the Afghan garrison and the families of their compatriots had
been made prisoners. Nadir and his titular sovereign halted some
time in Isfahan,

Ashraf rallied his followers in Shiraz and placed his head-quarters
in that city. He had collected another army and had enlisted the Arab
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tribes of the coast under his standard. The winter had set in with
unusual severity by the time that Nadir was ready to move. Undeter-
red by the severe weather, he set out on his advance on Shiraz, and
directed his march by way of Abar Kuh and Meshed-i-Madar-i-Sule-
man. About the middle of November, his camp was at Zarghun, fifteen
miles or so from Shiraz. On a bitterly cold night Ashraf led his men
out of their quarters and assaulted the Persian camp with the greatest
fury. On this occasion he was very nearly victorious, and the Persians
had begun to give way before the repeated and desperate attacks of
the Afghans, when Nadir restored the battle with large reserves of
infantry: he repulsed the Afghans with great loss, and Ashraf retreated
to Shiraz.

A truce was arranged and all Afghan prisoners taken in
Kazvin were exchanged for the female members of the Safavi
Family, who were still in the hands and harems of the Afghan
Chiefs. Saidal Khan and Mulla Zafran conducted these negofia-
tions, but no sooner had the former learned that the members
of his family (who had been captured in Kazvin) were safe in
Ashraf’s camp, than he returned to his master and persuaded him to
take to flight.

Having arranged his plans and with Kandahar as his objective,
Ashraf stole out of Shiraz, accompanied by a crowd of his fellow
countrymen who were also endeavouring to make their way to their,
native land. They were pursued, and the greater part of the fugitives
had not crossed the bridge at Fasah, twelve miles from Shiraz,when the
advanced troops of the Persian Army came up with the rearmost of
the escaping Afghans. The defence of the bridge had been intrusted
to Pir Muhammad and a body of troops had been placed under his
command to cover the retirement. This person had been the preceptor
of both Mahmud and Ashraf, and was revered by the Afghans
generally. Under the protection of the rearguard, the fugitives
were filing over the bridge at their ease, when a random shot
fired by some one of the Persian Sccuts, killed Pir Muhammad.
Instantly a panic occurred. The fugitives threw themselves into
the swollen waters, and were drowned in large numbers in the
attempt to ford the stream. Many were taken prisoners by
the Persians, among whom were fifteen persons of rank, including
Mian Sidik and Mulla Zafran. They were despatched to Isfahan.
On the way thither, Mulla Zafran threw himself off the bridge over
the Shin river and was drowned. The rest were publicly execut. d
in Isfahan.
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It was at this time that Muhammad Ali Khan returned from
Constantinople with despatches from the Porte. These were present-
ed to Nadir, and the Baluch entered his service, and received the
government of the district of Kuh-i-Keiluyeh.

After Ashraf had fled, stray bands of Afghans infested some of the
outlying districts of Persia. Numbers made their way to the Coast
Ports and to Maskat, where men of good family were glad to make
a bare living by serving as water-carriers. The roving Afghans in
Persia gradually took service under Nadir, and at first the Afghan
Contingent in his pay was commanded by Ishak Sultan Ghilzai, who in
Ashraf’s time had been Governor of Yazd. He had been distinguished
for his humane disposition and reluctance to shed blood. He was
subsequently permitted to retire to Kandahar.

Shah Husen Ghilzai, who ruled in Kandahar, was brother to
the late Mahmud, whom Ashraf had caused to be put to death.
Although the removal of the insane tyrant had been a necessary and a
merciful act, yet it gave his brother a very useful pretext to prevent
Ashraf entering his territory. Nadir had issued strict orders to
intercept the fugitive ex-monarch of Persia. Even Abduilah Khan, the
Ruler of Kalat in Baluchistan, had received these orders and had
enrolled himself among the friends of Nadir. When, therefore, Ashraf
had reached Mala Khan on the Helmand within a comparatively

sshort distance of Kandahar, he heard that Husen was waiting for him
at the Laki Ford some thirty miles higher up the river to intercept his
retreat. The fugitives struck off to the south, to make for the faint
desert trail that led to Baluchistan, hoping to slip through into India.
Shah Husen Ghilzai returned to Kandahar, and detailed his feudatory
chief, Ibrahim Khan, the Naushirwani of Kharan, to pursue Ashraf
through the desert. One night as the wearied fugitives were resting
near a well, at the foot of the Zard Koh, Ibrahim Khan and his party
surprised them. A brief but desperate struggle took place, in which
Ashraf was shot dead by Ibrahim Khan. The party were made
prisoners and were taken to Kandahar. Among them were two
ladies of the Blood Royal of the Safavis, who were in Ashraf’s Harem.
These events took place in 1730."

Mahmud had reigned about two years, and Ashraf about six.
The latter deserved a better fate than that which befell him at last.

! The celebrated diamonds Koh-i-Nur and Darya-i-Nur are said to have
been found on Ashraffs corpse by the Naushirwini Chief and to have been sold
by him in Sind ! Ali Hazin records a rumour that two diamonds of very great price
were taken from Ashraf's body. Fhe rumour must have got about and have
spread far. Also see Malcom’s Hist. of Persia . 471.
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The crimes and mistakes of the former and of the Afghans generally,
entailed consequences that proved too strong for the latter, and
brought about his downfall. Measured by time, the dominion of
the Ghilzais over Persia appears to be of small importance ; but it
gave the first impulse to the demoralization of that country, which
has progressed uninterruptedly ever since and of which the end
perhaps has not yet been reached.

NOTE.

During the progress of the Indo-Afghan Boundary Commission in 1896, some
details regarding the death of Ashraf Ghilzai were learnt in the country where it
had taken place. It seems that, in order to move rapidly through the desert and
owing to some of |.is mules having broken down, he cachéd a part of his treasures
among the ravines not far from the Mamu well. A part of this buried treasure,
we were told, had been discovered by a Baluch shepherd, accidentally. He
became rich; and in order to escape the observation of his neighbours this
fortunate shepherd abandoned his inhospitable native desert.

The connection between the family of the Sardar of Kharin and Shah Husen
Ghilzai, Ruler of Kandahar, is clearly established by the family records givex in
the Baluchistan District Gazetteer Series, Vol. VII and VIIA—Makran and
Kharan. Purdil Khan was the eldest of three brothers, and next to him came
Ibrahim. The latter was in close touch with the Ruler of Kandahar, and held
in honour by the Ghilzai. The fame of Ibrahim eclipsed that of his eldest brother
who was chief of Khirin,

The lands of Hazir Suft on the Helmand, above Landi Muhammad Amin
Khan, were bestowed on the family of the Khirin Chief by Husen Ghilzai ot
Kandahar (so the story goes). The income from these lands is said to be still
enjoyed by the Chief of Khiiran,



CHAPTER VIL

THE AppAlls IN HERAT—NADIR SHAH.

T about the time when Mahmud the Ghilzai had made his
attempt on Persia, Muhammad Khan, the Sadozai (son of
that Abdullab Khan who had died in prison), who ruled over
the Abdalis in Herat, also dreamed of effecting the conquest

of Khurassan ; and he went and blockaded Meshed for four months.
After ravaging the open country, he was compelled to return home, as
he made no impression on the city. On his return journey, however,
he took possession of the fort of Sinakan in the district of Khaf.

A revolution took place in Herat after his return, and he was de-
posed, and Zulfikar Khan, who had fled to Shorawak on Muhammad’s
election, was recalled and made their chief by the Abdalis. The new
ruler was the son of the late Zamian Khan Sadozai. The deceased

«chief had caused Abdullah Khan to be placed in bonds and was even
suspected of having caused his death. In 1725-6, Rahman, son of the
late Abdullah and brother to the deposed Muhammad, io retaliation
for his father’s death, sought to kill Zulfikar Khan, and matters came
to such a pass in the city that the Abdalis turned the leaders of the
two factions out of Herat. Zulfikir was sent away to the district of
Bakharz, and Rahman to Farah, and the elders of the clan sent for
another son of the late Abdullah Khan, named Allahyar, from Multan,
and raised him to the chiefship in the year 1726.

The Alakozai headman, Abdul Ghani, however, was a staunch
supporter of Zulfikar Khan ; and owing to his influence and tribal
following,he kept Herat in a ferment for six months trying to reinstate
his friend. The Abdalis again expelled both Allahyar and Zulfikar :
the former to Maruchak and the latter this time to Farah. The Abdalis
continued to manage their affairs without a supreme chief over them,
till they heard that Nadir and Shah Tahmasp had planned an expedition
against Herat, a‘nd were on the point of starting. They brought
Allahyar back to Herat as their chief, while his rival was ordered to
hold Farah.
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Nadir, with the Shah in his camp, took the field with 8,000 men iy
1727-28, and by a series of careftllly planned movements, the district
of Khaf was cleared of the Afghans. The latter were gradually
pushed back on Herat, and were cautiously followed by Nadir to the
city. On this occasibn, however, he was content with the nominal
submission of Allahyar Khan, and retired to Meshed after a campaign
of two months.

In the year 1729 Nadir again took the field against the Abdalis,
who had been encroaching on the territory they had lost, and on the
24th of March, at the head of many divisions, he left Meshed, and
commeenced operations by the capture of the fort of Farmand ; and he
fought a general engagement later on the plains of Kafir Kala, in
which the Afghans were defeated late in the afternoon, but not before
they had nearly succeeded in .overthrowing the Persians. Nadir
himself was wounded on this occasion. The next battle was fought
on the banks of the Heri-Rud near Kuhsan ; and again late in the day,
by the personal efforts of their leader, the Persians signally defeated the
Abdalis. The latter abandoned the fort at Ghurian, and concen-
trated in Herat.

An indecisive action at Rabat-i-Pariyan was followed by negotia-
tions, but the advance of Zulfikar Khan put an end to these. Herat
wasinvested. The fortifications protecting this city were very massive.
The walls were constructed very largely of wet earth, thoroughly worked
up before use, and after it had been placed in position, again thoroughly
well rammed and consolidated. The P/isé work of Khurassan is
celebrated for its durability.

Against massive walls of this material, solid round shot and shells
had very little effect. In more recent times the mud walls of Bhartpur
(in India) foiled troops far superior, and artillery tar more effective than
those of Nadir, and this failure has dimmed the lustre of the achieve-
ments of that gallant soldier Lord Lake. It is not to be wondered at
that, with the Ghilzais still predominant in Persia, Nadir was not
unwilling that the puppet Shah should patch up a truce with the
Abdalis in Herat, so as to set him free to deal with the Ghilzais. The
courage and confidence of the troops under Nadir’'s command had also
been restored ; and he returned to Meshed on the 22nd May 1729.

The Abdalis after this withdrawal of the Persians continued to
exhibit the same levity in the conduct of their affairs, which they had
hitherto displayed. While Nadir was away in the West, Zulfikar Khan
persuaded the tribesmen to invade the district round Meshed.
Allahyar, who demurred, was again thrust out, and he joinsd the
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Persians in Meshed. An army from Herat again appeared before the
holy city, where Nadir's brother commanded. The latter had none of
his famous brother’s talents for war, and against express orders to the
contrary, he fought Zulfikar Khan in the open field and was defeated
on the 19th July 1730. The city of Meshed again baffled the attempts
of the Afghans, who retired to Herat after laying waste the open
country.

Nadir determined to subdue the Abdalis finally, having driven the
Ghilzais from Persia. On the 13th February 1731, he moved out of
Meshed. His advance was unopposed, and the Afghans again

concentrated in Herat. On the 3rd March he took up a position at
' Ju-i-Nukrah, about twelve miles west of that city, and on the 6th was
vehemently attacked by the Abdalis led by their chief in person. The
. Afghans were defeated, and in the teeth of their strenuous endeavours
the city was finally invested; and Nadir placed his head-quarters at Urdu
Khan, some four miles from Herat. On the 12th July, Zulfikar Khan
made a determined assault on the Persian lines at Urdu-Khan, but was
defeated. On his way back to Herat, while crossing the swollen river,
the Abdali chief's horse lost its footing and fell. It was swept away
by the current and was recovered with all its trappings by the
Persian soldiers, while Zulfikar was rescued by some of his own
troopers. .

Shah Husen had been trying to keep in with the Abdalis and also
with Nadir. He had sent Saidal Khan, the Nasar, with 4,000 picked
men to aid in the decfen:e of Herat, and he also had sent representa-
tives to the Persian camp. As time went on, famine made its
appearance in the beleagured town, and the sufferings of the garrison
and townsfolk rapidly increased, and were aggravated by the failure of
salt. Most of the Ghilzai contingent had perished in the strife, and at
last Saidal decided to escape. On the night of the 25th July, he crept
along the bed of an old irrigation cutting, passed the lines of the enemy,
and fled towards the south. His defection still further demoralized
the defenders. Their disunion and lack of discipline also daily grew
more pronounced till concerted action had become impossible. Zulfi-
kar Khan thereupon resigned the chieftainship in favour of Allahyar.
and negotiations were set on foot with Nadir.

On the rith of August 1731, Allahyar Khan was seut from the
Persian camp with the leaders of the tribes to take possession of the
city. No sooner had he entered the place than he became so impressed
with its capabilities for holding out and with the good condition of its
defences, that he abandoned his allegiance to the Persians, shut the



58 THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.
gates, and declared he would carry on the war. The siege was
resumed, and Nadir tightened his hold on the city. Famine was his
ally. In vain did the Afghans sally forth to procure supplies; the
enemy was vigilant and drove them back. In vain did the famous
Musa Khan, chief of the Ishakzai clan, still remembered under his
sobriquet of Dungi—*‘‘the freebooter ’—exert himsell to pass the
enemy’s lines and to collect supplies of salt and grain for his starving
countrymen in Herat. It was in vain that Allahyar Khan in person
attempted to collect these necessary articles in the township of
Kozaran. Every attempt was frustrated, and the privations had
increased beyond eudurance. On the 21st of November, Allahyar
Khan despatched the Shekh-ul-Islam of Herat to Nadir to sue for
peace, promising that if his family and the prisoners taken on the
surrender of Obah were given up to him, he would yield the city. The
captives were set free, but as soon as Allahyar Khan’s wife arrived

LY

in the city, she was put to death by her jealous husband.

Having obtained his desires, the fickle Afghan, perhaps overruled
by his followers, again broke his word. Hostilities were resumed
and continued till the 19th january when Herat surrendered.. This
time the Afghans were ordered to march out of the place. The five
great clans of the Duranis, each of which held one of the gates of the
city streamed out in troops, defiling through the suburbs till they
reached the place at which they were to await orders for their
disposal. On the 1gth, Allahyar Khan also departed for Multan, and
on the 25th Nadir's governor was installed in Herat.

The Durani tribes were deported in a body to districts between
Meshed and Semnan which had been assigned to them. A number of
the tribesmen took service with Nadir, under the lzadership of Abdul
Ghani, the Alakozai, who was also made chieftain of the Duranis.
This Afghan contingent was afterwards increased, and Abdul Ghant
served Nadir for six years with zeal and fidelity, and in the campaigns
against the Turks he distinguished himself very greatly. In requital
for his services he obtained the release of all Afghan captives in the
hands of the Persians, and Nadir's promise that, whenever the Ghilzais
in Afghanistan, should be subjugated, the town of Kandahar should be
placed in his hands.

After the death of Abdul Ghani, Nadir appointed Nur Muham-
mad to the command of the contingent, and to the chieftainship of the
tribes as well.

We will return now to the affairs of the Ghilzais. Those persons,

whom Ashraf had left to the tender mercies of his black slaves, were
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rescued betfore more than three persons had perished at the hands of
their keepers. Two were killed,and the mother of Muhammad received
a wound, from the effects of which she died a short time after the
rescue was effected. On Nadir’s arrival in Isfahan these persons were
made ‘prisoners, but later on they were exchanged for the two ladies
of the Safavi family whom Ashraf had carried off with him. Shah
Husen Ghilzai knew, that, although Nadir had been obliged to put off
his intentions with regard to Kandahar, yet a reckoning was in-
evitable, and he appears to have made spasmodic efforts to enter
into communication with his dreaded foeman. On the east he had
no enemies whom he feared, and he pursued an active policy in this
direction, and is said even to have despatched a force into India
which ravaged the country round Multan.:

Saidal Khan, when he escaped from Herat, made his way to
Isfizar, a district to the south of that city, where he lingered for a
month and a half. Zulfikar Khan, with his younger brother, Ahmad
Khan, joined the Nasar at that place, after he had abandoned Herat ;
and in company with Saidal Khan, the Sadozai chiefs made their way to
Kandahar. On arrival at this place, the two Sadozais were seized by
Shah Husein, and placed in confinement, until oa the fall of this city,
they were set free by Nadir. «

During the final operations against Herat, Nadir had despatched
troops to take possession of the forts in the country to the south, and
others in the direction of Kandahar, and this expedition had succeeded
in capturing the forts at Girishk and Kala-i-Bist, places almost on the
outskirts of Shah Husen’s capital. The latter despatched troops
under the leadership of Babo Jan, the Babi Afghan, who had been
governor of Lar in Persia, under Mahmud and Ashraf, and who, on
the downfall of the latter, had made .his way to Kandahar and had
joined Husen. Babo Jan recovered both Girishk and Kala-i-Bist and
drove the Persians back to Farah. )

Affairs of greater importance claimed Nadir's attention and his
presence on the Western Frontier. He also had deposed the nominal
sovereign Shah Tahmasp, and had assumed the royal dignity him-
self. At length, however, he had arranged matters with both the
Ottoman Turks and the Russians, and was free to turn his attention
to Kandahar, and give effect to his long-deferred intentions with re-
gard to the Ghilzais.

When news reached Kandahar, that Nadir Shah was about to

march towards that place, the Hotakis thought it would be as well to

! Seir-i-Mutakherin, Litho Text.
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thoroughly crush the Tokhis, their hereditary enemies, whom they had
driven from the Tarnak into the valley of the Arghandab river. The
whole of the fighting men of the Hotakis were, therefore, mobilised for
this purpose ; and 4,000 horsemen werée borrowed from the garrison of
Kandahar. The combined force fell up on the Pirak Khel (Tokhis)
at Umakai, practically destroying that tribe, not even sparing
women with child. The chiefs of the massacred tribe were away
collecting troops, and upon hearing of the destruction that had
befallen their people they took to flight, and joined Nadir Shah’s
army, vowing a bitter revenge on the perpetrators of the slaughter of
their people.

On the 13th of October 1736, Nadir Shah marched out of Isfahan
and took the route through Kirman and Seistar. In this country he
left his own Harem and the families of his officers under an adequate
guard, and leaving Seistan on the 23th December, he arrived at
Girishk on the r1oth of January 1737, having marched by wa‘y ot
Dalkhak and Dilaram. ~From Girishk he despatched expeditions into
the Zamindawar, and also against Kala-i-Bist, and then he continued
bis march and crossed the Helmand on the 13th of January.

Ordinarily in the winter, forage and other supplies are scanty, but
Hesen removed all the supplies he could lift, and what he was unable
to take into Kandahar he had burnt on the spot. Nadir Shah was,
therefore, compelled to halt at Shah Maksud for twelve days, to allow
of supplies being collected in Tizin and Derawat and brought into his
camp. Shah Husen took advantage of this respite to put the finishing
touches to his scheme of defence. He hurried reinforcements to
Kala-i-Bist, and levelled buildings that were near the walls of his
capital ; strengthening the works. His son Muhammad Khan was

detailed to hold Kalat (the stronghold of the Ghilzais), about 50 miles
to the north-west of Kandahar.

From Shah Maksud, Nadir Shah marched to the banks of the
Arghandab and placed his camp abreast of the shrine of Babavali. The
same evening Shah Husen saddled his horses and rode out of Kandahar
to attack the Persian camp. Under cover of the darkness he entered
their lines with the impetuosity of a flood in spring time. Although
they inflicted heavy losses on their antagonists, the Persian troops
became panic stricken, and it was only with the greatest personal
exertions that Nadir was able to rally his men on the high ground of
Ashukah, and lead them back to the camp they had abandoned.
Owing to the darkness Shah Husen himself was unaware of the
measure of success he had obtained and retired to Kandabhar.
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In order to conceal the reverse he had sustained, Nadir crossed
the river next morning by a ford which had been discovered opposite
the village of Kokaran, and skirting the Pir Paman hills he marched
past the city under fire from the heavy guns, mounted on the
Chahilzina Bastion (to which he paid no attention), to a position
on the east of Kandabhar (end of January or early in February 1737).

Abdul Ghafur, the Hotaki, was in Kalat at this time and his brother
Abdur Rasul had gone to raise the Kharoti levies against Nadir Shah.
The latter obtained news of the gathering and despatched a column to
disperse the tribesmen, under the guidance of Musa Khan, ¢ Dungi,”
the famous Sakzi (Ishakzai) chief, and this column fell on the
assembled Kharotis at Shibar and scattered them with great loss,
The day after the Nauroz festival, which had been celebrated with
great pomp, a detachment of Nadir’s troops was sent out to act
against Kalat (11th March 1737). A deserter, who had escaped out of
Kandahar, on the second night after the march of the column, gave
news to the effect that Husen Ghilzai had heard of the movement and
had despatched Saidal Khan, with 4,000 picked men, to follow up and
surprise the Persians. Such was Saidal’s reputation, that Nadir
decided to march in person to the rescue of his men, and joined them—
all unsuspicious of danger, as the Afghans were on the point of sar-
prising the negligent commander. Foiled in their purpose by the
arrival of Nadir Shah, the Afghans scattered over the hills at the
onslaught of the Persians, and made their way to Kalat, where
Saidal joined Muhammad Khan and the other chiefs.

A large gathering of Ghilzais was dispersed on the banks of the
Arghandab ; and in order to prevent sorties from the beleagured city
being made, it was decided to build redoubts and block houses round
the city. On a perimeter of from twenty-four to twenty-eight miles,
redoubts, each of which was capable of sheltering 1,000 men, were
constructed at intervals of a mile. Between each of these again at in-
tervals of 100 paces, towers were constructed in which 10 musketeers
were placed. As the Afghans were even then able to steal past the
towers in the darkness singly and on foot between each of these last
two other towers were erected, by means of which egress from the
city was rendered impossible.

On the 3rd May 1737 news arrived of the fall of Kala-i-Bist,
and the next day brought tidings of the capture of Shahr-i-Safa.
At the end of the same month, the families that had been left
in Seistan reached Nadirabad. In the meantime, however, the
expedition into the country of Zamindawar had failed to effect the
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conquest of the principal fort in that district ; and the luckless
commander was recalled, and was condemned to receive the bastinadg
in Nadir Shah’s presence. Thus encouraged, his successor proved
more energetic officer, and the place was soon after made over to the
Persians.

The Afghans for several years had been preparing the town
of Kandahar for a siege, and the place contained great stores of pro-
visions and also a very large garrison, who stood manfully on their
defence. As ten months had passed by, Nadir decided to capture
it by assault ; and on the 21st of December the outer defences were
attacked and one by one these were gained. The principal work was
the Azimi Bastion, on which there were several guns mounted. It was
situated on a lofty mound and was equal in height to the Chabhilzina
work. The garrison of Azimi were taken prisoners. The Sangin fort
was next assailed. This was on the summit of a very high spur and
commanded the citadel. It was situated on the north-west side in the
direction of the Chahilzina work. The attack on Sangin was success-
ful, and the garrison of 300 men were either taken or killed. Fourteen
other works had also been taken and the defenders had fallen by the
sword. Large bored mortars, and guns firing shot which weighed
from 335 to 40 lbs.,were dragged up by a very difficult and crooked path
and placed in position on the crest of the hill, to bear on the Dahdar
work (on the west of the citadel), in the fort Sangin. After
battering Dahdar till its foundations trembled, 3co men of each of the
contingents of the Bakhtiaris, Kurds and Afghans were told off to
assault the position on the night of the 3rd March 1738. The garrison
of Dahdar, however, were on the alert, and they beat off the storming
party with a loss of 200 men.

After the Nauroz Festival had been celebrated, the Bakhtiaris
were ordered to make a second attack on Dahdar, supported by
4,000 other troops. They moved up under cover towards the Dahdar
fort and passed the night concealed from the view of the defenders
in the ravines and chasms of that furrowed hillside. Next morning
when the attention of the garrison was drawn to the assault on the
other side, the Bakhtiaris scaled the rocks and swarmed over the
walls into the place (13th March 1738).

The Chahar Burj was next attacked and carried on the third
assault, the Persians having suffered greatly in the two attacks
which failed. A general assault put them in possession of several
other parts of the defences, and also of a gateway. Shah Husen
fled into the Kaitul Fort accompanied by a few of his leading
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men, and with several of his women folk, while a great slaughter
was made in the city. He perceived that his only chance of safety
lay in surrendering. He, therefore, sent his own sister, Zinab by
name, in company with some of his chiefs, to Nadir Shah to obtain
terms. Having received assurances of safety, he made his submission
to Nadir outside the Babavali Gate. Shah Husen with his relations
and dependants, with such of their personal possessions as had
remained in their hands,. were exiled to Mazenderan.

Nadir Shah had fully made up his mind that Kandahar should
be destroyed and rendered uninhabitable, and on the 29th of March
1737 a site had been selected in the vicinity of the shrine of Sher
Surkh Baba, and a complete city was laid out here, all the details as
to public buildings, bath houses, and residential quarters, were de-
finitely settled, work was commenced at once, and by the middle of
December the place was pronounced to be ready for occupation. This
city was declared to be the future capital of the province, and it was
named Nadirabad.

While Nadir Shah's military chiefs were battering the fortifications
of Old Kandahar, his civil officers were planning the settlement and

.

assessment of the land immediately round the newly built city.:

After that Kalat-i-Ghilzai had been taken by the Persians, it was
handed over to the care of the famous Ghilzai Chief, Jan, the Taraki,
who exercised such power over his tribe, that even during his life-
time his influence had become proverbial :—*¢ It rests with God and
Jan the Taraki,” was a saying which was current in the mouths of his

! Nadir divided these lands into joo separate holdings of about 744 acres.
The holders of these allotments were obliged scverally to furnish two horsemen
for service, and in addition to pay as revenue /;th of the produce of their fields.
This assessment was realized in kind and halt was taken in grain and the other
half was taken inchaff. [n order to arrive at some figures on which to base his
estimates for this settlement, he had made experiments. He had ordered a plol
of land of (about) the area of 744 acres to be ploughed seven times, and when
the soil had been prepared grain sown. The yield proved to be twenty-fold.
On this return he based his calculation as to the revenue that was to be realized
from each of the 3oo holdings. This experiment was unfair, and the result was
greatly in favour of the government, because land on which he had experimented
had lain fallow for three years, owing to the disturbed state of the country, where-
as the land that was to be assessed according to the results obtained by the ex-
perimental sowings, and which lay around Nadirabad was such that it could not
be cultivated two years consecutively, so that not more than 38 acres in each
holding could be put under crops in any one year.

The tenure of the holdings was that known as *f Arbabi.” . Each _indivic?ual
was 1o be always ready to help the officials in anywayin which their secvices
were required, and to aid also in providing a garrison for th_e town on occasions
of emergency, These holdings were permanently occupied, and the persons
who enjoyed them were of Persian descent (Farsiwan, or Farsi). ':I'he_y belonged
to the tribes of this section of the population of the Kandahar district, such as
the Ruzbehini, Zanganah, Burbur, and Siah Mansur. These people were gcod
agriculturists and could be trusted to make the most of their land.—LEECH.
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people. Nadir made Ashraf Sultan chief over the Tokhi and other
Ghilzai tribes, and avenged them on the Hotakis, who were deported
to the lands held by the Abdalis, to the west of Meshed in the
Sabzawar district, and on the jth April 1738 the exiled tribesmen
crossed the Arghandab on their journey to their new habitations.

Thus passed away the sceptre of authority from the Ghilzais,
Theirs is a proud record. Shah Husen died soon after arriving in
Mazenderan. The dissensions among the Ghilzais was the cause of his
downfall. Popular belief, however, attributed his ruin to the curse
pronounced on him by a celebrated Mulla of that‘period who dwelt
in the city of Old Kandahar. The latter, named Abdul Hakim Sahib,
who belonged to the tribe of Kakar Afghans, was a most influential
person, and was regarded with the utmost veneration as a saint,
on account of his austere life and devotion to religion. So great was
this holy man’s following and such was his influence in the city and
country, that Shah Husen regarded him as a source of danger, and
expelled him from his territory. The orders were carried out with-
out regard to this venerated person’s feelings, and as he left Kandahar
he prophesied that, even as he had been driven forth, so would God
remove Shah Husen from his native land and cause him to die in
exile, and his descendants for ever should languish in subjection to
others! When Old Kandahar was demolished, the abode of the
holy person was spared at the intercession of the Abdalis, and it
has ever since been maintained by the Durani Sovereigns as a
shrine. The holy person himself settled in Thal-Chotiali, a district
of the present Baluchistan Agency (one of the two Frontier Pro-
vinces of British India), and there in course of time he passed
away.

For his faithful service Abdul Ghani, the Alakozai, was rewarded
with the Government of Nadirabad, and the Abdalis were permitted
to vacate their seats in exile (which the Hotakis were to occupy), and
to return to Kandahar, where the outlying lands round the capital
and in the districts were allotted afresh to the tribesmen. Abdul
Ghani obtained the rich lands in the Arghandab valley for the
Alakozais. Nur Muhammad, the equally fertile lands of the Zamin-
dawar for his tribe the Alizais. The Barakzais, who complained that
they had been ill-represented in Nadir’s Court at the timie of the
distribution of land, received those districts where the soil is light,
and is not commanded by water, which have since formed their patri-
mony. They were obliged to acquire by purchase afterwards other
properties in the fertile tracts towards the Helmand River.



NADIR SHAH TAKES KABUL. (3
Zaman Khan and his brother Ahmad Khan, the Sadozai chiefs,
were released from prison, when Old Kandahar fell, The former
received the government of a district in Mazenderan, and has been lost
sight of. Ahmad Khan was appointed one of Nadir Shah’s Yessawals,
or Heralds, and attached to his personal retinue. Under an exacting
master like Nadir, the proper discharge of the duties of this appoint-
ment made great demands on the tact and discretion of the person
who filled it, and the future sovereign of Afghanistar received a
training that stood-him in good stead afterwards.

From Kandahar, Nadir Shah marched to Ghazni, held by an Indian
governor, which was surrendered to him on the 2nd of May. From
this place troops were despatched to subdue the Hazara tribes of
Dai Kandi and Dai Zangi and the march was resumed towards
Kabul. Nadir Shah.placed his camp on the meadow at Siih Sang,
about two miles from the city, and after a futile resistance of a week,
the Bala Hissar was surrendered on the 22nd of May, with the
treasury, arsenal, and elephants that were in it. Twelve days after this
the troops which had been detailed to reduce the districts of Ghorband
and Bamian rejoined their sovereign's camp. The affairs of the Pro-
vince of Kabul had fallen into the greatest confusion. The Afghans
had long been doing as they pleased, withholding revenue and slight-
ing the orders of the Indian governor. In Nadir Shah they found a
master whom it was by no means safe to ignore. He sent expeditions
into the districts of the Kohistan and Charikar, into Nijrao and Safi,
all of which were (and are) fertile districts well watered and abound-
ing in supplies—things which at that time happened to be scarce in the
immediate vicinity of Kabul, and insufficient for his large army. The
tribesmen inhabiting those valleys were speedily brought to their
senses. The chief men in those districts accompanied Sadullah and
Mulla Muhammad, son of Mian Ji, to the royal presence. The passes
on the road to Gandamak were disputed by the Afghans, but their
efforts were unavailing. Jallalabad was occupied (3rd October 1738),
and an expedition was detailed against the son of Mir Abbas (an
Afghan chief of note and who had put to death Nadir Shah’s Yesawal
on his way to Delhi), who had collected a large number of
Afghans in the hills. They were dispersed with great loss and their
women, including the wife and sisters of the son of Mir Abbas, were
made prisoners. Nasir Khan, the Indian Viceroy of Kabul, retreated
to Peshawar after the fall of Ghazni, and there he had collected a large
body of armed men, including 20,000 Afghans of the Khyber, and Pesha-
war, and had taken up a position in the vicinity of Jamrud to close the

5
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Pass against the invaders. Nadir Shah left his heavy baggage at
Barikab and set out at the head of a mobile force, by the Tsatsobaj
Pass®' and down the Bazaar valley. He surprised Nasir Khan near
Jamrud and defeated him. Peshawar was occupied and Nadir waited
there for Prince Nasrullah, who was marching leisurely with the main.
body of the army and all the impedimenta which had been placed
under his command. With the fall of Peshawar, the waning in-
fluence of the Timuride Sovereigns of Delhi passed away for ever from
the country to the West of the Indus.

Ahmad Khan, the Sadozai, rode as an officer in his master’s train,.
and the experience he acquired under that distinguished professor of
the science of warfare, as it was understood in his day in the east,
stood him in good stead in after-years, when by a stroke of good
fortune he attained to the sovereignty of the country which had been
subdued by Nadir Shah for the benefit of the Sadozai, as it proved in
the end. The Indian campaign showed the Afghan chief the state
of the country, and revealed the degeneracy of the sovereign and his
nobles, and the knowledge gained by him on this occasion was put to
good use by him not very long afterwards. -

1. In the Tarikh-i-Jahan Kusha-i-Nadiri, from which this account has been
taken, the name of the pass is written Seh-chobeh evidently a Persianized form
of the Pashtu name of the Pass at the head of the Bazaar Valley.

NOTE.

The anecdote of the influence of the Pir Abdul Hakim Sahib (p.64), related
by the author of the Tarikh-i- Sultani, is corroborated by the following notice in
the Gazetteer of Quetta-Pishin, 1907, p. 88: —

Abdul Hakim, son of Sikandar Shah, a Shamozai Kikar of Yusuf Kach in
the Pishin Tahsil, a contemporary of Shah Husen Ghilzai, and Nadir Shah * * *
is credited with many miracles, including the stopping of the pistachio trees
which were following him in the Khojak Pass, and the rendering of all snakesin
Toba innocuous. At Khanozai he induced the people to treat his father, Sikan-
dar Shah, as a saint and contribute to the upkeep of his shrine. and then passed
on to the Duki Tahsil where he died and was buried at Chotiali.



CHAPTER VIIL

AHMAD SHAH DuraN! ; FouNDER ofF THE Kincpowm.

HERE are many stories which are firmly believed and now
accepted as facts, of the favour with which Nadir Shah re-
garded the Sadozai Ahmad Khan, and of the prediction of
his rise to sovereign power over his native land. These

stories probably obtained currency after his accession to power, but
they indicate the very general attention which he had attracted by his
character and strong personal magnetism. The able manner in which
‘he handled the unruly subjects whom destiny called him to govern, and
the influence he exercised over the powerful chiefs of the Abdalis, who
elected him as their sovereign, proves the fact most clearly. One story
is to the effect that in the year 1747, Ahmad Khan,who had visited the
shrine of Imam Reza in Meshed, there attracted the attention of a
wandering Indian Fakir, named Sabir Shah, who made his acquaintance,
and is said to have revealed to the Sadozai not only his own future
greatness, but also the impending and violent death of his master.
Another is, that it was revealed in a dream to Nadir Shah that the
Abdali would in time become a king, and the former was so impressed
with the revelation that he bespoke Ahmad Khan’s favour on behalf
of his descendants, in return for the favour he had always shown the
Abdali. In order to impress the fact on the memory of the latter,
Nadir Shah, itis firmly believed, made a slight incision in the ear of
the future sovereign.

The story of Nadir Shah is well known. In course of time he
became a suspicious and morose tyrant, unable even to trust his first
born son, who had served him with courage and distinction. After the
prince had been blinded by his father’s orders, the lust for blood that
took possession of the latter increased by indulgence ; and at last no
one was safe. The lives of his highest officers, and of all those about
his person rested on a very precarious tenure—the whim of a remorse

haunted and homicidal despot.



68 THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.,

At the instigation of his nephew, Nadir Shah’s most trusted officers
including the captains of his personal guards (men of the same Afshar
tribe as their master), entered his pavilion at midnight following the
19th June 1747, as he lay asleep on his couch, and aftera brief struggle
struck his head from his body. The scene of this act was close to
Fatehabad, eight miles from Kabushan (the modern Kuchan).

The next morning the whole camp was in an uproar. The Afghan
and Uzbeg contingents held together, and under the leadership of
Nur Mahammad, well seconded by Ahmad Khan, they took up arms,
loyal to the memory of their late master, and endeavoured to prevent
the pillage of the Royal tents. They were outnumbered; and Nur
Muhammad drew his men out of the camp, and the Afghans made for
Kandahar, '

Sabir Shah who had followed Ahmad tothe camp, rejoined him
on the way eastwards. This person was one of those wandering and
semi-insane fakirs (very common even in the present day), whose in-
coherent utterances, and irresponsible actions are regarded still with
awe by superstitious persons, as inspired by the Almighty.

Nur Muhammad was an eccentric and irritable person who owed’
his promotion to Nadir Shah, but he was unpopular with the Abdalis
whom he commanded. As long as they were on the march the author-
ity of their commander was regarded, but when Kandahar was reached
in safety, Nur Muhammad was set on one side.

The leaders of the tribes, such as Haji Jamal Khan, the Barakzai,
Muhabat Khan Popalzai, Musa Dungi the famous Ishakzai chief, Nur
Muhammad, Alizai, Nasr-Ullah Khan, the Nurzai Sardar and others,
met in solemn conclave at the Shrine of Surkh Sher Baba. They were
quite unanimous that it was very expedient that they should have a king
to manage their affairs, for the times were troublous and there were
persons on all sides asserting their claims to independence. The ques-
tion to be decided was who should be king. Not one of these power-
ful chiefs would acknowledge the superiority or the claims of his peers.
Ahmad Khan by virtue of his rank and family was present at the de-
bates, and Sabir Shabh’s calling also made him welcome. He cut short
the discussion by producing a tiny sheaf of wheat, and placing it in
Ahmad Khan’s turban, declared that no one in that assembly was so fit
for the kingship as Ahmad Khan, the flower of the Duranis. The
words and act of the eccentric fakir were regarded by all as a happy
solution of the difficulty. Probably, also, they were regarded as a
manifestation of the Divine will revealed through the holy man to the
assembled chiefs. The scene was the shrine of a well-known saint, who
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might be regarded therefore as being interested in the debate. The
choice of the Dervesh was acclaimed, the Sadozai obtained the suftrages
of his peers——it is said, because the tribe to which he belonged was
numerically weak, and he would be in a great measure dependent on
his nobles, all of them the head chiefs of powerful clans, who hoped to
be able to coerce the sovereign—and if he proved not amenable, to
depose him if necessary.

As may be imagined Sabir Shah the Dervesh had great influence
with Ahmad Shah. The latter used to allow the holy man to sit by
his side when holding his court; and the sovereign bowed to the
spiritual authority of the mad fakir.*

Having been elected to be king over them, Ahmad Shah forth-
with set about attaching the chiefs to him ; and as he had learned at
the court of Nadir Shah, he bestowed titles and offices on each. Shah
Nawaz Khan Bamizai was appointed Vazier with the title of Shah
Wali Khan., Sardar Jahdan Khan Popalzai was appointed general-in-
chief with the honorific appellation of Mir Bizan, and Khan-i-Khanan
(first of all the nobles). Shah Pasand Khan, the Ishakzai Chieftain
was raised to the dignity of Amir Lashkari. These were the most
powerful among the electors, and they received prompt acknowledg-
ment of their sagacity. The sovereign himself assumed the title of
Ahmad Shah by which he is mentioned in history.

He was a sovereign, but with an empty treasury ; and possessed
none of the insignia of Royalty., Both however were soon after
acquired by the seizure of treasure destined for Nadir Shah. Taki
Khan, Akhta Begi? the Shirazi, had been despatched while his master
was alive, to collect and bring away the tribute imposed on Kabul
and Peshawar. In company with Nasir Khan (the former governor
of Kabul, an Indian Noble), he arrived at Kandahar with the treasure
—amounting to two crores (£2,000,000) of rupees which was seized by
Ahmad Shah, who appropriated the money and provided himself with

1 The latter was a native of Lahore, and after a time a restless fit seized him
and he wandered away to his native place. There he used to shape piaces of
cotton cloth and make little tents and arrange them on the ground. He used to
make little figures of wet clay, resembling horses, and arrange these in front
of the miniature tents. In reply to questicns as to the reason for so employing
his time, he used to say that he was preparing Ahmad Shah's dominion in Lahore.
These sayings disturbed the minds of men. The old order of things was chang-
ing, there was trouble in the air. The Viceroy of Lahore Shah Nawaz Khan,
son of Zakariah Khan, meditated setting up himself as an independent ruler over
the Punjab and Muitan, which he governed on behalf of the Emperor of Delhi.
These sayings of the Dervesh irritated the Ruler and seemed to forbode illsuccess,
to his own plans. He therefore seized the fakir and placed him in bonds, and
some time after had him put to death.

* He is said to have been mutilated by Nadir Shah’s order.
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the insignia of his exalted rank. In addition Nasir Khan promised to
furnish five lakhs of rupees (£50,000) from Kabul and was released
from confinement. The Afghans of Kabul refused,however, to recognise
Nasir Khan any longer, and as the latter was unable to fulfil his
engagements he fled to Peshawar.

Kabul was occupied soon after, and there is a letter in existence
addressed by Ahmad Shah to Muhammad Hashim Khan, an Afridi
chieftain, dated the 15th July 1747, in which the latter was ordered to
acknowledge the Durani Monarch as his Suzerain. This was evidently
intended by the latter as a prelude to his first campaign in India, for
which an uninterrupted passage through the defiles leading to Pesha-
war was an important matter. The occupation of Peshawar in 1747
brought the Afghan sovereign to the threshold of Hindustan, and a
campaign in that country would be popular among his subjects and
distract their attention from domestic affairs, for at this period there
was some trouble experienced in obtaining their acquiescence in'the
exercise of the rights of a sovereign. An Indian campaign was pro-
bably determined at an early date after his accession, as likely to
be profitable in more ways than one. An Indian author goes on
to say—knowing as he did the disorganization of the government of
the Moghuls of Delhi, the disunion that prevailed among the self-
seeking and degenerate nobles, and the imbecility of the womanish
Emperor, Ahmad Shah pushed boldly forward to Lahore. The
Viceroy Shahnawaz Khan, son of the late Nawab Zakariah Khan
Bahadur, sauntered out of Lahore at the head of a large array of
armed men and artillery, and took up a strong position on the banks
of the Ravi. The Afghans camped at first on the opposite bank, but
Ahmad Shah, calling to mind the tactics of Nadir Shah,(when he crossed
the Dijleh in front of the Turks,) on the 2oth January 1748, stole out of
his camp at the head of 10,000 horse,and forded the river at a consider-
able distance below his camp and hurried towards Lahore. Shah-
nawdz Khan abandoned his position and the city as well, and fled
towards Delhi. The Afghans captured the camp, and all the stores of
the Indian troops in Lahore, when they entered that city on the
22nd January.

Muhammad Shah sent a strong force led by his eldest son and the
Vazier to repel the invasion. The latter met his nephew the late
governor of Lahore, from whom he was able to learn authentic
details of the forces of the enemy. The Royal Army marched
towards the ford of Machiwiara on the Sutlej river, and the families ot
the commanders were sent off to Sirhind, where the Vazier had
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-established a depdt. Ahmad Shah slipped past the Vazier's right,
forded the Sutlej river on the 11th March, and captured and sacked
Sirhind, and advanced to meet the Indian troops, for the Vazier had
broken up his camp and was advancing towards that-place, 13th
March 1748. . :

As soon as the Indian troops came into touch with the enemy
about eight miles from Sirhind they halted and their camp was strongly
fortified with field works. So formidable were these that Ahmad Shah
declined to assault them. From the 13th to the 21st March 1748, the
two armies lay facing each other and the outposts only were engaged,
till at last the Indian leaders determined to risk a general engage-
ment in front of his lines. Before the battle had fairly commenced
a round shot killed the Vazier as he knelt at his devotions in his tent.
The Indian Nobles and their troops, however, were faithful and brave,
and the issue of the battle had not been declared, when a great wagon-
load of war rockets exploded in the Afghan ranks. The missiles
ploughed their way through the troops, causing a general panic.
Ahmad Shah withdrew his forces and commenced to treat with his
“opponents. The death of the Vazier having depressed the Indian
troops, their leaders also were not at all ill-disposed to come to
terms with the invaders.

As in the days of Nadir Shah, the Indus was again fixed as a
tentative boundary between Indian and Afghan possessions. After
this settlement had been concluded Ahmad Shah set out on his return
journey to Kandahar, placing as he went along, in his newly-acquired
territory, responsible persons who should conduct the administration.

The retirement of the invaders elated the Indian officials, and it
was decided that Prince Ahmad, who was the nominal leader
of the Army, should cross the Sutlej and proceed towards Lahore,
and a report was sent to the capital announcing the fact of the
Vazier's death and the retreat of the Afghan forces. The forces, how-
ever, came to a halt some miles from Ludhiana; and it was decided
that the Muin-ul-Mulk, the late Vazier’s son, should be appointed
Governor of Lahore, and on the evening of the 2nd April 1748
he was formally invested with the government; and the next "day
the prince at the head of the forces began his return march towards
Delhi.

After the battle near Sirhind, Ahmad Shah retired towards Kan-
dahar by Multan, and proceeded from that place into Sind and reached
Rohri on the Indus about the 11th of April; from that place he
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continued his march towards Kandahar, and reached his capital on the
22nd of May 1748

From the spoils he had acquired on his return to Kandahar,
the Durani sovereign rewarded his followers, but the jealousy of
certain of his nobles was excited who considered they had been
insufficiently recompensed. They conspired together to take the
life of their sovereign.  This plot was revealed to Ahmad Shah,
who himself had previously regarded their attitude as suspici-
ous. Nur Muhammad Khan, Alizai Mir Afghan, Muhabat Khan,
Popalzai, Kado Khan, and Uthman Khan, the Commander of the
Artillery, and several other leading Afghans were the moving
spirits of this plot. These men, as they were riding away to their
homes from the capital, were intercepted at a township to the
north of the City, named Maksud-i-Shah, and they were there put to
death,

Some time after his return to his own country, Ahmad Shah
summoned Ashraf Sultan Ghilzai (whom Nadir Shah had appointed
Chief of the Tokhis), with his son Halim Khan, to the capital. Both
of these had accompanied their sovereign on his Indian campaign, but
both were nevertheless thrown into prison. Allahyar, the Ghilzai, was
enticed from Isfahan, and was also put into confinement on his arrival
in Kandahar. All three chiefs perished. Amin Khan, another son of
Ashraf, and Rahmat-ullah, son of Allahyar Khan, fled to the Suleman
Khel country to Zurmat and Katawaz. Azam, a third son of Ashraf
Sultan, with some young children, eventually escaped to Persia, where
Azam was given the government of Khabis and Narmashir. Ahmad
Shah made Surkai Khan, Babakarzai, chief of the Tokhi tribe. This
chief had two sons, Rahmat Khan and Lashkar Khan. The former
accompanied his sovereign on his campaigns, the latter was stationed
at Kalat-i-Ghilzai.*

On the 24th June 1748, Ahmad Shah put into effect his design for
the conquest of Khurassan, which had been under the nominal sway
of Shah Rukh Mirza, a grandson of Nadir Shah. Herat was governed
by Amir Khan, a chief belonging to an Arab family, and after a siege
of four months, as no aid arrived, and a famine Iraged within the walls,
the 'city was rendered up to the Durani sovereign by the treachery of
some of the inhabitants who admitted his men by the Khakistar

1 The death of the Vazier in the action near Sirhind had been kept secret.
The Afghans were unaware of the fact until some time after, and Ahmad Shah
was greatly annoyed, as he would not have retired without making further efforts,
bad he obtained intelligence of the occurrence, while he was in the presence of
the Indian troops.

% Leech.
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Bastion into the city. After settling the affairs of Herat, Ahmad
Shah marched against Meshed.

This was evidently a bad yeac everywhere, the defenders of
Meshed were harrassed by famine, and Shah Rukh was glad to agree
tq the terms of the Abdalis, and to ransom the city for a large sum
of money. One of the objects of the expedition was the recovery of
Prince Timur (the eldest son of Ahmad Shah), who had been born in
Meshed, and was there when his father retired to Kandahar on the
murder of Nadir Shah. .

The Durani Sovereign directed his steps to Nishapur from
Meshed. The ruler of Nishapur, Abbas Kuli Khan, found himself
unprepared to make a successful resistance, and he was advised to
protract the negotiations until the winter (which was at hand) should
have set in. Abbas Kuli kept the Afghans waiting before the walls
for two months, until the cold had attained to a very considerable
degree of severity and the blizzards also to their full strength, Ahmad
Shah, having at last discovered that he was being deceived, broke up
his camp and withdrew his troops from Nishapur, and hastened to
get back to Herat. It so happened that both the cold and the
blizzards were more severe than usual, and had set in early; and
men say, that during the night in which Ahmad Shah’s troops were
encamped on the plains near Kifir Kala, human beings and animals,
owing to the cold, lost the power of movement. Those individuals
who were able to do so, cut open the bellies of their camels which
they killed, and having removed the intestines, found a refuge from the
cold inside the bleeding cavity. Others who desired to take refuge
in villages in the vicinity of the camp, and who attempted to cross the
River of Herat to reach shelter, were frozen to death in the water. In
short, 800 soldiers in the army died from the effects of cold. The guns
had to be left behind, owing to the loss of horses, and Ahmad Shah
and bis army entered Herat in a miserable plight.

He remained some time in Herat, but at last having placed
his eldest son Prince Timur in charge of the City, he went on to
Kandahar. Next year the Abdali Sovereign again took the western
road intending to capture Nishapur. As, however, he possessed po
siege guns, or was unable to transport them so far, when he reached
that place and found himself paralysed for want of heavy ordnance,
he resolved to cast a gun of great calibre on the spot, which, when
made, by a single discharge, terrified the inhabitants into surrendering .

A part of the Turks of the Bayit tribe, who inhabit the Nishapur
district, were taken into service by Ahmad Shah, and they with their



74 THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.

families settled about Kabul and Ghazni, where their descendants still
are to be found. Abbas Kuli was re-appointed governor, and the

Durani sovereign marched on Meshed.

After the death of Nadir Shah, his nephew had made himself King
and transferred the vast treasures that had been collected in Kalat-j-
Nadiri to Meshed. After a short time, he was deposed by his own
brother who, in his turn, was handed over to Shah Rukh (the grandson
of Nadir and the son of the unfortunate Prince Reza Kuli), whom
some of his grandfather’s nobles had placed on the throne in Meshed.
Alam Khan, an Arab chiet of Kain, seized Meshed and the person of
the Prince, whose sight he destroyed. Ahmad Shah, the Abdali, re-
covered Meshed, 1oth March 1750, took Kain and put Alam Khan to
death, and placed Shah Rukh on the throne again, promising to aid
him whenever necessary. The districts cf Jam, Bakharz, Turbat, Khat
and Turshiz were attached to the kingdom of Afghanistan. Seistan
also became a part of that kingdom, and with Bam in Eastern Persia
as an outpost, the influence of the Abdali was felt at Kirman.®

While the Durani Monarch was absent in the West, a force of
Afghans appear to have raided the Punjab (1748) and to have got as far
as Lahore. But four years later he again in person took the field and
proceeded to Lahore ; and in the neighbourhood of that city he de-
feated the Governor Muin-ul-Mulk, on the sth April 1752. The Rajah
Kauri Mal, a Khattri, and the Governor’s right hand man, was killed
on this occasion, and the latter was made prisoner but afterwards
released. It was then that the sub-divisions of Sialkot, Gujrat,
Aurangabad, and Pursaror? were annexed to the Kingdom of Afghan-
istan.  On this occasion the Afghans did not advance beyond
Lahore, and only the Shah’s envoys were despatched to Delhi, where
they were kept waiting for an audience, while preparations were being
made for the Emperor to lead in person an army towards Lahore.

1 The chronology of Ahmad Shah's Western campaigns is very confusing. The
events to which it relates at and round Meshed, during the life-time of Nadir
Shah's grandson, Shah Rukh, had little effect beyond a comparatively short
radius of that city. Nor were these conquests of the Durani Sovereign at all of
a permanent nature. The successors of the latter continued to exercise a nominal
suzerainty over the districts annexed by him, but these were gradually absorbed
in to the Persian Empire, as the fortunes of the Sadozais waned, and as the
Kajar Dynasty in Persia rose to power. The conflict of dates giveu by various
authars of the events of Ahmad Shah’s Western campaigns is, therefore, of not very
great importance from a practical point of view ; and there is no need to do more
in this place than to draw attention to the fact that the dates given in the fore-
going paragraphs are in no way to be regarded as being conclusive.

? The revenue from these districts ha always been set apart towards de-
fraying the cost of the Administration of the Kabul Province by the Indian
Government of the Moghul Emperors.
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Ahmad Shah was gradually tightening his hold over the country
of Sind and also of Baluchistan (Kalat). With regard to the latter he
seems to have assumed that the allegiance paid by the Khans of that
State to Nadir Shah had descended to him after the death of that
famous sovereign. In November 1753, the news spread abroad in
Sind that Ahmad Shah was about to enter Hindustan by way of that
country, and the 17th of January saw the Afghan camp pitched at the
town of Rohri on the banks of the Indus. On this occasion he did
not proceed further than Multan. In the meantime Muin-ul-Mulk had
died near Lahore on the 8th November of the preceding year, and
from his camp at Multan, the Abdali Sovereign issued a Commission
to the infant son of the late Governor conferring on him the Govern-
ment held by his father. The stay of the Afghan army in Multan
could not have been for any length of time, for the news of this
Commission having been issued reached Delhi on the 11th February
and the Durani forces reached Kandahar on tht 2gth of March 1754,

For two years Ahmad Shah does not appear to have undertaken
any warlike operations, and he was probably engaged in consolidat-
ing his authority in his native land. Oriental chroniclers very rarely
condescend to record any but high political matters, expeditions, and
the coming and going of armies and of ambassadors. Domestic
affairs of a peaceful nature usually do not interest these writers.

Affairs in Hindustan had in this time been going from bad to
worse. The House of Timur was degenerating fast, and the Emperor
of the day was powerless to arrest the development of the intrigues
that divided the Muhammadan Nobility, led by the Vazier, and the
Viceroy of Oude, into different parties, whose quarrels ended in en-
counters between their partisans. The roads leading to the north
from Central India and the Deccan, were also becoming yearly more
infested with squadrons of southern horsemen drawn northwards by
the lust for plunder, and on the alert to profit by the general dis-
organization that prevailed in Northern India. Ever ready to sell
their services to whosoever paid them most, it did not matter to the
Mahrattas who it was that won, or who lost, for the substantial fruits
of success were gathered in by the wily leaders of these free launces.
In addition, there was the satisfaction of revenging the insults
suffered by them in the past at the hands of the sovereigns of Delhi
and the nobles of Hindustan.

In the midst of this wild turmoil, the effeminate descendants of
Baber vegetated in the recesses of the great Fortress Palace in Delhi,
where a semblance of regal state barely could be maintained; and
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that under the tutelage of some powerful noble who acted as Vazier,
Within the apartments of the Royal Harem there were pale, shadowy,
womanish things, bearing the form of men, from whom a puppet
could always be selected to serve the ends of the predominating
faction.

Notwithstanding the inroad of Nadir Shah, there were still some
pickings to reward the diligent efforts of those who gleaned the
remains of the harvest reaped by that illustrious freebooter. The
prospect of a winter campaign in India filled with joy the hearts of
the needy Afghan tribesmen. Enough still remained to fill their
saddle bags and their religious fanaticism was glutted with the pillage
and massacre of Hindus. ‘A man may count as his own, that
which he has eaten, everything else is Ahmad Shah’s’ was a proverb
long current in the Punjab. The massacres at Ballamgarh and again
at Muttra (28th February 1757), gave the Sovereign the title of Ghazi,
and his men the means of satiating their cupidity and lust.:

The stay of the Abdali monarch was cut short by an outbreak of
cholera. His unruly followers also were impatient to be off with
their booty to the temperate climate of their native land, and on
the 27th March he began his retirement from Delhi. Prince Timur
his eldest son, who had been married to a Princess of the Royal House
of Delhi, was left to govern the Punjab. The Popalzai Chief, Jahan
Khan, was deputed to remain with the Prince, to aid him in the task
of administering the Province, and if the necessity arose in warlike
operations as well.

1 Aneye witness has left on record a terrible tale of these atrocities. To
every man a damsel or two, and the night made dreadful with the lamentations
of the wretched captives who were compelled to submit to their captor’s desires.
Corpses festering in the sun of the early Indian summer poisoned the air, and
myriads of flies combined to make existence in the camp well nigh intolerable.
The river Jumna that passed by the town of Muttra was reddened with the blood
of the victims of the butchery that had made the place a shambles. Seven days
afterwards the waters of the river still were stained yellow, the deeper hue of
the polluted river having by that time faded. One lakh of rupees, about £ 10,000
was all that reached the Sovereign's Military Chest,

Not only did the Hindus feel the rigors of the Afghan methods. The same
author has” left on record an equally graphic account of the methodical and
thorough manner in which the Palaces in Delhi of the nobility were searched
for treasure, by the Nasaqchis (military police) of the Abdali Monarch. The
son of the late Vazier Kamar-ud-din Khan (killed in action) had bid £2,000,000
for the office of Vazier to the puppet monarch of Delhi, and had hoped to have
been allowed time to collect the money. The Afghan Sovereign however wished
it paid down on the spot, and when it was not forthcoming, orders were issued
to make a thorough search for the buried hoards reputed at £20,000,000 left by
the late Vazier. Only about a quarter of a million rewarded the zeal of the search
parties. Not only did they search this Palace, but the residences of other nob}es
were entered and ransacked. The city of Delhi echoed with cries of ¢ bring
gold! bring gold " and an exceeding great fear fell upon the inhabitants.—
Indian Antiquary ; January—March 1907.—W. Irvine.



CHAPTER IX.

AHMAD SHAH ABDALI—confinued.

RINCE Timur had not an easy task assigned to him when he
was appointed to govern the Punjab atter his father had set
out for his own country. The inroad of the preceding winter
had reduced the affairs of India to a condition of the most

complete disorganisation. In the Punjab itself the Sikhs had revolted,
and the Prince and Jahan Khan had their hands full with these turbu-
lent sectaries, when a discontented local Muhammadan chief invited the
Mahrattas to enter the Province. The latter had been hovering round
the capital of Hindustan, on the watch to take advantage of any
chances that might offer, and they were not siow to avail themselves
of this invitation. The Sikhs either expelled or killed most of the
Afghan officials in charge of outlying districts, and the Afghan Governor
of Sirhind, who had hitherto held his own against the Sikhs, was slain
by the Mahrattas on their advance towards Lahore. The Prince and
Jahan Khan, unable to hold the Province with any prospect of success,
in the month of March 1758, took the road towards Peshawar, and were
pursued as far as the )Jhelum River by the Mahratta Cavalry. The
whole of the Punjab as far as the Indus was overrun by the latter.

In 1759, Jahan Khan Popalzai entered the Punjab and advanced
unopposed to Wazirabad ; the Mahratta leader, Sahibji Patel, fall-
ing back first to Bataila, and then continuing his retreat to Jullun-
dur. The Vazier who had identified himself with the Jats and the
Mahrattas, was called on to take the field with them, and declare him-
self openly. In Lahore the prayers were read in the name of Prince
Timur and money was also coined in the name of the Prince.

While order had been restored to some extent in the Punjab,
Hindustan was in a condition of anarchy, Mulhar Rao Holkar was at
the head of a large force near Jeypore, where Raja Madhu Singh kept
him engaged. In Delhi an attempt had been made to remove the
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Royal Family to Agra,but the disorders culminated in the assassination
of the puppet Emperor Alamgir II. This imbecile Ruler had beeyg
induced to place himself in the power of his faithless Vazier, Imad-ul-
Mulk, and at the instigation of the latter,a Moghal Rasaldar, Bilabash
Khan, murdered the wretched Sovereign, and his corpse, stripped of
all its cheap finery, was cast naked on the sands of the Jumna. This
event took place on November 28th, 1759. Another member of the
Royal Family named Muhi-ul-Millat was raised to the throne under
the title of Shahjahan II.

In the meantime the Durani Sovereign had other matters to

attend to. Itis believed that in the summer of 1758 he was obliged

.to march into Baluchistan, where his feudatory, Nasir Khan of Kalat,
isknown to have become restive under the ever increasing demands for
tribute which he paid in return for the government of his country, and
personal service at the head of the armed forces of the tribesmen.
According to a local chronicle the small fortress of Kalat detained the
Shah for forty days, and then only the diplomacy of Shah Wali Khan
induced the refractory Khan to submit to his suzerain.

It was not till the end of 1759 that Ahmad Shah was able to enter
the Punjab in response to an appeal made by Najib-ud-Daulah, the
Rohilla chief, to defend Islam from the assaults of the Hindu infidels,
who were in great force and threatened to over-power the fellowers
of the Prophet. In November the Durani Sovereign invaded Jammu
and received the submission of the Rajah. As the country along the
direct route from Lahore to Delhi had been ravaged by the Mahrattas,
Ahmad Shah marched to the Jumna by Ludhiana keeping towards the
hills, and crossed into the district between that river and the Ganges,
after a skirmish with the Mahrattas on gth January 1460. The Rohillas
held this tract. Supplies were forthcoming, and having been joined by
theBangash Nawab of Farukhabad, the Afghan Sovereigntook the offen-
sive and sent forward a force of cavalry to locate the enemy, whom they
found near Sirhind. A running fight was kept up to within a short distance
of Delhi, where the Mahrattas concentrated their forces, and Ahmad Shah
with his main army having crossed the Jumna, also joined his advance
guard. A battle was fought in February 1760, the Mahrattas were put to
flight, their leader Dataji Sindhia was killed, and the Afghans pursued
the fugitives as far as Narnol to the south of Delhi. In the meantime
Holkar, who was at the head of a considerable force of southern horse-
men, tried to intercept a large convoy of supplies and treasure from
Afghanistan destined for the army of Ahmad Shah. The greater part

of the convoy escaped across the Jumna, and Ahmad Shah despatched.
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15,000 horse to deal with Holkar. These troops are said to have
traversed the distance between Narnol and Delhi in a day and a night,*
rested the next day in the city and riding out again at midnight, they
surprised Holkar’s camp at Sikandra. The Mahratta chieftain, with
300 companions fled away on barebacked horses, leaving the remainder
of his men to take care of themselves. His camp fell into the hands
of the Afghans. Ahmad Shah returned to Delhi. The country in the
vicinity of that city had been devastated, and the monsoon was setting
in, so he decided to cross the Jumna, and form a cantonment for his
troops between that river and the Ganges. At Anupshahr, about thirty
miles from Delhi, he passed the season of the rains. In July 1760,
Shuja-ud-Daulah, Viceroy of Oude, arrived in the Afghan Camp.

Jankoji, nephew of Data, had carried to Poona the news of the defeat
of the Mahrattas, and great preparations were made to collect an army
and to equip it for service against the Afghans. Every effort possible
was made to insure success. The Mahratta regular cavalry was stiffened
by the presence of nine battalions of Indian infantry each 1,000 strong,
armed with flintlock muskets and provided with a train of artillery, the
whole disciplined and instructed on the European system. These were
led by Ibrahim Khan, Garadi, an Indian soldier of fortune, who is
believed to have been trained under French officers and to have risenin
the French service from an ordinary messenger or mace-bearer, to be
the commander of their Sepoy battalions, with which he is said to have
deserted to the Mahrattas. A cloud of irregular horsemen, Pindaris,
also joined the main army which had collected round the Bhagwa
Jhanda, or national standard, and which was set in motion to the
north to restore the prestige of the nation, and to assert their claim to
the sovereignty of India.

A junction with Holkar at Muttra was effected without opposition
and as the Jumna was impassable (owing to the heavy and long
continued rains), the Mahrattas turned aside to Delhi and entered the
city on the 22nd July 1760. Yakub Ali, Bamizai, a kinsman of Ahmad
Shah’s Vazier 2, held the fortress palace with a small garrison, and
inside the walls were the families of the Durani Chiefs. An attempt to
escalade the Asad Burj failed, but Ibrahim Khan placed three guns in
position and shelled the Palace. The Atghan Governor surrendered, and
was allowed to depart with his troops and the families in his care, and

TAbout 75 miles by road.

*Nawib, Mohsin ul-Mulk, Yakub Ali Khan, was the descendant of a Bimizaij,
who had settled in Shahjahanpur, Rohilkand, some generations earlier. Yakub
Ali had been sent by Najib-ud-Daulah en a mission to Ahmad Shah and the
Vazier Shah Wali had recognized his Indian kinsman's relationship.
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on the 3rd of August he crossed the river, and joined his Master at
Anupshahr. The Mahrattas stripped the Palaces of the remains of
their ancient splendour and obtained, it is said, 17 lakhs of rupees
(£ 170,000). Soon after they were compelled to evacuate the city, for
they .had exhausted the supplies round the walls. On the roth
October 1760 they marched out of Delhi.

Two Afghan officers held the fort of Kunjpurah on the right bank
of the Jumna above Delhi, keeping open communications with
the Punjab. Ahmad Shah moved to the aid of his outpost, but though
the rains had ceased, the river was impassable, and the Mahrattas who
had reached Kunjpurah, reduced the fort by means of Ibrahim Khan’s
artillery, unmolested by the Afghan main army. The ruler of Qude
advised Ahmad Shah to try the ford at Bagpat, lower down the river,
and about 20 miles north of Delhi, and on the 28th October the Duranis
reached the ford. It was even then barely practicable, but Ahmad
Shah determined to make the attempt: the leading division of his
guards showed the way., Some waded and others swam their horses
across, and each horseman carried a foot soldier behind him. No one
was drowned, but as the crossing was effected under the fire of the
Mahratta videttes, a good many were killed before the opposite bank
was gained.

The Mahrattas who were marching towards Sirhind were as-
tonished to learn that the Afghans had crossed the river. Divided
counsels prevailed in their host. Holkar and other influential chiefs
advised the usual tactics of their nation, and stood out for the
predatory system of carrying on hostilities. Ibrahim Khan was all
for taking up a position and fortifying it with field works on which his
guns could be mounted. The predilections of Sada Sheo Bhao, who
had witnessed the successes of infantry in the French wars in Southern
India, favoured this plan and it was decided to adopt it. The army
retraced its march to Pasinah to the south of the town of Panipat,
and finally fell back to that place, and raised strong fieldworks to
protect their camp, and also placed the town in a defensible condition.
The nature of their entrenchments can be judged from the fact that
as recently as 1872, the late Sir Denzil (then Mr.) Ibbetson was able
to trace a part of the works in the plain to the south of Panipat.*

The baggage of the Afghan army and the artillery was carried
over by elephants, and after halting his troops to allow them to dry

1 Mr. Ibbetson’s Settlement Report of the Karnal district.

Another account says that 25,000 Mahratta cavalry had occupied Sarai Sam-
hilka and were driven out by the Afghans.
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their accoutrements, Ahmad Shah advanced, on the 1st of Nbvember,
by Sonepat to Sarai Samhilka, and took up a position beyond this
place.

Gor two months the armies faced one another. The Mahrattas
are said to have established a Runkham, a place where single combats
took place,and in these encounters the individual skill of the Mahrattas
as adroit men at arms enabled them to kill their Afghan antagonists
who accepted their challenges. The videttes and scouting parties of
both armies were also in daily contact, but the balance of success * in
these encounters lay on the side of the Afghans ; and their good
fortune reduced the enemy to great straits for supplies. The ford at
Bagpat allowed Ahmad Shah to draw his from the Antarbed, the
country between the Jumna and Ganges, where his staunch ally
Najib-ud Daulah was predominant. A partial but fierce engagement
‘on the 6th December terminated in favour of the Afghans.

Gobind Punt Boondela, a Mahratta official, who was in charge of
the Etawah district, attempted to make a diversion in favour of his
countrymen by advancing on Meerut, the head-quarters of Najib-ud-
Daulah, in order to lay waste the country round it, Five thousand
horsemen were detailed by Ahmad Shah to stop the Pandit, led by the
son of Abdus Samad Khan, who had been killed at Kunjpurah. He
crossed the Jumna at Bagpat, drove the Mahrattas from Shahdara, and
from Ghazi-ud-din-nagar (the modern Ghaziabad), and on the same
day that this action had been fought (18th December), the Afghans fell
on Gobind Punt in his camp at Jalalabad. He was killed and his
men dispersed. W ith the head of the Mahratta leader raised aloft on
a spear, and with the plunder of his camp in their train, the Afghans
rejoined their main army.

A detachment ot Mahratta cavalry, each man carrying a bag of
treasure, mistook the Afghan camp for their own, and were cut off
before they found out their mistake. The successes of the Afghans
had reduced the Mahrattas to great straits, for the former used to ride
abroad without fear, cutting off foraging parties and stragglers, while
the latter cowered behind their massive field works. The negotiations
which they had commenced, scon after leaving the Deccan, in order to
detach the Ruler of Oude and the Rohillas, from the Afghans, proved
ineffectual. These parties were not indisposed to listen to the

o7 .Fath Khan, brother of Ibrahim Khan Garadi, is said to have been repulsed
1n a night attack on the Afghan lines.

An attack on the Mahratta camp was ultimately repulsed with a loss of 3,000
men—only 500 of the Rohillas, under Inayat Khan (the nephew of Hafz-ul-
Mulk Rahmat Khan), who had formed the attack, returned to their lines, wounded.

6
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overtures made to them, for they had the Mahrattas ever at thejr
doors. Najib-ud-Daulah was obdurate, and declined to listen to any
proposals, and as long as he proved resolute, the others were ashame;l
to withdraw from their Afghan alliance. *

Driven to despair by imminent starvation and the unsanitary con-
dition of their camp, the Mahrattas resolved to risk a decisive battle,
Long before dawn their troops had fallen in, and a last message
was sent to the agent, through whom the negotiations had been
conducted, and who was in the camp of the Ruler of Oude—Kasi Rao
Pandit, who has left a graphic record of the decisive battle he witnessed.
This letter was received at 3 a.m., and immediately the information was
conveyed to Ahmad Shah. In the gray light of the dawn of the 14th
January 1761, the scouts of both armies had come into touch, and the
Durani mounted one of the chargers always ready saddled, and pro-
ceeded to draw up his line of battle in advance of his camp,? where
a tent had always stood as his station of observation.

The Mahrattas advanced slowly, and their guns began to play as
they came within range of the enemy. The discharges of firearms
gradually became heavier, and the Garadi (Ibrahim Khan), rode up to
the Bhao and saluting him, told him he would now see that the regular
infantry had deserved their pay, on the prompt discharge of which he
had always insisted. Galloping back to his division, he ordered his men
and guns to cease firing. Two battalions were detailed to protect
the flank of his column from attack by the Durani horsemen of Bar-
khurdar Khan and Amir Beg, and with a colour in his hand he led the
other seven battalions of intantry to attack the Rohillas, under Hafiz
Rahmat Khan and Dhundi Khan, with the bayonet. The Rohillas
were crushed after a desperate struggle, and the advance of the Durani
cavalry were repulsed by the steady behaviour of the two battalions
detailed for this purpose, but six of Ibrahim Khan's regiments were
almost annihilated and he was severely wounded by several spear
thrusts.s

1 It is said that Ahmad Shah was approached regarding an arrangement
but he refused to entertain any proposals. He had come to make war on the
infidels, and he was bent on fighting. Asiatic Researches, Vol, L., 1799.

* According to another account, this position had been occupied by thg Afghan
guns, and during the day by the various divisions which were however withdrawn
at night, leaving the artillery men and an escort with the guns. These were
almost taken by surprise by the Mahrattas in the misty light of the early
dawn. There was just time o strip off the canvas covers and to fire the loaded
pieces.

* Damaji Gaekwar's horsemen were to support the infantry attaclk, but the
brunt of the combat was borne by the infantry.
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All the troops were engaged, and the Mahrattas under the per-
sonal leadership of the Bhao and Wiswas Rao, were almost suc-
cessful. Ten thousand Afghans were driven before their onset, for
the Afghans received the charge at the halt. The Persian musketers
were ridden down, and it was the personal intrepidity of the Vazier
Shah Wali Khan which snatched the victory from the enemy.
Sheathed in full armour he dismounted from his horse to rally the
broken Afghans, and at the head of his clansmen, the Popalzais, and
the Baluch contingent, he showed a front, while messengers were de.
spatched to Ahmad Shah demanding reinforcements. The latter sent
1,500 of his guards to clear the camp of fugitives with orders to slay
all who refused to return to the field. Ten thousand of his guards
(apparently fresh troops) were led at a gallop against the Mahrattas,
while their efforts were seconded by the stout Rohilla Chieftain Najib-
ud-Daulah, and by the men of Shah Pasand Khan and Amir Khan.
It was noon when Ahmad Shah received intelligence of the state of
affairs in his centre, and about one, the succours reached the Vazier.
About 3 p.m. Wiswas Rao was wounded and unhorsed and had
‘to be lifted on his elephant. The battle was stubbornly contested,
but the Mahrattas had shot their bolt and were spent with
their exertions. All of a sudden ‘‘as if by enchantment” the
Mahrattas turned their backs and fled at headlong speed. The
instant they broke the victors pursued them with the utmost fury.
The final effort had been made at close quarters with sabres and
battle axes, and the carnage was said to have been dreadful, as no
quarter was given when the Mahrattas broke. The pursuit was kept
up for a distance of about twenty miles, it is said. There remained
the standing camp of the enemy to be plundered, and the town of
Panipat which was crowded with fugitives and followers. The
prisoners were arranged in lines, and a little parched grain and some
water was given to each one, and then the task of butchery commenced,
and was carried out in cold blood. In the Durant Camp every tent
(with the exception of those of the Shah and his principal officers), had
piles of heads before the entrance. There were said to have been
500,000 souls in the Mahratta Camp, and only a fourth of their
fighting men escaped. The inhabitants of the country rose against
the fugitives and killed all whom they caught. Antaji Mankeser, a
chieftain of high rank, was killed by the zamindars of Farukhnagar.
Jankoji Sindia was made prisoner and put to death. The Ruler of
Oude tried his best to save the gallant Ibrahim Khan, whom his people
had captured, but Ahmad Shah demanded his surrender, and he was
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executed in the presence of the Afghan Monarch.® Damaji Gaekwar
and Holkar escaped with one or two other chiefs. One of the wives of
Sada Sheo escaped on horseback to Deeg where she found an asylum
with Raja Suraj Mal, the Jat, who sent her on afterwards to the
Deccan by way of Jhansi. The body of Wiswas Rao was found, and
with the greatest difficulty it was rescued from the soldiers who
wished to stuff it and carry it back to Kabul as a trophy. Owing to the
strenuous efforts of the Hindustani chiefs it was cremated in due form.
A headless trunk was discovered about twenty miles from the battle-
field and was said to be the corpse of the Bhao.?

The author of the Seir-i-Mutakherin states that 20,000 women and
youths, the majority of whom belonged to families of Sardars and men
of note in the Deccan, were taken alive and distributed among the
Afghan chiefs. The descendants of the captives, which fell«to the share
of the Khan of Hoti near Peshawar, it is said, are still easily recognis-
able owing to their complexion and physique, which at this day differ
from the Afghans of that place.

This disaster put an end to the dreams of supremacy cherished by
the Mahrattas. It was long remembered in the south, for there was
probably not a household in the Mahratta country that did not have to
mourn the death or captivity of some member, on the field of Panipat.
A Kasid (or express messenger) engaged by a firm of Hindu financiers,
under covenant to reach Aurangabad (in the Deccan) in ¢ days from
Panipat, gave the news of the terrible misfortune that had befallen the
nation, to the Peshwa, whom he met on the banks of the Nerbudda.
The reports of the unfavourable course of events preceding the final
disaster had led to the assembly of reinforcements which Balajee Rao
was leading towards the north. He returned to Poona and died not
long afterwards.

At Panipat, a ballad composed by a local poet, shortly after the
battle, preserves the memory of the triumph of Islam over the
Mahrattas, and the people point out the field, in which the Bhao took
post, near a solitary mango tree, known as the *‘ black mango tree.”

1 Ahmad Shah was very anxious to take Ibrahim Khan and his trained
battalions and artillery into his service, doubtless in order to make him independent
of his fickle subjects to a great extent, but the Garadi had steadfastly refused to
desert the Mahrattas in spite of repeated invitations to join the Durani monarch.

* His fate was never accurately known. A few years afterwards a man who
claimed to be the Bhao appeared in Benares, and was recognised by persons
who had known the Bhao (by marks onhis body), and who ought to have been
able to identify the claimant. Others refused to credit the story put forth by the
latter. Among them were bankers with whom the Bhao had deposited large
sums of money. They refused to pay any to the claimant, who ended his days
in poverty, but he never swerved from his story.
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The tree has succumbed to the ravages of time, but the plot in which
it stood is still called the field of the black mango.

After the battle, Ahmad Shah advanced towards Delhi which he
reached in four marches. Whatever designs he may have entertained
regarding the seizure of the Empire of Hindustan, were frustrated by a
serious mutiny of the Duranis, who demanded an instant settlement
of arrears of allowances for two years, and a rapid movement back to
their own country. They refused to be mollified, and the camp was
the scene of the utmost confusion. At last matters came to such a pass
that the Ruler of Oude withdrew to his own territory. Ahmad Shah
being unable to control his men any longer, and having received
forty lakhs of rupees (£400,000) from Najib-ud-Daulah as the price of
his assistance, broke up his camp at Shalimar on the 22nd of March
1761, and commenced his homeward journey.

No sooner had the Afghan army withdrawn than the Sikhs became
troublesome. Among those chiefs who had built forts, was Charrat
Sing, grandfather of Ranjit Singh, who had established a stronghold
in his wife’s village of Gujranwiala to the north of Lahore. The
Afghan Governor, or his deputy Khwaja Obeid, went to attack and
reduce this place. The Sikhs assembled their forces to relieve it and
the Afghan was beaten off. He was compelled to abandon his baggage
and fly to Lahore where he shut himself up in the fort. The Afghan
Governor of Sirhind held his ground, with the aid of an active Indian
Afghan Chief, Hinghan Khan, of the ancient family of Maler Kotla,
and owing to the loyalty of the Sikh Chief of Jindiala who adhered to
Ahmad Shah. The ‘“army of the Khalsa” assembled at Amritsar,
the faithful performed their ablutions in the restored sacred tank, and
perhaps the first ** Gurumutta,”
occasion. The possessions of Hinghan Khan were laid waste, and
Jindidla was invested preparatory to more ambitious attempts by the
exultant Sikhs.

In the end of 1761, Ahmad Shah entered the Punjab and relieved
Lahore. Marching southwards to Sirhind he inflicted a crushing
defeat on the Sikhs (sth February 1762), at a place twenty miles
to the south of Ludhiana. He did not advance further than Sirhind.
The bigotry of the Afghans was satisfied by the destruction of the
renewed temples in Amritsar, and the pollution of the Sacred Tank.
A Hindu, Kabuli Mal, was appointed by Ahmad Shah as Governor of
Lahore on his return to the city on the 4th March, and the Durani
hastened back to Kandahar where a disturbance had broken out. The
Sikhs under Jussa, the distiller, in a very short time again asserted

or diet, or conclave, was held on this
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their predominance in the Punjab (1762-63). In 1767 Ahmad Shah
entered the Punjab for the last time. He avoided Lahore and only
advanced as far as Amballa. He made over the Government of Sirhind
to Amar Sing, the Chief of Patiala. The latter was so famed for his
loyalty and devotion to the Afghan Sovereign, and the Vazier, that
he had been nicknamed Amar Sing, the Bamizai.

But Ahmad Shah had not beenidle. He had conducteda campaign
against the Amir of Bokhara, and wrested from the Uzbeg that precious
relic, the cloak, or vestment, of the Prophet Muhammad. The Oxus
was fixed as the boundary between the two States. The sacred gar-
ment was borne in triumph through Afghanistan and lodged ina
shrine in Kandahar (1765).

In addition to his other conquests, Kashmir was annexed by
Ahmad Shah, and remained for about fifty years a provincé of the king-
dom. The Khatri Sikh, Jiwan Sing, originally an accountant in the
office of the Vazier Shah Wali Khan, had been appointed to the charge
of the revenue administration of Kashmir, when (in 1753-4), the last
Governor on behalf of the Emperor of Delhi was expelled from the
valley by Afghan troops under Abdullah Khan. A few years later
Jiwan Sing turned out the Afghans and had obtained a Commission
from the Emperor Alamgir Il as Governor, and had coined money in
the name of the Emperor. The first expedition against Jiwan Sing
despatched by Ahmad Shah failed owing to the treachery of the Raja
of Jammu, but in 1762 the Raja had been attached to the Afghan
interests by the good offices of the Vazier and now he assisted an army
under Nur-ud-din Khan which penetrated into the Valley. After some
resistance Jiwan Sing* was defeated and captured and Kashmir
attached to the Durani kingdom. This outlying province, however,
proved a source of weakness, and the successors of Ahmad Shah were
for ever occupied in putting down the revolts of ambitious Governors,
who planned the conversion of their charge into an independent
principality.

It is said that after Ahmad Shah returned from India crowned with
the laurels won on the battlefield of Panipat, he set himself to build a
capital. The city of Nadirabad had become overcrowded and was un-
healthy, and he set to work to select a better site for the city he
intended to build. His first selection was objected to by the descendants
of Abdul Ghani Khan, the Alakozai, for the tribesmen declined to
part with any land. The next site chosen by Ahmad Shah lay to the

1

He was a benevolent and wise ruler, and deserved a better fate. He is said
to have been a patron of learning and in his brief reign there was a revival of
literature—Seir-i-Mutakherin.



DEATH OF AHMAD SHAH. 87
)
west of the village of Mard Kala. The Barakzais to whom the
district belonged also refused to give up land for the city. The
Popalzais, however, came to the rescue of their Sovereign, and gave
him land for the object in view.

About nine hundred acres of land were taken up and the present
city of Kandahar was laid out. The services of Indian and Persian
Engineers were utilized in raising the buildings and defences, the great
dome which covers the intersection of the four principal thoroughfares—
called the Chahar Su, in particular, was the work of an Indian architect.
It is said to be 50 yardsin diameter. The land round the city was
divided into twelve thousand allotments and the revenue was assessed.
The settlement made by Ahmad Shah remained in force till the time
of the Barakzai Sardars who acquired Kandahar.

It was fiot only the insubordinate character of his subjects which
interfered with Ahmad Shah’s plans with regard to his foreign policy.
His health failed. He appears to have become a victim to cancer, and
his face is said to have been covered with this growth. The elevated
tract of the Toba plateau was used by him as a summer resort, and he
succumbed to his malady on the night of the 19th October 1772, on
his return journey to Kandahar, at Margha Chaman; close to the out-
post of Chaman garrisoned by our troops at the present day. He was
buried in a garden inside the city and a mausoleum was built over his
tomb.

Like many oriental monarchs, Ahmad Shah dabbled in literature
and left behind a collection of verses, which, however, are said to be of
no especial merit. His task of government was one of great difficulty,
as the Afghans have always been averse from the exercise of the Royal
Prerogative, and his assumption of the sovereignty was not altogether
relished by them. Filibustering expeditions in foreign lands, brilliant
victories, and great spoils, however, reconciled his democratic subjects
to the new order of things in their country, and the tact and firmness he
displayed in his dealing with the Chiefs of the tribes;and the advantages,
the Duranis especially obtained, enabled Ahmad Shah to assert his
authority over his stiffnecked subjects, and to bequeath a goodly

heritage to his successors.

NOTE.

The Mint-Towns of Ahmad Shah, Durani, werc :—Multan, Lahore, Meshed,
Sahrind (Sirhind), Peshawar, Dera, Kabul, Ahmad Shahi (Kandahar), Shrah
Jahanabiad (Deihi), Surat, Najibabad, and Aonla.—]Jour. As. Soc. Bengal, Vol,
V., No. 8, Nunismatic Supplement, August 1909. )

Jussa struck coin beaI.Jrli)ng the follogwing ?nscription :—Sikkah Zad dar Jahan
ba Fazl-i-Akat Mulk-az-Ahmad Girift Kallal. Coin was struck by favour of the
Eternal. The country was taken from Ahmad by the Kallal Majma-ul-Akhbar-
Har Sukh Raij Irvine.



CHAPTER X.

TiMUR SHAH—A PERIOD OF CONSOLIDATION.

HE state of Ahmad Shah’s health latterly had rendered it
impossible for him to take an active share in the'business of
his kingdom. The Vazier Shah Wali Khan had induced
his master to appoint his Heir to govern Herat, and to

issue peremptory orders for him to stay there. On the death of the
King, the Vazier placed Prince Suleman (his son-in-law) on the throne
in Kandahar ; a step which seems to have been regarded by several of*
the Durani Chiefs with disfavour, and they retired to Herat and joined
Prince Timur. The offictals and chiefs round this Prince were afraid
that the eloquence and diplomacy for which the Vazier was famous,
would undermine their own influence with the easy natured Prince, and
they made such a good use of their opportunities, that the Prince
agreed to put the Vazier to death without according him an interview.

The Prince set out from Herat in order to be present at the
Fateha ceremony to be performed at his father's grave. The Vazier in
order to allay suspicions had started to meet Prince Timur at the head
of a slender escort of his own retainers, and accompanied by two sons
and two of his nephews. No sooner had he entered the Prince’s camp
at Siahab, one stage to the east of Bakwa and twenty-four miles to the
west of Dilaram, on the Kandahar road, than he was arrested and put
to death. Prince Timur marched at his ease to Kandahar, where he
ascended the thronme in 1773, with the concurrence of the Durani
Sardars, and assumed the title of Timur Shah.

The execution of the Vazier created ill-feeling, and though the
new king confirmed all the chiefs in their dignities and offices they
enjoyed, the resentment he had roused was not effaced. After Timur
Shah had set out for Kabul, the malcontents set up a rival in the
person of Abdul Khalik, also a Sadozai. Further executions in

Kabul decided them to proclaim their nominee and to march on
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Kabul with the view of establishing him on the throne. The vigo-
rous action of Timur Shah, who took the field at the head of only
6,000 men and the desertion of waverers who abandoned the pre-
tender’s cause, resulted in his defeat and capture. His eye-sight was
destroyed, so as to render him innocuous in the future.

Among those whom Timur Shah rewarded after this victory, and
on his return to Kabul, was Payandah Khan, Barakzai, whom he
created Sarfaraz Khan, and in addition appointed to the chieftainship
of the clan. His elder brother, who held the chiefship hereditary in
this family, was set aside owing to his uncouth manners and coarse
language.

Timur Shah was extremely partial to Persians and those of Per-
sian descent, whose deferential courtly manners were a great contrast,
to the rouglhrboisterous manners of even the great Durani nobles. From
the former he chose his officials and confidants, and with the excep-
tion of two or three chiefs, the court of the sovereign was composed of
foreigners or persons of foreign origin. Kabul also was made the seat
of Government on account of its central position. This city is three
hundred and eighteen miles by road from Kandahar, and the change was
not calculated to render him popular, nor could he watch the Duranis
closely from Kabul. The prestige enjoyed by the latter probably in-
fluenced the decision, for it had long been the capital of the Indian terri-
tory west of the Indus. The people of Kabul also were better versed
in the amenities of civilized existence, and better able to minister to
the desires of a pleasure-loving sovereign such as Timur Shah was, than
the less civilized population of Kandahar.

It had become necessary, also, to revive or impose taxes on the
people of the country which, in the ardour of foreign conquests, had
been allowed to remain in abeyance, or which were not considered, to
be advisable. Military service in some instances was discontinued
and a yearly revenue in money was imposed. Accuracy of some kind
was insisted upon; accounts of governors and officials were scrutinized.
Opportunities for peculation were curtailed, and dishonest or careless
officials were liable to be called to account. It was a period of con-
solidation, but none of these measures were calculated to increase the
popularity of the sovereign in whose reign they were instituted.

Adventures in foreign countries were no longer possible—nor
were they likely to prove as profitable as they had been in Ahmad
Shah’s reign. In Persia the Kajar Dynasty had been founded by the
genius of Agha Muhammad Khan, whose attention was fixed on the
territory in Khurassan, nominally controlled by the Afghans. In the
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Punjab nothing could be got but hard knocks from the Sikhs. The
restless disposition of the Afghans could no longer expend its force iy
filibustering expeditions, and domestic intrigues and quarrels alope
afforded scope for its expression. Notwithstanding these unfavour.
able circumstances, and the estrangement that grew up between the
Durani chiefs and their sovereign, the awe which the genius of
Ahmad Shah had inspired, still obsessed the minds of the turbulent
nobles, and Timur Shah reigned in peace. '

Even the Ghilzais were quiet. That Muhammad Amin Khan
(son of Ashraf Sultan), who had fled from Ahmad Shah into the
Sulemian Khel country, was invited to court by Timur Shah, who
reinstated him in the chieftainship of the Tokhi division of the Ghilzai
tribes, and also of the Hazaras within the jurisdiction of the gover-
norship of Kalat-i-Ghilzai, which also was bestowed on him. Amin
Khan was killed in the expedition afterwards despatched to put down
the rebellion of Azad Khan in Kashmir. At the same time Nurullah
Khan was created chief of the Hotaki division, with the title of
Ikhlas Kuli Khan, and received the revenue from Dera Ismail Khan,
Daman, Bannu and Urghun. On his death, his son Abdur Rahman
succeeded to his father’s honours and emoluments. These arrange-
ments kept the Ghilzais quiet.

- With Kabul as the capital, the city of Peshawar was an obvious
winter resort: it was conveniently situated with respect to the Afghan
interests in the Punjab. The surroundings of Peshawar were attractive
and suited the temperament of the sovereign. It was at Peshawar that
his life and reign were very nearly brought to an abrupt and tragic
termination. Faizullah Khan Khalil, one of the principal land holders in
that district, conceived the idea of making himself king. He was joined
by Asadullah, of the Momands, and they had won over Yakut, Ahmad
Shah’s chief eunuch. Under the pretext of taking them against the
Sikhs, they had obtained permission to raise a body of armed men,
and they had secured free access to the citadel wherein was the Shah's
Palace. When, therefore, the conspirators, at the head of a band of re-
tainers, appeared before the gates, the unsuspecting warders allowed
them to enter. Instead of pushing on at once to the quarters occupied
by Timur Shah, who was asleep after his breakfast, the conspirators
attacked the guards. Some of the slave girls of the Royal house-
hold had time to rouse the king, who took refuge in a small apartment
on the south wall, which was reached by a wooden ladder which he
drew up after him, The garrison and troops in the vicinity of the
citadel hurried to the rescue and a desperate struggle raged in the
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court yards. Amir Khan, of the Kazilbash tribe Juwan Shir of
Kabul, was in prisonin the citadel for some irregularity in his accounts,
he managed to join the combatants, and loaded with irons as he is
said to have been, he took a leading share in the defence of his
sovereign, which earned him an unconditional pardon. The emeute
was put down with an indiscriminating severity. Fai'zullah Khan,
his son, and the eunuch Yakut were executed at once. Asadullah
Kban escabed to Lalpurah, but a great many innocent persons in
Peshawar city were 'put to death in the retaliatory measures set on foot
by the enraged king (1778)."

In the year previous the Afghan Monarch interfered in the
domestic quarrels of the Kalorah family, who still ruled over Sind,
but his troops were defeated by Mian Abdun Nabi Kalorah and his
commander-Mir Bijjar Talpur, before Shikarpur.

In 1778 the Sardar-i-Sardaran, Madad Khan, the Ishakzai Chief,
was despatched to retake Multan, captured by the Sikhs. The rising
in Peshawar caused the chief to abandon the attempt, to hurry back
to his master’s aid.

In 1779 Timur Shah in person took Multin from the Sikhs after
operations lasting 40 days. He appointed Nawab Muzaffar Khan as
governor of the town and province.

In 1780, Mian Abdun Nabi Kalorah murdered Mir Bijjar, Talpur,
and the Talpurs expelled the Kalorahs from Sind. The Sardar-i-Sar-
daran marched to Sind and restored the Kalorah. The Nawab of
Bahawalpore adopted a hostile attitude and sheltered the Talpur
Chief in his fort of Dirawar. Mian Abdun Nabi ruled for 6 months.
He murdered several of the leading Talpurs. They took the field
and defeated him at Helani-Bhelani (1781). The Kalorah fled to
Kabul and the Talpur Chief was recognised as the Ruler of Sind.

In 1786 the Shah was induced to attempt to reinstate the Kalorah
by the large promises made by the latter as to tribute. Sardar
Abmad Khan, Nurzai and Mian Abdun Nabi were defeated at Hala
Kandi by the Talpur Chief Fateh Ali Khan.

In 1788 Timur Shah in person subdued the Nawab of Bahawal-
pore, and the stronghold of Dirawar in the desert was taken after a
siege of three months by Sardar Madad Khan, Ishakzai. The Nawab
paid an indemnity and agreed to remit an yearly tribute to Kabul, and
the Shah hastened to meet the inroads of the ruler of Bokhara, who

1 It was discovered that Mian Mahdi a Pirzidi, and son of Shekh Umar,
who lived in the village of Chamkanni, was accessory to this attempton thg
Shah’s life. Orders were given for the destruction of this place., But the Durani
nobles objected to such harsh measures and the order was cancelled.
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had recovered all the districts ceded to Ahmad Shah on the left bank
of the Oxus, and had devastated Merve.? Afler obtaining some minor
successes, Timur Shah was forced to be content with a treaty favorable
to the Uzbeg, in order to return to Kabul before the passes of the
Hindu Kush were closed, as it was he lost many men and horses in
crossing the range on the retirement to Kabul. .

In 1787 Azad Khan, son of Haji Rahim Dad Khan Bamizai, on
his father’s death, turned out his brothers from Kashnfir and pro-
claimed his independence. The rebel chief was successful at first,
but was afterwards defeated by Sardar Madad Khan, Ishakzai, and
he committed suicide in order to escape an ignominious death,

In the year 1790, Sarfaraz Khan, the Barakzai Chieftain, invaded
Sind at the head of an army by way of Dera Ghazi Khan, to reinstate
the Kalorah Abdun Nabi. The representatives of the Talpur Rulers,
at the Shah’s court, obtained the recall of this expedition, and
Sarfaraz Khan retired from Rohri by way of Shikarpur to Kandahar,
having done nothing.

Asadullah, the Momand, after leading the life of a brigand for
a few years, was betrayed to the Shah by Islam Khan, another Momand
Chief ; and was trodden to death by an elephant. A similar punishment
was meted out to Fath Khan, Chief of the Utman Khel, Yusufzais.®
e had charge of the road to Kashmir, and of the town of Muzaffar-
abad on the Jhelum, where it is necessary to cross the river; but he
was continually rebelling and had become very troublesome.

As his affairs became more settled, Timur Shah gave himself
over to sensuality, and owing to his intemperance, his health broke
down. It was necessary at last to remove him from Peshawar to the
cooler climate of Kabul. His third son, Prince Zaman, who governed
Kabul, met his father at Chaharbagh, about 6 miles west of Jalalabad,
and took charge of him. Instead of deriving benefit from the change,
his condition grew rapidly worse, and Timur Shah died at Kabul
on the 18th of May 1793, aged 47 years, and after a reign of about
20 years.

He left many sons ; five of these appear in history, and with these
only are we concerned.

1 The famous band or weir was destroyed which ruined the cultivation depend-
ent on it. Bairim Ali, the Kajar Chief, was killed, and his son Muhammad Husen
and his Afghan Allies overpowered. The Turkish inhabitants were removed to

Bokhara, and in 1y90-1 the Sarik and in 1834, the notorious Tekke Turkomans
took possession of Merve.

* In 1798-99, his son Zafar Khan ruled over the country from Muzafarabad
to Hasan Abdal, but he would not visit his sovereign’s court, but, though prac-
tically independent, he was not actively rebellious.
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Emir Masum, of Bokhara, carefully observed his engagements
with the Afghans, and Timur Shah reaped no immediate harm from
his neglect of the affairs of the districts in the valley of the Oxus.
Service in these remote and wild parts of the kingdom had become
most unpopular, and was regarded by the Afghan officials as exile ;
while the profits of office were too small to compensate for the very
manifest disadvantages of employment in these remote districts. On
receiving news of Timur Shah’s demise, the Bokhariot Ruler resumed
his attempts on the districts on the left bank of the Oxus.

NOTE.

The destruction, by fire, of the scriptures of the Sikhs, the Adi Granth, at
Kartarpur in 1756 ; their defeat at Barnila (5th Febrvary 1762); the destruction
of the Temples and pollution of the Sacred Tank in Amritsar, utterly failed to
crush their fanaticism ; nor did the appointment of the Patiila Chief, as governor
of Sirhind conciliate them. The Sikhs dogged the retreat of the Afghans, and
bardly was Ahmad Shah across the Indus, then the Sukerchukia Confederacy, led
by Charat Sing, blockaded Rohtis, aided by a part of the Bhangi Confederacy.

South of the Sutlej the Sikhs were predominant and with the Mahrattas aimed
at partitioning 1he remains of the Moghal Empire in Hindustan. The declining
years of Najib-ud-Daulah were disturbed by the inroads cf the Sikhs, led across the
jumnaby the Bhangi and Krora Singhia Chiefs ; and he was compelled to propose
an alliance against them, to his ancient enemies, the Mahrattas. Enterprising
sections of the various Mists, or Confederacies, each led by an elected Sard:r,
crossed the Sutlej, and carved out principalities beyond that river,

Rohtis surrendered in 1768 and almost at once the Bhangis seized Rawal-
pindi. Under Charat Singh, Gujranwila from an obscure hamlet became a
flourishing town. Ranjit Singh was born there. The Ramgarhia and Kanhaia
Confederacies shared the Bari Doab, and the Jatter also seized Kangra. After
Ahmad Shah'’s death the Bhangi Mist overran the countrv up to the Jammu hills,
dividing the territory among their leaders. In 1765 Gujar Singh, the Bhangi
Chief, had defeated Mukarrab Khan, the Gakhar Chief,and had taken the country
up to the Jhelum river. After his death his son Sahib Sing came into collision
with Mahin Singh, father of Ranjit Singh, and son of Charat Singh. Butin 1798
the Bhangi Chief was forced to recognise the supremacy of the latter.

Timur Shah, Durani, appears to have regarded (very wisely) the Indus
as his boundary and refused to involve himself in hostilities with the Sikhs. En-
dowed with a great deal of political sagacity, Timur Shah recognised (apparently)
the futility of attempting to re-conquer the Punjab—a task too difficult even for his
father's genius : but to which hisiill-fated son, Zaman, was lured by a vain glorious
desire to emulate his grandfather's fame as the Champion of Islam ; and encour-
aged to essay it by the dissensions which had broken out among the Sikh
Confederacies.



CHAPTER XI.

SHAH ZAMAN—SIKHS AND AFGHANS,

IMUR SHAH DURANI, at the time of his death, had twenty-

one sons alive. Of these the eldest Prince Humayun, and

Prince Mahmud, the next in age, were by one mother ; and

Zaman who had been declared the Heir, and‘Shuja (after-

wards Shuja-ul-Mulk) were by the same mother (a Yusufzai Lady).

With the exception of the above and of Prince Firuz-ud-din, who

was with Mahmud in Herat, and who is said to have been a full

brother of Mahmud ; and Abbas, who was in Peshawar as his father’s

representative ; the remainder of the late king’s sons had been kept
under surveillance in the Bala Hisar.

As soon as the funeral ceremonies of the late king had been con-
cluded, his last testament was put into effect by the nobles and
Military and Civil Officers who were in Kabul, who declared Zaman
Shah King in accordance with the wishes of the deceased. Prince
Abbas and the other Princes, who were opposed to this measure,
were seized and despatched to Multan, where their uncles already
were in durance.

On the 23rd May 1793, the public prayers were read in the name
of Shah Zaman, and coin was struck bearing his superscription, and
on the 23rd of May, the actual enthronement of the youthful sovereign
(he was twenty-three years of age) took place.

He was at conce threatened with serious dangers, and the opening
of his reign was a forecast which was only too completely tulfilled.
Basalat Khan Alakozai was appointed Governor of Fara Bagh, on the
Frontier of the Kandahar Province, over which Prince Humayun ruled.
Ahmad Khan Barakzai was deputed to be his master’s representative
in Peshawar and also to administer the districts of Bangash, Jhang and
Attock. The infant son of the king was given the government of
Kabul itself.

Prince Humayun had disregarded his father’s wishes and bad
declared himself as Ruler of Afghanistan in Kandahar. Mahmud
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was quiescent in Herat, but he might be expected to favour his
own brother’s pretensions and support him. A revolt had taken place
among the tribes in Afghan-Turkistan and the district of Balkh,
but Muhammad Khan, the governor, was able to deal with this move-
ment, and seven hundred heads despatched to Kabul proved both the
efficacy of the repressive measures and the severity with which they
were carried out.

On the 1gth of June 1793, the advanced guard of the troops
destined to operate against Kandahar marched from Kabul, and
Shahab-ud-din Tokhi was appointed to the command of Kalat-i-Ghilzai.
Mauladad Khan (Musakhel) Tokhi, who held the place, had declared for
Prince Humayun; but he was forced to give up Kalat to Shahib-ud-din.
Zaman Shah, who had followed with his main army, was at Ab-i-Tazi,
thirty-six miles distant ; and Humayun prepared for war; and as an
opening move, he sent his son Sultan Ahmad and his Arzbegi, Shadi
Khan, the Achakzai chief, with 8,000 men to recover Kalat. Shahab-
ud-din abandoned it and fell back on Shah Zaman. The latter advanced
his brother Shuja and the Barakzai chief, Sarfaraz Khan, who retook
Kalat ; and at Bagh-i-Babro, about six miles to the east of that place,
Humayun was defeated and fled to Baluchistan in company with Shadi
Khan. Many influential chiefs had deserted to Shah Zaman, including
Mir Hizbar Ali Khan, the Ishakzai Sardar and Rahmatullah Khan,
Sadozai.®

The former was given the title of Shah Pasand Khan, and appoint-
ed Mir Akhur (Master of the Horse), and the latter became Vazier to
Shah Zaman ; and contributed very greatly to the ruin of his indulgent
and confiding Master.

Shah Zaman hastened to Kandahar and took possession of the
place. Partisans of Prince Mahmud took to flight and joined him. In
order to compel Mahmud’s obedience, the Shah detached Prince Shuja
with nearly 30,000 men to march on Herat. Mahmud sent his brother
Firuz-ud-din, with Ahmad Khan, the Nurzai Sardar, to garrison Farah,
the outpost of Herat ; but at the same time Mahmud wrote to his
brother begging to be confirmed in the government of Herat and
Khurassan, and promising obedience. Shah Zaman behaved generously
and agreed to Mahmud’s request. Prince Shuja was recalled to Kandahar,
before he had reached the Helmand. Prince Haidar was summoned
from Kabul to Kandahar, and was placed in it as his father’s represen-
tative ; and the King marched from Kandahar, 28th Oct. 1793, and

. _1_ He was the son of Fathullah-Khan, Sadozai, of the_Kimrin Khel sub-
division, who had come to Court during the lifetime of Shah Timur, from Multan.
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retraced his steps to Kabul encamping at Bagh-i-Zafran close to the
city. He entered the capital on the 13th November.

As it was considered advisible that he should march in person to
Dera Ghazi Khan to consolidate his authority over Sind, the Shah took
the field, and on the gth of January 1795 he arrived at the town of
Dera Ghazi Khan. Having collected arrears of revenue on the 15th
of the same month, he set out on his return to Peshawar, and arrived
there on the 11th of February. At this place he gave audience to the
Vakils of Muzafar Khan, Sadozai, Nazim of Multan, and of Bhawal
Khan, ruler of Bahawalpur. An embassy also arrived from the
Wazir of the ¢ Badshah of Farang.”

Shah Zaman also sent off messengers to Shah Alam, Emperor of
Hindustan, from Peshawar. The rising in Afghan Turkistan had been
instigated by the Amir of Bokhara, and the latter, takitg advantage
of the disturbances, declared himself openly and crossed the Oxus
with an army. The governor, Muhammad Khan, had been ambushed
by men of a rebellious tribe, who made a prisoner of him and deliver-
ed him up to the Bokhariot Amir, who thereupon invested Balkh.
The Afghan garrison, however, held out bravely, and at the end of
three months and having lost 300 men killed in a final assault on the
defences, the Ruler of Bokhara withdrew to his own territory.
Sarbuland Khan in the meantime had been despatched with reinforce-
ments to Balkh, and the news of his safe arrival there reached Shah
Zaman on the 6th February 1794.

In the reign of Shah Timur, Kashmir had been governed by Mirza
Khan, son of Mir Hazar Khan, Alakozai, as his father’s deputv, the
latter having been employed in Dera Ghazi Khan. Mirza Khan rebel-
led, and when his father arrived to take over the éovernment, he was
made a prisoner by his son. Nawab Khan, Ishakzai, had been sent to
bring Mirza Khan to book, and he entered into negotiations with the
latcer, who sent his father to Court with Nawab Khan, and also bills
of exchange for a large sum of money ; at the same time praying that he
might be pardoned and given the appointment of governor of
Kashmir, when he would attend Court whenever his presence was
desired.

1 The king of Kabul had always been the resource of all the disaffected in
India. To him Tippoo Sultan, Vizier Ally, and all other Mahomedans, who had
a quarrel either with the British or with the Mahrattas, had long been in the
habit of addressing their complaints —Elphinstone’s Cabool Intro. I, p. 56.

The Embassy from the Vazier of the King of France or Europe may have
been despatched from Mysore (Tippo Sultan) to Kabul. Ir Shah Timur's reign
Mirza Ahsan Bakht, a prince of the Royal Family of Delhi, had fled to Kabul, and
he instigated Prince Abbas to object to his brother's nomination.
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Both the presents and the requests were refused, and Nawab
Khan’s action was repudiated. Shah Zaman on his march from
Peshawar had sent Ghazi Khan and Ahmad Khan Ishakzai with 12,000
men to garrison Attock. Orders were now sent to them to march at
once on Kashmir and subdue the rebellious Mirza Khan. In spite of
the difficulties they had to overcome, due to the nature of the country,
the inclement weather that prevailed and the resistance of the enemy,
these chiefs were victorious, and the news of their success reached the
Shah a fortnight after his return to Peshawar.

Shah Zaman was able to leave Peshawar, and on the 11th April
1794 he began the journey to his Capital. From Nimla he recalled
Ahmad Khan Ishakzai from Kashmir and appointed Khanzad Khan
to that office. At the stage of Bari Mahal, Ahmad Khan, the Nurzai
Chief, who?had forsaken Prince Mahmud in Herat, appeared at
Court, and the Shah arrived at Kabul safely on the joth of April
1794.

In the meantime Prince Humayun, who had found refuge in
Baluchistan, had betaken himself to Shikarpore, and from there had
returned to Kalat. Orders were issued to Mir Nasir Khan, the Ruler
of Kalat, to apprehend the Prince and to keep him in safe custody.
Nasir Khan died in the early spring of 1794 and was succeeded by
his son Mir Mahmud who received the same instructions regarding
Prince Humayun. The Khan of Kalat, a minor, inexperienced and
negligent, allowed Humayun to escape and he made his way to Shikar-
pore. There, however, he found escape barred in every direction, owing
to peremptory orders having been sent to Multan, Bhawalpore and to
the Rulers of Sind, to prevent his further passage. He, therefore,
returned once more to Kalat.

In the meantime, the affairs of that Khanate were in great dis-
order. Bahram Khan (grandson of Mir Muhabbat Khan, who had
been a vassal of Nadir Shah, and Ruler of that State), as representing
the elder branch of the family, had laid claim to the gadi of Kalat ;* and
he was at the head of a strong party of adherents. As the Shah was
not satisfied with regard to Mir Mahmud's good faith, he decided to
march to Kandahar, and Ahmad Khan had been sent to assemble the
Durani contingents on the 25th of April 1794. The Shah himself
left Kabul on the sth of June 1794. From the halting place of Deh
Mirang, Hasan Khan, the Amlah Bashi, was detached to reinforce
Sarbuland Khan in Turkistan ; and the Shah continuing his march,
arrived at Kandahar on the s5th July 1794. At this place, he heard

1 Kalat; a Memoir on the Ahmadzai Khans of Kalat, Cal. 1896, G. P. Tate.
7
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a rumour to the effect that Prince Mahmud was marching on Kaby|
from Herat, and Prince Kaisar, a son of Zaman Shah and Sarfaraz
Khan, the Barakzai Sardar, with 12,000 men, were sent off to aid
Prince Safdarjang, who had been left as the nominal governor of
the Capital in his father’s absence. They were recalled as soon as
reports were found to be without truth, Mahmud, however, was
marching against the Shah towards Kandahar, and had reached the
boundary of the Zamindawar district; and Shah Zaman took the
field against him. After a stubbornly contested engagement, lasting
several hours, Mahmud’s partisans were routed. His camp and
nearly four thousand prisoners were taken; and among the latter
were many chiefs of rank and name among the Duranis, Khurassanis,
Imaks, and Firuz kuhis. Atthe Vazier’s intercession, all were pardoned,
with the exception of one chief, who had deserted Shah Zarhan, and this
person was beheaded. Ahmad Khan Nurzai was sent to Herat to
interview Mahmud, and Shah Zaman marched back to Kandahar,
where he arrived on the 23rd of July 1794. On the 18th of August
Ahmad Khan arrived and reported to Zaman Shah that Mahmud’s
garrison had evacuated Farah on the approach of the Royal troops.
On the following day, the gth August, the troops destined to restore
order in Baluchistan and to put down the pretender Bahram Kbhan,
to bring the men of Sind to obedience, and to take over the fugitive
Prince Humayurf, marched from Kandahar. On the 19th August,
Sher Muhammad Khan, the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah (son of the famous
Shah Wali Khan, Bamizai), who had been taken up and honoured by
Shah Zaman, with Saiad Khudadad, left Kandahar for Baluchistan,
while the Shah himself set out for Kabul. On the march, at Maidan,
the son of Mir Hazar Khan, who had rebelled in Kashmir was produced
before Shah Zaman, who forgave him his past offences. On the 25th
September 1794 Zaman Shah entered his capital, and on the same
day Ghulam Muhammad Khan, who had been sent on an embassy
to India, and on other business, returned to Court, and presented-
an elephant and other rarities. The king having made up his mind
to open a campaign in the Punjab, issued orders for bridges to be
thrown across the Indus at Attock; and on the sth of November 1794
the Royal cortege arrived at Peshawar. Khanzad Khan, Mashir-ud-
Daulah, Munshi Bashi, governor of Kashmir, arrived at Court and
was given an audience.

When the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah had begun his march towards
Baluchistan orders had been despatched to Mir Mahmud, of Kalat,
to make over Prince Humayun to the Commander of the Royal forces.
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who was to send him in charge of Saiad Khudadad Khan,' to Court.
These orders having been faithfully executed, the Saiad and his
charge started for Kandahar, while the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah, with
Mir Mahmud and his Baluch contingent, marched against Bahram
Khan. They succeeded in putting down the pretender and taking
possession of the territory he had usurped. After the Royal dues had
been realized, the lands in question were handed back to the Khan
of Kalat,

But Saiad Khudadad had proved a traitor, and the Achakzais
and Kakars persuaded Prince Humayun to make an attempt on
Kandahar. Prince Haidar advanced to meet his uncle in the open
field, and the latter narrowly escaped defeat, by personally wounding
and making a prisoner of his young nephew. An attempt to rescue the
lad failed, znd the troops serving under the latter dispersed, a part
joining Prince Humayun, who took possession of the City.

Ahmad Khan, the Nurzai Sardar, marched from Farah to attempt
the recapture of Kandahar, and Prince Humayun advanced to
Kokeran to intercept him. The Nurzai Chief, however, evaded the
énemy, but when he arrived before the City he found the gates closed,
was refused admittance, and was fired upon from the walls. His
retirement towards Kalat-i-Ghilzai was intercepted by Prince Huma-
yun, and in the action that took place Ahmad Khan was wounded and
taken prisoner. Humayun at first intended to execute Ahmad Khan,
but the intercession of his chief partisans, who were too powerful
to be slighted, induced the Prince to forego his intention, and great
inducements were offered the Nurzai Chiefif he would forsake Shah
Zaman.

The Mashir-ud-Daulah was ordered to return to Kashmir, on
receipt of the news from Kandahar. Prince Shuja was lelt to govern
Peshawar, and Shah Zaman marched for Kandahar. Instead of re-
turning to Kabul, the king apparently used the Gomal route, the
Gwalarai Pass, a long tortuous and difficult passage, which, however,
was safely traversed and the Royal Camp at length was pitched at
Deh Pir Makar. Orders had been issued to collect supplies at this
place, and these were obtained with great difficulty and at fabulous
expense. However, the necessary supplies were forthcoming ; and
Shah Zaman arrived at Maruf. At this place he was joined by
persons who had previously declared for Prince Humayun, but when
Shah Zaman reached the Arghassan, the outlying district of Kan-
dahar, the forces of his brother dissolved, and the latter fled to Herat.

1 He belonged to one of the Saiad families of Peshin.
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Shah Zaman entered Kandahar on the 7th January 1793, At thig
place Amir Arsalan Khan, Jawan Shir, Kazilbash, was appointed
governor of Kashmir, in place of the Mashir-ud-Daulah; and the
Kazilbash chief nominated his uncle Muhammad Khan to.act as his
deputy. Here the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah, accompanied by Mir Mahmud,
Khan of Kalat, and 6,000 Baluch levies, joined the King.

Humayun having persuaded his brother Mahmud to take the
field, Shah Zaman marched from Kandahar on the 20th January 1793
in the direction of Herat. Prince Mahmud, however, was unwilling
to proceed to extremities and he sent his mother to meet Shah
Zaman, and she had an interview with the King at Dilaram, two
stages from Farah. Her intercession proved effectual, and Mahmud
was pardoned, and his mother was dismissed with the present of
an elephant and a litter with golden appointments. Zamin Shah
retraced his steps towards Kabul and entered the city on the 16th
June 1795.

Prince Humayun having plundered a caravan bound for Irak,
obtained a great deal of loot, and by means of this ill-gotten wealth
he collected a number of needy adventurers and once more advanced
upon Kandahar, after his brother had returned to Kabul. But at
Bagh-i-Mariz, three or four miles to the west of Kandahar, on the gth
August 1795, he was utterly defeated by Ahmad Khan, the Nurzai
Sardar, and the other Durani nobles who were stationed at Kandahar.
A thousand men were detailed to pursue Prince Humayun till he was
captured.

Relieved from his pressing anxieties with regard to his brother,
Shah Zaman was atkle to obtain a little relaxation from the cares of
his kingdom, and we are told that on the 1st of September he left
Kabul for twelve days to hunt in the Koh-i-Daman or (Kohistan)* to
the north of his capital. At the expiry of this period of rest, he returned
to the capital, where his brother Shuja, then eleven years old, was
married to a daughter of Wafadar Khan, the Vazier, the ceremony
being celebrated with great pomp.

But Shah Zaman was dogged by his evil fortune, for barely were
the nuptial rites of his brother completed than he received the news
(29th September 1795) of a rebellion which had taken place in Kash-
mir. This time Miyan Khan, a Baluch, had created the disturbance;
and had seized Muhammad Khan, the Deputy Governor. The

1 The plains of Lombardy as seen from the Appenines do not exceed the
Kohistan of Kabul in richness or brilliancy of verdure, whilst the latter far sur-
passes them in point of situation, being backed by an ampbhitheatre of enormous
mountains. Vigne’'s Travels, 2nd Edition, London, 1843.
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Mukhtar-ud-Daulah was despatched to Kashmir to put down the
insurrection, and the Shah decided to pass the winter in Peshawar and
Attock. On the 28th of October when he was encamped at Nimla,
on the way to Peshawar, news reached him that Prince Humayun
at last had been made a prisoner by the Deputy Governor of Leiah—
the representative of Wafadar Khan. Prince Humayun, after his
defeat near Kandahar, had retired to Baluchistan; but after taking
possession of Sibi and keeping the Kachhi in a ferment, his fortunes
became so desperate that at last, accompanied by his son Ahmad
and with only fourteen followers, he had made his escape across the
Indus. News of his arrival having reached the Deputy Governor of
Leiah {on the left bank of the Indus opposite to Dera Ismail Khan),
the latter surrounded the fugitives. Not until his fourteen adherents
and his sonshad been slain was the Prince himself made a prisoner.
From Nimla the Shah despatched persons whom he could trust to
take over the captive, and a red hot needle drawn across his eye-
balls deprived him of sight and rendered him incapable of further
mischief. Zaman Shah arrived at Peshawar on the 18th December
‘1795, and on the joth of this month Prince Humayun was brought
in and he was sent away to Kabul, to be kept a prisoner in
the Bala Hisar; his women and dependents were sent there also.
These events had caused delays and now that the season for
entering the Punjab was over, Shah Zaman decided to proceed
only as far as Attock and Hasan Abdal. At Akora he was met
by the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah who had brought in the rebel Miyvan
Khan ; the latter was pardoned. After inspecting the defences
of the fort at Attock, Shah Zamin went on to Hasan Abdal
where he remained only seven days, returning once more to
Peshawar.: .

From Hasan Atdal, Ahmad Khan, an official of his Court, in
command of a force of Duranis, was sent to subdue the country up to
the Jhelum river, and to take possession of the fort of Rohtas. The
objects of this expedition were successfully attained, but Ahmad
Khan despatched a force to take possession of Gujrat. After initial
successes, the Afghans were compelled to retire, and were chased by
the inhabitants as far as the Jhelum river. Dissensions broke out
among the Afghan leaders, and Ahmad Khan was compelled by them
to abandon his conquest and to retire to Peshawar. The Shah held
&0 enquiry into the circumstances of the retreat, and the upshot was
that Ata Muhammad Khan, Chief of all the Ghilzais, and also

1 3rd January 17;6. Elphinstone, 1L, p. 314-
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Governor of the Zamindawar, was found to be at fault., He was
deprived of his honours and appointments which were conferred upon
Rahmat-ullah Khan Ghilzai as he was considered to be loyal, and
in addition he was given the title of Hasir Khan. Zaman Shap
returned to Kabul,

Agha Muhammad Khan, Kajar, in pursuit of his design of creat-
ing a State out of the various principalities into which Persia had
been divided after the death of Nadir Shah, was able at last to turn
his attention to Khurassian, where Shah Rukh, the grandson of
Nadir, possessed a semblance of power under the protection of the
Afghuans, and held his court in the holy city of Meshed. Other chiefs
in that country were also independent, such as the Arab rulers of
Tabas, Kain, and Turshiz. The Tajik, Ishak Khan of Turbat-i-Hai-
dari, whose possessions extended to the gates of Meshed on the
north, and included Kbaf in the opposite direction. Sabzawar to the
west of Meshed was the capital of Ali Yar Khan, a Turkish chief.
Kabushan (Kuchan) and Chinaran to the north-west of Meshed were
held respectively by the Kurd Chieftains Gunah Khan, Zaferanlu and
Mamesh Khan. Nishapur was in the possession of Jafar Khan, a son of*
Abbas Kuli Khan, Bayat. Owing to the generosity of Ahmad Shah
Durani, the blind Shah Rukh still occupied Meshed ; safe under
Afghan protection from the attacks of his neighbours, as long as
Ahmed Shah lived. The Chief of Chinaran had indeed taken posses-
sion of Meshed and had retained it for five years, but he had been
forced to resign it by Timur Shah. The population of Meshed was
reduced at this period to about 20,000 souls. The country up to the
walls was constantly raided by the Uzbegs; and a great part of the
slender revenue of the principality had to be paid as black mail
to neighbouring chiefs to purchase exemption from attacks which
the blind Ruler’'s weakness invited. Meshed also had become a scene
of distraction owing to the incompetence of Shah Rukh, and the dis-
putes of his sons Nasr-ullah Mirza, and Nadir Mirza until the death
of the former left the field clear to his brother.r

Shah Rukh, however, still possessed many of the priceless jewels
which Nadir Shah had brought from India ; and the existence of these
had excited the cupidity of Agha Muhammad Khan, who regarded them
as the property of the Crown of Persia. When, therefore, he had been
victorious in his struggle with the Zends, and had subdued Georgia as
well, Agha Muhammad marched into Khurassan at the head of an over-
powering force ; and the petty rulers of Khurassan hastened to make

1 Malcolm’s History of Persia.
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their submission to him. Nadir Mirza fled to Herat on the approach
of the Kajar chieftain, leaving his blind father to make his sub-
mission and deliver up the city. Nadir Mirza sent on his brothers
Reza Kuli and Ali, to the court of Shah Zaman, and followed
them later and they met him on his arrival from Peshawar at
Kabul.

While, therefore, the shadowy rights of suzerainty which the Af-
ghans still claimed over Khurassin had been endangered by the rise
of Agha Muhammad Khan to supreme power in Persia ; in the opposite
direction the Indian possessions of the Sadozais were threatened by the
Sikhs who had been in virtual possession of the greater part of the
Punjab even during the last years of Ahmad Shah’s life. The indolent
but sagacious Timur Shah apparently had never taken any steps to
assert and secure his rights in the Punjab ; but Shah Zaman's mind
seems always to have been filled with idle hopes of an Empire in India.
In this design, however, he was encouraged by various rulers in India.
The memory of Panipat had not yet been effaced ; and from Delhi to
Mysore, and as far east as Oudh, the Afghan Sovereign was still re-
garded as the champion of Islam, whose sympathies and active inter-
vention could always be appealed to successfully in favour of the
followers of that faith when they were hard pressed by infidels, at the
time, the British, whom circumstances had compelled to advance to the
North-West from Bengal ; and the Mahrattas who were recovering
from the catastrophe of Panipat.*

Shah Zaman having made up his mind to enter Hindustan,
despatched the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah to Kandahar to raise the
Durani clans. Ata Muhammad Ghilzai, who had been disgraced
by the king, fled to Prince Mahmud to Herat. When Shah Zaman

1Shah Alam, Titular Emperor of Hindustan, ascended the throne in Delhi in
1771. He was, however, a nonentity and in the hands first of one and then of
another of his Ministers. Madhaji Sindia was consolidating his power in
Hindustan and from 1741 to 1803, the Emperor was subject in turn to the insults
of the Jats, his own rebellious subjects, the Mahrattas, and in 1788 Shah
Alam had his sight destroyed by the notorious Ghulam Kadir, the unworthy grand-
son of {he gallant Rohilla chief Najib-ud-daulah. The memory of l.’anipat
weighed heavily on the spirits of Madhaji Sindia, and in order to propitiate the
Durani King, the wily Mahratta had sent the Nawab Wajih-ud-din, as his
representative to the Court of Shah Timur and again another agent to Shah
Zaman, (History of Bhawalpore). On the 26th October 1794, Ghulam Muham-
mad Khan, Rohilla (who had usurped the authority in Rohilkand), was det:eated
by a British force under Sir Ralph Abercrombie, and in 1795 the defeated
usurper crossed the Punjab (History of Bhawalpore), to induce Shah Zaman to
intervene on his behalf. Asaf-ud-daulah, Nawab Vazier of O_ur:lh, also despatch-
edan agent at the same lime to the Court of the Sadozai (¢bid). With t'he ex-
ception, perhaps, of the Sikhs, the various powers in India greatly overestimated
the strength of the Afghan Ruler, (Elphinstone, Cabool, II,_308, states 1.hat Shah
Ziman was induced to invade India in 1795 by a refugee Prince of Delhi and alse
was encouraged to do so by Tippoo Sultan).



104 THE KINGDOM OF AFGHANISTAN.

was on the point of leaving Kabul, Husen Kbhan, Karaguzly, the
envoy of Agha Muhammad Khan, arrived at court. He was accorded
a gracious reception, and a money present, robes and a charger were
bestowed on him ; and permission was given him to return to Meshed,
Kado Khan Barakzai accompanied the Persian Ambassador as the
Afghan Envoy, to the court of the Kajar Prince.

Shah Zamairn arrived in due course at Peshawar, and was joined
by the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah with 15,000 Durani horse. A halt ofa
month was made in Peshawar and the time was passed in collecting
more troops. On the 28th of November 1796 the Shah encamped at
Chamkanni, four miles to the east of Peshawar. On the 4th of December
he crossed the Indus, by a bridge, at Attock ; and from the 'banks of
the Jhelum, the Mukhtar-ud-Daulah was despatched in command of

the Vanguard. o

The confederacy of Sikh chieftains offered no opposition to the
advance of the Afghan forces. Among the Sikhs, Sahib Singh of
Gujrat, and Ranjit Singh of Wazirabad, were most distinguished
on account of the organisation of their forces ; and with Lehna Singh of
Lahore, and Gulab Sing of Amritsar, were the most powerful chiefs in
the Punjab, at that time. Shah Zaman was delayed for three days at
Gujrat by heavy rain, but his progress was not impeded by the Sikhs,
and he entered Lahore on the 1st January 1797.2 Although the
Afghan Sovereign was at the head of 30,000 men, he strove to
conciliate the Sikhs and to render his supremacy an agreeable
burthen to chiefs and people alike. Expeditions were, however,
despatched against -the Sikhs of the Manja, and against Aman
Kot in which Sahib Sing had taken up an equivocal attitude.
Amian Kot was invested, and at last Sahib Sing offered to send
his son and his brother to the court of Shah Zaman, and pro-
fessed his willingness to come in person and make his submis-
sion. These offers were accepted and Sahib Sing’s son and brother
met with an honourable reception. The Afghan garrison in
Sialkot, however, had been surrounded by the Sikhs, and an expedi-
tion was despatched to relieve that place, which was successfully
carried out; and minor skirmishes with the Sikhs were of frequent
occurrence.

1 Tarikh-i-Sultani—Litho text.

? The author of the Tarikh-i-Sultani gives the following date :—Crossing of
the Indus at Attock, 12th Jamada [I 1211 A, H.=13th of December 1796. Though
discrepant it establishes his claim to be considered a reliable author. He could
not have invented or guessed this date. Elphinstone gives the date of the entry
into Lahore, 3rd January 1797. I, p, 315.

-
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Shah Zaman had been about one month in Lahore when he received
information that his brother Mahmud in Herat had revolted once more.!
The Sadozai king was compelled to leave Lahore and on the joth
January 1797, he commenced his retrograde movement towards his
own country.

Ahmad Khan (an official of his Court) was appointed to hold charge
of the Rohtas Fort and was detailed to reduce Pind Dadan Khan.

1 An invasion of Hindustan (the country to the south of the Sutlej) would
have thrown the whole country into a condition of anarchy. The Muhammadans
looked to the Durani king as their deliverer and hoped for the restoration of the
House of Timur through Afghan intervention inthe affairs of Hindustan. The
partisans of Shah Zaman had set on foot intrigues in many parts of India. The
Rohillas took up arms. Every follower of Islam anxiously looked for the coming
of the champion of Islam. Dissensions among the Mahrattas bhad drawn their
forces to'the south ; and they were dismayed at the prospect and looked for help
to the British, The attitude of the Sadozai king had compelled the authorities in
Calcutta to assemble an army at Anupshahr; and to raise new regiments and the
4th Bengal Light Cavalry ; and the 26th, 27th, 28th and 29th regiments of Bengal
Infantry had been raised in 1796, When the news of the arrival of the Afghans
in Lahore had spread abroad it caused increased alarm in India, and the joth,
31st, 32nd, 33rd, 34th and 35th regiments of Bengal Infantry had been raised, in
anticipation of the further advance of Shah Zaman to Delhi. In 1790 M. De Boigne
had been commissioned to raise a brigade of regular troops by Sindiah and by
1793 his regular troops numbered 24,000 men, with 130 guns, led by European
officers of different nationalities, all under M.De Boigne's command. Frankiin's
Life of Shah Alam. These adversaries would have proved too strong for the
undisciplined Afghan hordes.

NOTE.

I'he following remark of Sir John Malcolm on this subject is illustrative of the
position of the Sadozais in the estimation of their countrymen, and of the Afghan
notion of government,

The appointment of Ramatullah Khan, commonly called Wafadar Khan, was
spoken of with great disapprobation when I was in Persia in 1800. It was con-
sidered as a departure from all usage ; and the grounds of objection were, ‘‘that
though it was proper the King should be a Sadozai, and have his person held
sacred, from belonging to that venerated tribe, his Vazier ought not to be of the
same tribe, as if he also was safe from attack, no one would be responsible for the
acts of cruelty and oppression that might be committed : others deemed the king
impolitic in appointing a Sadozai to be his Vazier, as such an officer might aspire
tg the crown, on the ground of being one of that tribe.” (Elphinstone’s Caubool
1839, 11, 251). )

The arrogance and despotic character of the Vazier, secure in. the unfaltering
support of his king, rapidly alienated the nobles; and his oppressive measures—
he had to find the money for his masier's ambitious designsinIndia—estranged the
common people. The continual movements of the king ; from the Punjab to Herat
and back again; must also have harassed all classes of his subjects. These
movements were productive of nothing but hardship for the tribal levies which
formed his army. _ .

George Thomas of Hansi estimated the military strength of the Sikhs in 1800
at 60,000 horse, 5,000 foot, and 40 field guns. The Sikhs were, therefore, too
powerful to succumb to raids such as Shah Zamin only could make, with Mahmud
ever ready to act against Herat in his absence and with the danger of open
tnvasion by the Shah of Persia.



CHAPTER XII.

SHAH ZAMAN—RELATIONS WITH PERsIA AND INDIA-—(contd.)

From Shamsabad, near Attock, an expedition was despatched to
reduce a rebellious tribe in the Hazara!® District, which was successfully
accomplished. On the 23rd of February 1797, Shah Zaméan entered
Peshawar, where he learned that the fort of Pind Dadan Khan? had been
surrendered after some resistance, by the Kotwals of Ranjit Sing.
Shah Zaman marched from Peshawar on the 1st March and reached
Kabul on the 16th March 1797. Y

Here it was discovered that Mahmud had been instigated to rebel
against his brother by Ata Muhammad the Ghilzai and other mal-
contents, but that he had not actually committed himself. Orders,
however, were sent to him to despatch Ata Muhammad the Ghilzai
to his brother’s court, and as Mahmud refused to carry out these
orders, Shah Zaman took the field and on the 16th of June 1797 he
marched from Kabul.

At the stage of Kala-i-Kazi on the road to Kandahar, Abdullah
Khan (Alakozai?), the governor of Kashmir, arrived at Court and
presented the usual gifts. He was given leave to return to Kashmir,
At the stage of Hakan, an embassy from India arrived, bearing
presents and a friendly letter.*

Shah Zaman reached Kandahar on the 6th July 1797.

At this place news arrived of the assassination of Agha Muhammad
Khan, Kajar, the Ruler of Persia.s

! To the north of Attock and adjoining Kashmir.
? Now a subdivision of the Jhelum District.
s Civil governor.

¢ The name of the ruler who sent this mission is said to have been Pato Shah
(Pato-ji?). It was probably from one or other of the three independent Mahratta
Chiefs in northern India, or it may have been despatched from Poona, the head-
quarters of the Mahratta Power,

% After compelling the wretched Shah Rukh to give up-the remaining jewels
and precious gems in his possession, Agha Muhammad Khan marched to Teheran,
after leaving 12,000 men to garrison Meshed, and taking with him the unhappy
grandson of Nadir Shah, who died on the march. At Teheran he passed the
winter, having reached his capital in September 1796, Here he received M. Olivier
charged with a Mission from the French Republic to the Minister of Agha Muhaq-
mad. Inthe spring of 1797, the Kajar Ruler led an army towards the Aras
against the Russians, and had taken possession of the fortress of Shishah on the
further bank, when his career was terminated by his murder, by some of his
personal attendants—(Watson's History of Persia, London 1866, p. 96 ¢f seg.)
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Nadir Mirza, son of Shah Rukh, on hearing of this occurrence left
the Afghan Court and having collected troops gained possession of
Meshed where he proclaimed himself independent,*

At Kandahar Shah Zaman also received the news of the murder of
Ata Muhammad, the irreconcileable Ghilzai Sardar, by a fellow tribes-
man ; and at the same time the Vazier also induced Zaman Khan, the
Bamizai, to desert Mahmud and take service with Shah Zaman.
Troops were raised for service against Herat, and Mir Mahmud, Khan
of Kalat, arrived at the head of the levies of Baluchistan. A vanguard
composed of 10,000 to 12,000 selected horse was thrown forward
under the command of Prince Kaisar, with Sardar Ahmad Khan
Nurzai, Shah Pasand Khan, the Ishakzai Sardar, and other leaders to
advise and to exercise authority on behalf of the young prince; while
aforce of irsegular horsemen under Jahandad Khan was despatched
to lay waste the country round Herat and to harass Mahmud. Zaman
Shah followed with his main army and his artillery on the 8th Septem-
ber 1797.2 On arrival at Farah he learned that Jahandad Khan had
captured three hundred of Mahmud’s partisans left at Obah, and had
occupied that district. Mahmud on hearing of Prince Kaisar's
approach had taken up a position outside Herat, at the Rauzah Bagh,
and had despatched 5,000 horse to oppose the invaders at Obah. The
latter drove back Mahmud’s troops who retired on Herat, the Prince
lost his nerve and made up his mind to stand a siege in the
city.  In the meantime Wafadar Khan, Shah Zamain’s Minister,
had been tampering with Mahmud's adherents, who forestalled the
Prince by seizing the town and Citadel of Herat, and closing the
gates against their master, and firing on him from the walls. The
latter for a day and a night turned his artillery on the defen-
ces, and made a desperate effort to retake it by assault. Foiled
in his endeavours, and alarmed at the advance of Prince Kaisar's
force, which was only four leagues from Herat, Mahmud ceased
his efforts to recapture Herat, and accompanied by his son Kamran

! Fath AliShah, nephew of Agha Muhammad Khan, ascended the Throne of
Persia on the 28th July 1797. (4th Safar 1212 A.H.) He warned Nadir Mirza of the
consequences of his action, and when his remonstrances were unheeded he
marched against the latter,

Nishapur was taken by storm, and Turbat was also captured. After a
lengthy blockade Nadir Mirza was pardoned by thz Shah but some years after he
was seized by the inhabitants after he had desecrated the Shrine of Imim Reza,
a"g had slain the chief priest with his own hands, and handed over to the Shah
and was put to death with atrocious cruelty in 1802—Watson's History of Persia,
P- 121, ef seq.

? Elphinstone gives this date 8th September 1797, 11, at p. 316.
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and his brother Firuz-ud-din and a few devoted followers he took
to flight.t
Shah Zaman arrived at Herat on the 14th of October 1797. He
camped outside the walls and visited the famous shrines in the
neighbourhood. Prince Kaisar was appointed Governor of Herat,
with Zamin Khan® Bamizai as his adviser, and after a stay of ten
days Shah Zaman began his retarn march to Kandahar, taking with
him the principal adherents of Mahmud; and arrived there on the
11th November. He continued his retirement to the Capital and the
only incident worthy of remark was the despatch of an expedition
from Ab-i-Tazi, on the road to Kabul, against some plunderers or
bandits. On the 6th December3 1797, Zaman Shah entered Kabul.+
Shah Zaman in pursuit of his dreams of establishing an empire to
the east of the Indus urged thereto in all likelihood by the scanty
resources of his native land, decided to resume the thread of his
policy in the Punjab, and on the 4th January 1798 he marched in the
direction of Lahore.s '
The Sikhs, it is said, fled into the low hills on the borders of the
Punjab, and the King having confirmed Abdullah Khan Alakozai in

1 The author of the Tarikh-i-Sultani states that owing to the murder of Ata
Muhammad at the instigation of Hazar Khan, dissensions broke out among
Mahmud’s adherents. Kilich Khan, the powerful Taimuni Sardar, seized the
citadel and another chief the town, which they held on behalf of Shah Zamin.
Mahmud found a refuge with the Shah of Persia, and after a stay in Kashan for

some time, he returned to Kain where he was hospitably treated by the Arab
chieftain of that place.

* Son of Haji Karimdad Khan, Tarikh-i-Sultani. The author of the Tarikh-i-
Sultani states that Shah Zaman's Ambhssador to the late Agha Muhammad Khan,

Kajar, returaed to his master at Herat, and that Shah Zaman was at Herat [our
months.

> The author of the Tarikh-i-Sultani says in Rajab 1212. The month of Rajab
was from 8th November to December 1797.

* Here the MS. entitled the Wakai-i-Zamdn Shahi, by Mirza Abu-l-Hasan
Khan, Munshi, comes to an abrupt conclusion with a remark that Shah Zaméan
passed the summer in Kabul ; and a few other remarks as to the devotion of this
sovereign to the doctrines of the Nakshbandi Sect. The dates given towards the
end of the MS, are not very clear. While carefully recording the days of the
week and of the month the author omits to record the year. The latter is the case
especially in the last yearof which the record treatsand this year has been restored
by reference to the Tarikh-i-Sultani, a recent work, and for that reason not a very
first rate authority. But the restoration of the year by this means, brings the
dates into correct relation with those of events in Persia and the Punjab, obtained
from other sources ; and the details given by the recent author are in close agree-
ment with those contained in Elphinstone’s Cabool, and other authors who treat of
the events that took place in Persia and the Punjab at this time,

The author of the Wakai-i-Zaman Shiihi seems to have been an official who
was not an actual eye-witness of the events he has recorded. But his narrative
is that of an author contemporary with those events, and as such his record 18

invaluable. N

5 Tarikh-i-Sultani; the d ate A. H, given there is 14th of the month Shaban,
1212, _No notice of this raid on the Punjab appears in either Elphinstone’s Cabool
or in Cunningham’s History of the Sikhs.
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the Government of Kashmir, the Government of Lahore was made over
to Ahmad Khan Barakzai as before ; after this he retraced his steps to
Kabul. Here he was met by letters from Herat, despatched by
Prince Kaisar, and Zaman Khan regarding the reappearance of
Mahmud and his designs on Herat. The Prince had been well re-
ceived by Amir Ali Khan, of the Arab tribe of Khuzaima, Ruler of
the Kainat, and he having raised four thousand foot soldiers from the
Arabs of that country in company with Amir Khan, Tabati, put
Mahmud in possession of Farah. From thence they went on to take
possession of Isfirar. Prince Kaisar and Zaman Khan, having collected
a force, advanced to meet the invaders ; and at Imarat, to the south
of the fort of Isfirar, they were defeated by Mahmud, who blockaded
them in Herat, where they had fled. All the Persian-speaking section
of the populace were devoted to Prince Mahmud ; and Prince Kaisar
and Zaman Khan were hard pressed. However, by means of forged
letters, which were allowed to fall into Prince Mahmud's hands, the
fears of the latter were excited, and notwithstanding the protests of
the chief of Kain and his other adherents, the Prince fled on the
same night to Puza of Kabutar Khan. From that place he sent his
son Kiamran and his brother Firuz-ud-din to Persia to the Court of
the Shah Fath Ali Shah, while he betook himself to Bokhara.
By the time Shah Zaman arrived in Herat, he found that Mahmud
had fled. Mulla Abd-ul-Hak with the leading men of the priestly
families were sent to Bokhara, to the Ruler Shah Murad Khan, to
demand that either Mahmud should be apprehended and kept under
restraint, or that he should be expelled from the territories of Bokhara.
After a stay at Herat of a few months letters reached the Shah to the
effect that the Sikhs had resorted to arms and had overpowered
Ahmad Khan ‘Barakzai, the Governor of Lahore, who had lost his life
in battle with them ; and that they were everywhere predominant in
the Punjab. Shah Zaman sent his baggage and impedimenta round
by way of Kandahar towards Kabul, and made Prince Kaisar Gover-
nor of Herat, with Mir Afzal Khan, the son of Sardar Madad Khan,
Ishakzai, as his Deputy Governor. Then, taking with him Zaman
Khan, the son of Haji Karimdad Khan, Bamizai, Shah Zaman marched
through the country of the Hazara Dai Kandi and by way of Bamian,
and reached Kabul in twelve days. There he collected material and
stores and he set out for the Punjab. He left Peshawar on the 25th of
Ogtober 1798 * and advanced to Lahore without finding any opposi-
tion offered to his progress. The Sikhs had sent 5,0e0 men to watch

———

1 Elphinstone's Cabool, II, p. 311
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the ford of the Jhelum, but they were brushed aside without difficulty,
On his arrival in Lahore the king renewed his measures of concilja-
tion combined with threats. ‘¢ He found an able leader, but a doubt-
ful partizan, in Nizam-ud-din Khan, a Pathan of Kasur, who had
acquired a high local reputation, and he was employed to coerce
such of the Sikhs, including the youthful Runjit Sing, as pertinacious.
ly kept aloof. They distrusted the Shah’s honour ; but Nizam-ud-din
distrusted the permanence of his power, and he prudently forbore to
proceed to extremities against neighbours to whom he might soon be
left a prey.”*

The Shah was grieved to find the signs of the ravages of the Sikhs
who had attacked Lahore ; and during this invasion, he seems to have
been much impressed by the character of Ranjit Sing, who was regard.
ed in a similar light by the other Sikh chieftains. In despair of being
able to maintain peace with an Afghan governor in the country, the
Shah made up his mind to intrust the government to Ranjit Sing. The
latter also coveted Lahore, the possession of which was associated in
the minds of all men with the possession of power. Ranjit Sing was
invested by the Shah with the office of Governor of Lahore ; and
letters were despatched to the King of Delhi to inform him that circum-
stances had prevented a march to Delhi ; but that the Shah would
embrace the earliest opportunity of returning, to replace him on the
throne, and to place Islam in the position of the paramount power in
India. On the way back to Peshawar owing to heavy rain the river
Jhelum came down in flood, while the Shah’s army was crossing, and
his artillery and baggage was swept away; Ranjit Sing and Sahib
Sing, however, recovered the Shah’s guns which were sent on after him
to Peshawar, where the Shah arrived on the 3oth January 1799. From
that place he continued his march to Kabul, and after placing his
brother Shuja as governor in the capital, he turned his steps towards
Kandahar. The cause of the Shah's hasty retreat from Lahore was
the presence of the Shah of Persia at the head of a large army in
Khurassan, over which the Afghan Sovereign claimed the right of the
Suzerain power.

A wave of unrest had passed over Khurassan and Shah Fath Ali
Shah had been compelled to march against the insurgent governors of
Sabzawar and Nishapur. But there were other causes which in the
end brought about Shah Zaman’s downfall. The Afghan menace
kept the whole of India in a state of unrest, and the Shah’s inroads
caused a yearly alarm which was harassing the British and was the

1 Cunningham’s History of the Sikhs.
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cause of extra military expenditure. In order therefore to create a
diversion in their favour and to operate as a check to the Sadozai
king’s ambitions with respect to India, the British authorities had
deputed Mahdi Ali Khan (a prominent merchant in Bombay, 2nd one
who was well known at the Court of the Shah), to Persia in order to
prevail upon the Shah to attack the Afghans. For this purpose Herat
was a vulnerable point and the presence of Mahmud offered special
facilities. By keeping open the Herat ulcer, the plans of the Sadozaj
King with regard to India could always be thwarted, and his strength
drained, and the pretensions of the Shah, who regarded Afghanistan as
a province of the Persian Empire, rendered this course likely to
succeed. Shah Zaman sent an Embassy to the Shah’s Court with a
request that Khurassan should be recognised by the Shah as belonging
to Afghanistzn. In reply, Haji Ibrahim, the Shah’s minister, was
ordered to say that it was his master’s intention to restore the south
and eastern limits of Persia to the condition in which they had been in
the time of the Safavi monarchs of Persia. That he proposed to over-
run and annex Herat, Merve, Balkh, Kabul, Kandahar, Tibet, Kashgar
@nd Seistan.” The danger from Persia was by no means imaginary
with Mahmud at hand as a convenient tool, and the hasty return of
Shah Zaman in 1798 was due to the anxiety caused by the attitude of
the Shah who had probably instigated the abortive attempt by
Mahmud on Herat. In 1799 the task which had been given Mahdi
Alikhan, was tourge the Shah to move against Afghanistan. When
Shah Zaman had arrived in Kandahar he despatched Tura Baz Khan
to the Shah, then in Khurassan, laden with presents, who was to
request the Shah to withdraw to Teheran. This the latter agreed to
do on the condition that the Princes Mahmud and Firuz-ud-din should
be received back in Afghanistan in a manner suitable to their rank.?
The success which had attended Mahdi Ali's negotiations had not
been known in Calcutta when the Earl of Mornington selected Captain
Malcolm for the purpose of proceeding to the Court of Teheran. The
objects of this Mission were three in number. To make an arrange-
ment with the Shah for relieving India from the recurring annual
alarm of an Afghan invasion. To counteract any possible designs,
the French nation might entertain with regard to Persia; and to
re-open and restore trade with Persia to somewhat of its former

prosperity.s

>
! Watson's History of Persia, p. 125, ¢f seg.
* Ibid, p. 125, ef seq.
Y ((bid.)
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In the meantime however events took place in Afghanistan s
which led very soon to Shah Zamian’s downfall and the ruin of the
Sadozai family, The minister Wafadar Khan had ofiended tpe
Afghan Sardars by his arrogance ; and the latter, driven to despair by
the complete ascendancy he had obtained over his Royal Master,
formed a plot to assassinate the minister ; to remove the king, and
to raise Prince Shuja to the throne. So general was the resentment
against the Minister that one morning doggrel verses were found written
on the Mihrab of the Royal mosque in the Bala Hisar in Kabul—{the
limit of) the duration of the dynasty of the Duranis, consider to be
the year 1217 (1802). After that every province shall have its
own ruler, who will reign two or three days, two or three months, or
two or three years.

. 13
The author was supposed to be a wandering fakir, but he was
never arrested.

When in 1800 the Shah was in Kandahar the principal Sardars
who had become privy to this plot against the minister and the king,
decided to put their plans into effect. The chief conspirators wers
Payandah Khan (Sarfaraz Khan) Barakzai ; Islam Khan, the Zabt Begi
of the Popalzais ; Hikmat Khan Sarkani ; Muhammad Azim Khan, son
of Mir Hazar Khan, Alakozai ; Mir Arsalan Khan, chief of the Juwanshir
Kazzilbash ; Jafir Khan, Juwanshir ; Yusuf Ali, one of the Eunuchs of
the palace ; Sharif Khan Munshi, and Nur Muhammad Khan Babari.
They met at the hermitage of Mian Ghulam Muhammad. an Indian,
Fakir, and having sworn on the Koran, they proceeded to arrange
the details of the execution of their designs. Payandah Khan (Sarfaraz
Khan) Barakzai was to summon his clansmen to the city; while
Muhammad Azim Khan, Alakozai, was to assassinate the Vazier
when the latter, as was his custom, left the city on a Thursday to
hawk on the lands of his Karez about four miles to the east of the city
(the place is still known as Tor Vazir). The other conspirators were
to seize the king. The plot was revealed to the Vazier. The
hawking expedition was postponed, on the pretence of urgent business ;
and the conspirators were summoned one by one, to the presence of
the king. The gates of the citadel were closed and the chieftains
were executed. As a rigorous search was instituted to discover those
who were implicated in this plot, Fath Khan the eldest son of
Payandah Khan (Sarfaraz Khan) Barakzai, his brethren and clansmen,
fled from the city. They betook themselves in the first instance to
their fort of Nad Ali on the Helmand, and from there Fath Khan
went off to Persia and joined Mahmud at Turshiz. The Fakir Mian
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Ghulam Muhammad escaped to Dadur, in Baluchistan, where he
was apprehended and executed. His body was buried at Dadur ;
but his head, taken as a voucher to the Vazier, was afterwards
interred outside the Herati gate of Kandahar near the Payab
canal.?

Notwithstanding the disaffection that was spreading among his
subjects, Shah Zaman appears to have been lulled into a false
tranquillity by the success of Tura-Baz Khan’s Embassy. Letters
also, received from -Shah Shuja, gave the king intelligence of the
increasing turbulence of the Sikhs, and his ambition drew him
towards the Punjab. In the year 1216 A. H. (begins 25th May 1801,
ends 13th May 1802) he marched from Kandahar at the head of a
numerous army for Peshawar and the Punjab. Mihr Ali Khan, the
Ishakzai Sardar, who had been given the title of Shah Pasand Khan, was
leftin Kandahar as the governor. No sooner had Fath Khan, Barakzai,
heard of Shah Zaman’s movement towards Peshawar, than he urged
Mahmud Khan to essay the capture of Kandahar.

Mahmud after his abortive attempt on Herat had fled to
“Bokhara, where he was placed under surveillance. With the aid of
a friendly Uzbeg chief, he made his way, first to Khiva, and
then across the desert to Asterabad. From this district he made
his way to the Shah’s Court, where he was received with marks
of respect, and lodged in the palace of the Sadr-i-Azam. He accom-
panied the Shah into Khurassan (1800), but when the task of
reducing the turbulent chiefs was found to be not an easy matter ; or
in compliance with Shah Zaman’s wishes; Fath Ali Shah retired to
Teheran, Mahmud was dismissed to Turshiz, where provision was
made for his support. Encouraged by Fath Khan Barakzai, Mahmud

! The author of the Tarikh-i-Sultani, states that the A. H. date 1215,1
corresponding to 1800-01 (beginning on 25th of May 1800 and ending on 13th May
1801) was obtained from the chronogram on the tombstone of Payandah Khap'-
(Sarfaraz Khan). Elphinstone places this event in 1799. The M_lrat-l-Abbasi'
(a MS. History of Bahawalpore) places the conspiracy in the winter of r120¢
A. H., i, e., of 1994-5, and the execution of the sixteen persons ‘nmplxcated is sa
to have been carried out immediately before his march to India. The name
Sarfariz Khan, who was Amir-ul-Umara, or the first no-ble.of t_he realm, d_oes
appear in the record of events after that year, which is smgula.r_, for his
was either by the side of his sovereign, or in some other responsible po
either of which would have insured mention of him.

According to this History of Bahawalpore the actual downfall of Sha
followed on g.:m insult offere?ﬂl to the Mukhtir-ud-daulah, Sher Muhamm
the Bamizai Sardar, by Wafadar Khan, the Vazier; this is said to hav Csulted
in 1210 A. H. (18th July 1795 to 7th July 1796). At the instigation of € entered
c¥ief, the Duranis not only abandoned their allegiance to the Sha b cistance
into communication with the Sikh Sardars and encouraged them in Sihrab of the
to Shah Zamin. In this same year the verse was scribbled og/
Royal Masjid in the Bala Hisar of Kabul.—Hist. of Bahawal

8
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Kban,
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set out with forty-one followers to make his attempt on Kandahar ;
travelling by way of Seistan.

When the party had reached Tagrish Fath Khan separated himself
from Shah Mahmud and went off to the Helmand, to raise the Barak-
zai clansmen. The fort of Girishk was empty, and Mahmud and
his followers seized it and made it a rendezvous for the malcontents of
the country. Shahnawaz Khan Barakzai, who was in Kandahar,
urged Mahmud to make his attempt on that city before the road from
Kabul was free from snow, and reinforcements could be despatched by
Shah Zaman to strengthen the hands of his governor and adherents in
Kandahar. Mihr Ali Khan, Ishakzai, having perceived that Mahmud
was gaining strength, moved out of Kandahar at the head of 5,000
horse and foot to break up the forces of the pretender, but was defeat-
ed at Bagh-i-Hurmuz, to the south of Kushk-i-Nakhua, and shut
bimself up in Kandahar. After a blockade of forty-two days Fath
Khan effected an entrance, being aided by some of the Farsiwian
inhabitants. Mihr Ali Khan put to death Imam Baksh Khan, and
Hasan Khan, who were the cause of this treachery, and fled from
Kandahar, carrying the news of the fall of the city to Shah Zaman in
Peshawar. The Shah abandoned his projected enterprise in the
Punjab and hurried back towards Kandahar. From Ghazni he senton
ahead, with 10,000 horse, Sardar Ahmad Khan Nurzai. Mahmud
had levied a forced contribution of money from the merchants of
Kandahar, and having enlisted men, advanced to meet his brother.
A battle was fought between Mukur and Kalat-i-Ghilzai, which was
decided in Mahmud’s favour, by the desertion of the Nurzai Sardar
who had been estranged from Shah Zamain by the outrageous conduct
of his haughty Minister. Shah Zaméan retreated to Kabul and
endeavoured to raise a fresh army, but finding that his forces were
melting away he removed his treasures and stores, and retired to
Jalalabad, and summoned his brother Shuja, who was governor of
Peshawar to his aid. At this place he was able to collect the tribes-
¢nen of the Khaibar and the Yusufzais, and at the head of a great
h&thering of armed men he prepared to dispute the advance of
M‘!{lmud and Fath Khan. The Kazilbash inhabitants of Kabul,
whon the execution of Arsalin Khan had estranged from Shah
Zamgy,; delivered Kabul into the hands of Mahmud, and joined him in
armsyq.y his advance towards Jalalibad. At Ashpan, about thirty-six
miles ffbﬁ:’]alﬁlébid, Shah Zaman was utterly defeated ; and separated
from his fhﬂ{,\ he and Wafadar Khan passed the night in a ravine,
and the next'\yporning they made their way to the fort of Ashik, the
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Shinwari who had received many benefits from Shah Zamin. This
person received the fugitives with a great show of respect, but he
sent word secretly to Mahmud and prevented his guests leaving the
Fort. Shuja after the battle had a small band of followers at his
disposal, and he sent a hundred horsemen to bring in his brother.
Ashik, however, refused to give up the fugitives, and the party was
obliged to return to the Prince, with the news of his brother’s capture
and detention by Ashik.

Shah Zamian had on his person valuable jewels set with gems
of great price. One of these was the famous Koh-i-Nur diamond
and another was the equally celebrated ruby, known as Fakhraj.
When he found that the treacherous Shinwiari had made him a
prisoner, the Shah resolved that neither of these gems should
fall into hig hands, nor into his brother’s keeping. The diamond
he concealed in a crack in the walls of his chamber and the ruby
he threw into a deep irrigation channel. Mahmud, on learning of
the detention of his brother and Wafadar Khan, despatched a brother
of Fath Khan, Barakzai, to take over the Shah and his Minister
dfrom Ashik, and he condemned Shah Zaman to undergo the same
punishment which the latter had inflicted on his brother Humayun,
and the unfortunate Shah Zaman had his sight destroyed by the ap-
plication of a heated skewer to his eyes. Wafadar Khan and his
brother were put to death by Fath Khan in retaliation for the death of
Sarfariz Khan (Payandah Khan) Barakzai, and Zaman Khan Bamizai,
in retaliation for the death of Hazir Khan, brother of Muhammad
Akram Khan, who had been executed by the former while deputy
governor of Herat.

The defeat at Asﬁpén took place in the summer of 18or. Shah
Zaman was barely 32 years of age when his sight was destroyed.
He lived to a good old age and died in Ludhiana, a pensioner on the
bounty of the East India Company. He had several sons, none of
whom, however, displayed any talent, or distinguished themselves in
the events that took place in Afghanistan. Those that were living at
the time when the Sadozais were driven from Afghanistan, swelled the
number of the Afghan refugees in Ludhiana and shared the stipend
allotted for their support.

Mahmud was a very different man to the brother whom he
dethroned and he did not merit the good fortune to which the
mistakes of his brother caused him to attain. Inhim animal appe-
tites v ere combined with ferocity and the indulgence of his animal
desires was all he lived for, after he gained the means to allow
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of their gratification. When a revolution of fortune’s wheel haq
placed him at the mercy of the incensed and vengeful Shuja-ul-
Mulk, it was due to the personal and vehement intercession of the
blind Shah Zamian that Shuja consented to relinquish the right of
retaliation, the exercise of which national customs would have
justified and his religion have sanctioned: Mahmud’s sight was
spared through the noble generosity of the brother whom he had
irreparably injured.

NOTE.

On arriving in Seistan, on his way towards Kandahar, Mahmud was recejved
with open arms by Malik Bahram Khan, Kaiini, the ruler of that country. The
latter gave his daughter to Prince Kamrin, and equipped Mahmud's party, but
his offer to assist Mahmud with the levies of Seistan, in his enterprise agaipst
Shah Zamin, was rejected on Fath Khan's advice.

While the former was at Peshawar he despatched a force of 15,000 men under
Mulla Abmad and Mir Weis to reinstate his authority in Kashmir. The services
of these troops would have been invaluable in his struggle with Mahmud.
Owing to the imprudence of Mulla Ahinad, the troops dispersed before arriving
in Kashmir.

Another highly imprudent act, at this time, was the severe punishment dealt
to Abdullah Khan Alakozai, the Governor of Kashmir, who had visited the Court
in Peshawar, On receiving news of his brother’s ill-treatment, Saidal Khan, and
the Alakozai clan, al once declared for Mahmud.—(Elphinstone’s Cabool II.;
321 ef seq.)

The father of Wafadir Khan had come from Multan to the court of Timur
Shah and had been appointed to an office near the person of the King, Wafadar
Khan and the future King had been boys together, and the friendship which had
grown up between them in boyhcod and the compact of parpetual friendship the
youths had ratified was never brokea. When Shah Zamin ascended the throne
his comrade’s advancement was assured and the latter was supported loyally by
his master who placed implicit confidence in him, and both were involvedin a
common destruction.

Shah Zamin died in exile and was buaried in a graveyard, to which a peculiar
sanclity is attached, near the town of Sirbind, now in the Patial State.

In this reign the Mint-towns were: Lahore, Bhakkar (Sind), Ahmad Shihi
Dera, Kabul, Peshawar, Derajat and Multan,

His successors (1) Shuja V, (2) Mahmud had money coined at—
(1) Ahmad Shahi, Bahawalpur, Derajat, Multan.

(2) Bahawalpur, Ahmad Shahi, Herat, Bhakkar (Sind), Peshawar, Multan,
Derajat, and Ahmadpur (the old capital of the Bahawalpur State).

Jour. As. Soc. Bengal, Vol. V, No. 8, Numismatic Supplement, August 1909.



CHAPTER XIII.

SHAH MAHMUD AND SHAH SHUJA-UL-MULK-—THE DOWNFALL
OF THE SADOZAI DYNASTY AND THE RISE OF
THE MUHAMMADZAIS TO POWER.

sovereign’s camp and treasure amounting to two crores of
rupees, fell into the conqueror’s hands. The money was
divided among his followers by Mahmud. On the 23th of
July 1801, he was proclaimed King in Kabul, and assumed the title of
“Shah Mahmud. To Fath Khan Barakzai, was assigned the Vaziership,
with the honorific title of Shah Dost Khan, but in his case the title has
completely disappeared and he is famous in the history of his country
as plain Fath Khan, or with the prefix of Vazier. The other Chiefs

! FTER the overthrow of Shah Zaman at Ashpan, the defeated

also were fittingly rewarded.

Shah Shuja marched from Peshawar on the 2oth September 1801 to
make ap attempt to gain the throne ; but again on the field of Ashpan,
he was a second time defeated, and on this occasion he was deprived
of Peshawar. He struck across the hills following byepaths, till
he reached the Gwalarai (or Gomal) Pass and entered the country
of the Ghilzais at the head of 200 horse and 3oo foot soldiers.

Haji Prince Firuzdin had separated from his brother in Persia, and
had made the Pilgrimage to the Holy Cities of Islam. After his
return, he had settled down in Yazd as a business man; but when
Shah Mahmud had removed Shah Zamin from the throne, Prince
Kaisar, whom the latter had left to govern Herat, was deposed, and
Haji Prince Firuzdin was summoned from Yazd and installed in the

citadel of Herat.
Almost as soon as he had ascended the throne, Mahmud was con-
frgnted with a general rising of the Ghilzais, who considered the opportu-

nity too good to be neglected, for attempting to assert their claims to

supremacy in Afghanistan. One of their Chiefs was raised by the
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clan to the diginity of their King. This quarrel dragged on for some
time, but the Ghilzais were reduced to subjection in the end, ag with
their wretched weapons, and lack of cohesion they were not a match i,
the open field for the Duranis, who were better armed, had the
advantage of possessing artillery, and were led by experienced com.
manders. The Ghilzais had been loyal to Shah Zamain, and the rising
may have been connected with the attempts to recover Kabul made
by Shuja-ul-Mulk ; but, if so, the movement was badly timed and did
not have the effect of creating a diversion in his favour. It will be as
well to enter into details, in this place, as the particulars of the Ghilzaj

rising show the attitude of this powerful section of the people towards
the Durani Sovereigns.

Muhammad Amin Khan whom Timur Shah had made Chief of the
Tokhi division of the Ghilzais, and also governor of Kafﬁt, and who
was killed in the expedition to Kashmir, left three sons, named
in order of seniority : Wali Muhammad Khan, Fath Khan, and Mir
Alam Khan. On the accesssion of Shah Zaman, he gave to the first-
named the title of Wali Niamat Khan and the chiefship of the Tokhis.
Owing to his tender years, Mauladad Khan (Musa Khel) was appoint-
ed his deputy. In the account of the reign of Ahmad Shah Abdali,
it has been mentioned, that Allahyar Khan Ghilzai was called from
Persia and put to death ; and that his son Rahmat-ullah Khan escaped
with Muhammad Amin Khan to the Suleman Khel country. Rahmat-
ullah had a son who became famous. His name was Sha’budin.
The Amin-ul-Mulk, a Babi Afghan and an official of Shah Zaman,
fell out with Wali Niamat Khan, and the former took up Sha’budin
and brought him into notice, and a split was thus caused among
the tribes, part siding with one and part with the other. Kalat
was at times in the hands of one faction and at other times, in the
possession of the other. In one of the many skirmishes that took
place Mauladad, deputy of the young Tokhi Chief was slain. Wali
Niamat Khan was killed in a skirmish with some robbers, who had
plundered a caravan bound for Kabul in which there were some horses
belonging to Shah Zamaian. At.the head of a few of his Yessawals,
the Chief attempted to arrest the robbers, who had taken to the hills.
He was killed in the attack and his corpse was carried to Kalat and
buried in his father’s grave. Fath Khan, his next brother, soon after
avenged Wali Niamat Khan'’s death on these very persons. Fa‘th
Khan also had taken up his brother’s quarrel with Sha’budin, and they

were engaged in this when war broke out between the Ghilzais and the
Duranis.
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The course of events at this period suggested to the Ghilzais that
it was a good opportunity to declare their independence, and to make
an attempt to establish a Ghilzai Kingdom. Abdur Rahman Khan,
Hotaki was declared King and Sha'budin(Shahab-ud-din) his Vazier, the
hearty co-operation of the latter being secured by the former giving his
daughter Sahib Jan to the latter (with whom, when in her father’s house
he had been in love),the wife of the defeated,and (now)blindShah Zaman
(to whom she had borne Princes Nasar and Mansur), with all her jewels,
handsome carpets, and household effects. Sha’budin was left to stop
communications on the high roads, while Abdur Rahman went off to-
wards Kabul to raise the Suleman Khel. Troops were despatched from
Kabul, and the Ghilzais were defeated ; the tribe of Ibrahim Ghilzais
losing 5,000 to 6,000 men. Abdur Rahman retired on Kalat, and a
force of Du.anis having marched from Kandahar, the Ghilzais left their
strong position on the hill to meet them (Fath Khan had already gone
over to the Duranis). The battle was fought between Jaldak and
Umakai, on the ridge called in Persian Tapa-i-Surkh, and in Pashtu
Sur Ghar. The Ghilzais were defeated, the Tokhis losing 700 to 8oo

“men. The Hotakis being chiefly horsemen, escaped comparatively
unscathed. Winter put an end to hostilities. This year 1802 is still
remembered by the Ghilzais as the ‘‘Sal-i-Katal” or the year
of the massacre. The Chiefs on the Ghilzai side were Abdur Rah-
man Khan, Hotaki, and Sha’budin Tokhi; those on the Durani
side were Abdul Majid Khan, Barakzai; Saidal Khan, Alakozai;
Azim Khan, Popalzai; Shadi Khan, Achakzai and Samandar Khan,
Bamizai,

In the ensuing spring, Ahmad Khan, Nurzai, marched with an
army from Kabul. On his arrival at Hulan Rabat, the Jallilzai
Tokhis under Mulla Zafran, a descendant of Sultan Malakhe, opposed
him, but were defeated with a loss of 600 men. Ahmad Khan
proceeded to Kandahar, and brought out a large force of Duranis
with guns. This time the Tokhis under Sha'budin Khan and Fath
Khan kept to the hill of Kalat, and every attempt of the Duranis to
dislodge them failed. The latter then determined to attack the women

and children of the Ghilzais in the Arghandab Valley where they had
Openly boasting of their intention, they

been sent away for safety.
The

informed Dara Khan one of the Ghilzai Chiefs of their plan.
latter hastened by a short cut and was in time to protect the camp of

trte families by a Sangar. After three repulses, the Duranis carried

the position, and put all the women and the children to death. The

Duranis lost 100 men.
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This was the last battle fought between the Ghilzais and Duranis,
Abdur Rahman and Sha’budin retired to the Mamai hills. Shuja-ul-
Mulk had also taken refuge in the Kakar country, where he organised
a powertul faction which Sha'budin and Fath Khan Babakarzai joined,
as well as Shukru-llah Khan, son of Abdur Rahman Khan, Hotaki,
when Shuja recovered the throne, the Chiefs attended on him, byt
Sha’budin never did as long as he lived, for which the Shah never forgave
him. Hearing that this Chief had built a fort in Nawak, Gulistan Khan
(Achakzai), governor of Peshawar, was despatched to destroy it
Fath Khan Babakarzai accompanied him. On entering the Nawak
district, so certain was the Achakzai Chief that Sha'budin would shut
himself up in his fort, that he accepted Fath Khan’s invitation to his
place at Samiyat. Sha’budin getting intelligence of this sallied out
with his cavalry and fell on the Duranis as they were carelessly strag-
gling on to the end of the stage, routed the cavalry, killed the artillery
men, burnt the gun carriages and spiked the guns, which remained
there all the winter. Next spring, Sohbat Khan Popalzai was despatched
trom Kabul with a force, he recovered and mounted the guns and made
use of them for several days without effect against the fort walls, which”
remained entire until they were destroyed by British Sappers in the
autumn of 1839.

Sha'budin and Fath Khan for along time were at enmity, and were
played off by the tribe against each other. The quarrel was consider-
ably increased by Sha’budin Khan’s brother Mir Muhammad (long
remembered as a bold warrior), being killed by Fath Khan in the district
of Khakah. This enmity continued unabated until the death of Fath
Khan (the rival chiefs had generally two or three fights every season of
harvest). On the death of Fath Khan, Sha'budin made the usual
mourning visit to his son, Samad Khan, and the long standing quarrel
was made up. Samad Khan married a daughter of Sha’budin Khan,
giving one of his own daughters in return to Mansur Khan, grandson of
Sha’budin ; and thus the blood feud was healed.

Shuja-ul-Mulk reached the Ghilzai country shortly after this move-
ment had come to an end. He was welcomed by the clan and helped
on his way towards the south ; and he married the daughter of Fath
Khan. He passed the winter in the district in which Quetta (now)
stands, and made an abortive attempt to take Kandahar. Defeated
in his designs, Shuja-ul-Mulk retired to the Bori Valley, on the confines
of the Derajat ; and tried to dispose of a small part of his jewels ¥n
order to raise funds. He was joined by Prince Kaisar and Madad Khan.
From the Bori Valley Shuja had been sending letters to those he
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considered his friends in Kabul to excite them against Mahmud. He
at the same time began to work his way northwards through the
mountains, with proceeds of the sale of the gems. In course of time,
he reached the Zurmat country, and he bestowed a few of his jewels
on the leading Ghilzai chiefs in order to raise men for service with him.

Meanwhile, events had been taking place which resulted in his
favour. A dissolute member of the Shiah community in Kabul had
abducted a boy belonging to a Suni family. A serious riot broke out,
the Sunis and Shiahs seized their weapons, and severe fighting
took place in Kabul on the 4th and 5th June 1803. The ranks of the
Sunt faction were reinforced by the people living in the surrounding
country, and Mahmud from motives of policy, and his Vazieralso, had to
intervene on behalf of the Shiahs who were in danger of being exter-
minated. T#e Sunis called in Shuja who marched from the Zarmat
country to Altimur, where he was welcomed by a deputation * who
brought him to Kabul (13th July 1803). The Vazier Fath Khan was
absent in the Hazara country collecting revenue ; and Shah Mahmud?
shut himself up in the Bala Hisar. An effort to relieve him made by
“the Vazier failed, Mahumud surrendered and was imprisoned. It was
at first proposed to destroy his sight, but the pleadings of Shah Zaman
induced Shuja to forego his intention. Prince Haidar, a son of Shah
Zaman, with 6,000 armed men, recovered Kandahar, and Mahmud’s
son, Prince Kamran, escaped to Farah ; and the Vazier to the Tobabh,
a tract in the hills to the north of modern Quetta.

A Persian army also laid siege to Herat, but after a forty days’ in-
effectual blockade, they were bought off and retired in 1807-08.

Shuja-ul-Mulk pardoned the Vazier Fath Khan who was induced
to make his submission, but he took to flight not long after.

Shuja assumed the title of Shah Shuja. One of his first acts was
the punishment of Ashik, the Shirani, who was blown from a gun in
Kabul. The Koh-i-Nur and the ruby, Fakhraj were also recovered.

Prince Kaisar, son of Shah Zaman, had been induced by Vazier
Fath Khan to revolt in Kandahar, but he was defeated.

After settling the affairs of Kandahar, the Shah entered Sind at
the head of a large army and recovered about 20 lakhs of rupees

in settlement of arrears of revenue. From Shikarpur the Shah

marched towards Peshawar, and from that place he proceeded to
Kabul where he passed the summer. In the autumn, an expedition
whs despatched to Kashmir, where the governor had proclaimed his

! The deputation of notables was headed by the Mukhtar-ud-daulah.
? See Appendix III.
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independence. The court moved to winter quarters in Peshawar
where the expedition returned, having proved successful, leaving ;
governor in the valley. Shuja-ul-Mulk had no peace. Kandahar wag
taken by Prince Kamran, and retaken by the Shah. The Vazier Fath
Khan again submitted to the Shah, and a second time fled from his
court and joined Prince Kamran. The escape of his brother Mahmud
and the other princes from the Bala Hisar produced further complica-
tions. The Chief Priest of Kabul was the moving spirit of the plot,
and one Muhammad Ali, a tailor, was the instrument by which it was
carried out. This man had been employed in the citadel, and he
became acquainted with Prince Mahmud in the course of his daily
avocations. Muhammad Ali by some means succeeded in setting the
Princes free. He concealed Mahmud in his own house in the City,
while the other Princes found shelter elsewhere. After some days,
when the hue and cry had subsided, and it was comparatively safe to
travel, horses were provided by the Chief Priest, and Mahmud and his
liberator set out from Kabul. Travelling with circumspection and by
unfrequented paths, the fugitives eventually made their way to Farah,
where they found Prince Kamran and the Vazier Fath Khan Barakzai..

Prince Kaisar, who now governed Kabul, incited by the Mukhtar-
ud-daulah®, rebelled and attempted to seize Peshawar, and very nearly
was successful (3rd March 1808). No sooner had this movement been
put down than news was brought that Mahmud had seized Kandahar.
Shah Shuja hastened to that city, and Mahmud and Fath Khan retired
to Farah. The Shah went on to Sind, and was on his way northwards
through the Derajat, when he heard from Bahawalpore of the advance
of the British Mission under the Hon’ble Mountstuart Elphinstone. He
hurried on to Peshawar to make preparations to receive the Mission.
As soon as Shah Shuja had reached Peshawar, 10th of January, he set
to work to collect as many men as possible for a great attempt on
Kashmir where his governor had rebelled. The Shah’s Vazier com-
manded the expedition.

The Mission which was despatched by Lord Minto, the Governor-
General, arrived in Peshawar on the 25th of February. It was the
beginning of official relations between the State of Afghanistan and
the British Government, and the reasons for its despatch were the same
as those which had prompted the Mission to Persia of Sir John
Malcolm. The suspected intentions of Napoleon with regard to
the middle east.

! In revenge for not receiving the Vazierate, he was killed in battle at Doaba,
near Peshawar, where Kaisar was routed.

-
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The expedition to Kashmir was a complete failure. The Vazier
Akram Khan was very unpopular with his men, and in addition he had
offended the Chief of Muzaffarabad, and whether owing to the road
being blocked by snow, or the resentment of the Chief, the royal troops
were unable to advance and the Vazier, in fear of being seized by his
own men and delivered to the enemy, took to flight and reached Pesha-
war, where news of the reverse had arrived on the 23rd of April. Only
some 2,000 men of the whole army returned in an evil plight to that
place. To add to the Shah’s perplexities news arrived that Mahmud
had taken Kabul. A general panic prevailed in Peshawar. The King
was at his wit’s end to raise money, and the Vazier refused to lend or
give his master any part of the hoards he had inherited from his father
and had added to himself. Akram Khan,Bamizai,was a brave man, but
his avarice, Gaughty and irritable disposition had rendered him gene-
rally unpopular, and his action in denying his Sovereign pecuniary assis-
tance was inexplicable as their interests were identical. There was also
a personal animosity existing between the Vazier Fath Khan and Akram
Khan, which had determined the former to finally join Mahmud.

4

As it was not the policy of the British Government to take any
part in the civil war, Lord Minto recalled the Mission, which left
Peshawar on the 14th June 1809. The Royal Harem, and the Royal
Treasure, was also sent with it for safety to Rawalpindi. Shah Shuja’s
efforts to raise an army proved successful, and the prestige he had
acquired by the stay at Peshawar of the Mission had put his affairs
into a highly prosperous condition. Some 14,000 men with artillery
collected under his standard.

Shah Mahmud had marched from Kandahar, and Kabul had again
been surrendered to him by the Kazzilbash tribes out of gratitude for
the efforts made on their behalf, in the struggle with the Sunis. The
governor of the city, Ahmad Khan, Nurzai, had also joined Mahmud
with the garrison. From Kabul Shah Mahmud marched towards
Jalalabad and Shah Shuja set out from Peshawar to meet him.

Treachery was rife in both camps. Alim Khan, Nurzai Sardar,
had been instrumental in gaining possession of Kandahar, but at
Kabul, owing to his attitude towards the Vazier, the latter had be-
come suspicious of the Sardar’s fidelity. Notwithstanding the fact
that the Nurzai Chief was his son-in-law, Fath Khan determined
to remove him ; especially as Alim Khan was leagued with other
Diurani Chiefs who might be expected to follow him if he deserted.
The Vazier recommended that this Chief should be executed; and
when their camp was pitched on a ravine between Jagdalak and
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Surkhpul, Alim Khan was put to death, and the locality has ever
since been known as Alim Khan Kushta, the place where Alim Khag
was executed.

On Shah Shuja’s side, his baggage master had been bought by
the Vazier Fath Khan, and had promised to act in a treacherous
manner in return for a large sum of money. Madad Khan, the Sardar
of the Ishakzais, also hated Shuja’s Vazier, Akram Khan, and wag
only waiting for a favourable opportunity to go over to Mahmud,
After the troops had passed the Khaibar and were approaching
Jalalabad Shah Shuja’s baggage master, in charge of the tents and
baggage sent in advance, instead of forming the camp at Jalalabad,
as he had been ordered, carried them to Nimla, thirty miles beyond
that place. When Shah Shuja on an August morning set out from Ali
Boghan, six miles to the east of Jalalabad, and did not fisd his camp at
that place he became suspicious. The commander of his advanced
troops also sent back alarming accounts of the Ishakzai Sardar's
demeanour, which proved him to be in communication with the
enemy. The Shah and his Vazier, Akram Khan, hastened on with their
troops and eventually reached Nimla. At this place, about midway
between Peshawar and Kabul, there was a famous old garden. It had
been a stage on the Royal Route from Peshawar, and inside the
garden, which was square, there were magnificent Plane trees and
Cypresses. There were four raised platforms of masonry for the
purpose of pitching tents, surrounded by great cypress trees planted
at equal intervals.?

Late in the day while the Shah’s troops fatigued after their long
march were straggling into camp and putting up their tents,
they were surprised by Vazier Fath Khan at the head of a smaller
force of fresh troops. Taken at a disadvantage, notwithstanding
their greater numbers, Shah Shuja’s men were completely routed.
Their Sovereign’s guns, baggage, and a part of his treasury were
lost, and he was compelled to take to flight. A dramatic incident took
place during the confused struggle. Akram Khan, Shuja’s Vazier,
encountered Fath Khan. The former was armed with a double
barrelled gun of a modern pattern, one of the presents made by the
Head of the Mission a few months before. The former levelled the
piece at Fath Khan and discharged both barrels; but one of the
clansmen of the Vazier spurred his horse in front of his Chieftain and
received the bullets destined for the latter and fell dead. In the meat-

1 Shah Jahan in the 17th century encamped here. [t wasa stageonthe Royal
Road from Delhi and Peshawar to Kabul, and ordered the garden to be laid
out. It sfill exists.
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time another man of the Barakzai clan fired his pistol point blank at
Akram Khan, who fell off his horse a corpse. The head of his Vazier
raised on a spear and displayed before his men completed the discom-
fiture of Shah Shuja. He made his way to the south, and though
he was put in possession of Kandahar four months later, he was unable
to retain it, and was forced to retire to the Punjab by the Gomal Pass.
After an interview at Sahiwal' with Ranjit Singh, the Shah pro-
ceeded to Rawalpindi, where he joined his family. Here he rested for
a year.

Mahmud was now Kking, but his reign was devoid of much
importance. The Vazier carried on the government and Mahmud
abandoned himself to self-indulgence, and gradually resigned his
authority to his minister. In 1811 a meeting was brought about by the
latter between Shah Mahmud and Ranjit Sing.h, while the Shah was
proceeding (3r was being taken by the Vazier) to Sind to re-assert
Afghan supremacy.

Vazier Fath Khan again met Ranjit Singh, and it was arranged
that the latter was to permit the Afghans to march by the Bhimbar
jyoute to Kashmir, and aid them in taking possession of the valley
in the name of Shah Mahmud; in return for this assistance one-
third of the revenue was to be paid to Ranjit Singh. In the previous
year Shah Shuja had been made a prisoner by Jahandad Khan, whom
he had placed in the fort at Attock as his representative. From that
place the Shah was carried to Kashmir, where the governor, Ata
Muhammad Khan, had detained him in confinement for 1z months.
When the latter was conquered in February 1813, Vazier Fath Khan
handed Shuja over to the Sikhs, by whom he was forwarded to
Lahore. Attock was shortly after surrendered to the Sikhs, and Vazier
Fath Khan, aided by his brother Dost Muhammad, was defeated in
Chach, in an action fought on the 13th July 1813.

Vazier Fath Khan had left his brother Azim Khan to rule Kash-
mir, and the stipulation regarding the division of the revenue having
been disregarded, a Sikh Army invaded Kashmir, but sustained a
crushing defeat.

In Lahore, Shah Shuja, under pressure, had been constrained to
part with the Koh-i-Nur diamond to Ranjit Singh for a consideration.
He was nevertheless guarded carefully and kepta prisoner in his
quarters. In December 1814 the flight of the ladies of the Royal
Harem with the crown jewels to Ludhiana was successfully accom-
plished. Shortly after, the ex-Shah himself eluded the vigilance of his

1 On the Jhelum river.
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guards, and slipped out of Ranjit Singh’s hands. With the ajd of the
Raja of Kishtwar he very nearly succeeded in an attempt on Kashmir,
but was driven back by exceptionally severe weather. After a variety
of adventures, he reached Ludhianah in 1816, where he joined his
family and the blind Shah Zaman. The allowance of 18,000 rupees
originally assigned for the maintenance of the refugees, per annum,
was raised to 50,000 rupees after Shah Shuja arrived. His minor
and unsuccessful efforts against Shah Mahmud merit no description,
and leaving him for the present in Ludhianah, it will be useful to return
to the course of events in Afghanistan.

Fath Khan, the Vazier, was apparently very zealous in his mas-
ter’s interest, but in effect he was strengthening his own influence
by providing his numerous brothers with governorships of Provinces,
and also amassing great wealth himself. [t is doubtfe! if this wily
chieftain had ever forgiven the Sadozais for the execution of his
father, but in the indolent voluptuary Mahmud he found a useful
and most convenient stalking horse by means of which the right to
the government of the Barakzais (of which their remote ancestor
had been cozened) might be restored. Shuja’s overweening conceit;
autocratic bearing, and his persistent bad luck, coupled with the vices
of Mahmud and his profligate son Kamrian, were fast alienating the
last of the adherents which the Sadozais possessed. So long as
Mahmud enjoyed the means of gratifying his appetites and was not
worried, the Vazier was allowed to do as he pleased.

Prince Kamran, however, took a different view of the situation. He~
can best be described as a human tiger. A debauchee of the worst
type, there ran through his disposition a strong vein of ferocity and
cruelty. On occasions, during his early manhood, he displayed deter-
mination and the courage of his race; but in later years, after
all avenues of action had been closed to him, he became a tyrannical
ruler, and gave himself up to horrible vices.

Haji Prince Firuz-ud-din, who ruled over Herat, was suspected of
aiming at independence, and it became necessary to take order with
him. In 1817 the Vazier set out for Herat accompanied by Shah
Mahmud and Prince Kamran. On this occasion so lavish was the
Vazier in his expenditure that, although the expedition did not last
more than six months, he is said to have disbursed ninety-six lakhs of
rupees in advances to the soldiers and in presents to chiefs in his
master’s train. Such an expenditure of money alone would have ren-
dered the Afghans glad to make Fath Khan their king. Mahmud
waited at Kandahar with his son, while the Vazier went ahead to make
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sure of Herat. Prince Firuz-ud-din had reason also to apprehend a
serious attack on Herat by the Persians as Husen Ali Mirza, son of
Shah Fath Ali, was assembling his forces in Meshed. Firuz-ud-din
nevertheless would not admit the Vazier’s troops into the city. The
latter pretended to acquiesce, but he set intrigues on foot, which
resulted in the city and the citadel also being delivered up to him as
well as the Prince himself. It was reported to the Vazier that the
Prince’s treasures were concealed in the apartments of the harem ;
but the sanctity of these chambers did not save them -from spoliation.
Dost Muhammad is said to have conducted this operation with very
scant ceremony and to have roughly handled Rokya Begum, the wife
of Malik Kasim (son of Firuz-ud-din), who was Shah Mahmud’s daugh-
ter. Dost Muhammad was compelled to disgorge some of the plunder he
was said to have obtained. At any rate, he fell out with his brother,
and left him, having decided to join Azim Khan in Kashmir. On his
way from Herat, he met Mahmud and Kamran, and paid his respects
to them for the last time.

Meanwhile, the Persians had commenced their march on Herat,
and the Vazier, aided by his brothers Purdil Khan and Kohandil Khan,
advanced against them, and at the end of 1817, an action was fought at
Kafir Kala between the opposing forces, in which the Persians were
defeated, but in the moment of victory, Fath Khan was struck in the
face by a spent bullet and fell off his charger. This accident disheart-
ened his men who, regardless of their success, broke and fled. When
Fath Khan regained his senses, he learned that his army had dispersed.
He returned to Herat and found that Mahmud and Kamran had arrived,
and were in camp in the garden known as the Bagh-i-Zaghin : there
he repaired and paid his respects to his sovereign and the heir apparent.

The latter matured his plans to overthrow the Minister, whom he
feared, and of whose influence he was jealous. His father, Mahmud,
was won over to agree to this scheme. The Vazier was summoned to
the private apartments of the Shah, on the pretence of discussing the
affairs of Malik Kasim, son of Haji Prince Firuz-ud-din. As soon as the
Vazier appeared, he was seized, and a red-hot needle applied to his
eyeballs destroyed his sight.” As soon as it was known that the
Vazier had been arrested, Sardars Purdil, Kohandil,and Sherdil Khans
and other brothers of Fath Khan, with their clansmen, effected their
escape, and evading Kamran's myrmidons, they took the road to
Kandahar, They assembled at the fort of Nad Ali on the Helmand river
which the Barakzais had acquired by purchase. The father of the

! At the instigation of Ata Muhammad, son of the late Mukhtir-ud-daulah,
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Vazier left twenty-one sons, so there was no lack of persons to carry
on the blood feud with the Sadozais.

Sardar Azim Khan, in Kashmir, as soon as he heard of the affair,
despatched his younger brother Dost Muhammad as his advance
guard towards Kabul, and followed him in person to Peshawar. Iy
the first flush of his rage he sent from Kashmir a Koran, to which he
had affixed his seal, inviting Shah Shuja to occupy the throne. Owing
to his strained relations with Ranjit Sing, the ex-King was unable to
take the direct road to Peshawar, and he was compelled to make a wide
detour by the Derajat. He overcame the Governor of Dera Ghazi
Khan and took possession of that town, where he found two field pieces.
The news of Shah Shuja’s success brought several of the late Vazier's
brothers to his side, including Sardar Purdil Khan, the brother ; and
Sarbuland Khan, the son of the blinded Vazier. In the meantime, how-
ever, Sardar Muhammad Azim Khan, on arrival in Peshawar, had dis-
covered.a tool more suited to his purpose in Prince Ayub (another son of
Shah Zaman). As soon as Shah Shuja appeared on the scene he was
attacked by the Barakzai, and after a severe conflict at the garden of Ali
Mardan Khan, the ex-King was defeated and once more a fugitive
After hiding for two months among the hills of the Khaibar, he made
his way south to Shikarpur, where his son Prince Timur was
governor. He remained there a full year and more, and had begun
to raise troops, having made a compact with the Amirs of Sind for
help in his enterprise.

After they had worked their will on the Vazier, Shah Mahmud*
and his son Kamran left Herat in charge of Prince Seif-ul-Muluk, and’
taking their captive with them, they made for Kandahar with the
utmost possible speed. Kabul was held by Prince Jahangir, Kamran's
son, with Ata Muhammad Khan, son of the Mukhtar-ud-daulah
as his tutor and adviser. The latter had been deprived of the govern-
ment of Kashmir, and in consequence he was no friend of the
Sadozais. Dost Muhammad had reached Jalalabad, and the sulky
Ata Muhammad invited him to seize the capital. Although Dost
Muhammad gained the City, Prince Jahangir held the Bala Hissar,
staunchly supported by the Kazilbash tribes.® The regular garrison
of Arabs and Abyssinian guards also were loyal. Dost Muhammad
made strenuous efforts to capture the citadel. A mine was sprung

1 Ata Muhammad was seized by Dost Muhammad, his sight was destroyed b)’ Pir
Muhammad, son of the Vazier.

See App. IV. Relations between the Afghans and Persians in 1816-17,
which led to the downfall of Vazier Fath Khan, Barakzai, and of the Sadozais.
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under the western bastion, which, however, was not completely
wrecked, but an assault on the breach was repulsed with heavy loss.
At the end of forty days, as no help arrived, Prince Jahangir with one
of his adherents escaped from the Bala Hisar, and fled by way of
Hindkai and joined Prince Kamran in Kandahar.

In 1818 Shah Mahmud gnd Prince Kamran led 39,000 good
troops from that city to attempt the recovery of Kabul. As the blind
Vazier refused to further their designs, the Prince resolved to get rid
of him; and in order to render their adherence to his father’s cause
beyond a doubt, he purposed that the Durani chiefs present in the
camp should decree the Vazier’s death, and also themselves execute
the sentence. At Saiadabad (47 miles from Kabul) they were
summoned to a council, presided over by Kamran, his meagre figure
rendered imgposing by scarlet robes, the ¢‘ vestments of wrath”, signi-
ficant of death. This attire sufficiently denoted Kamran’s fixed inten-
tion with regard to the blind Vazier, and also to any one in that council
who should dare to thwart him. He was not one who would
stick at trifles, and no one knew what the curtains of the council
‘tent may not have concealed. The assembled chiefs obsessed by the
venom of the Prince, in fear of their own lives—in dread of the searing
irons (used to destroy the sight); or the less terrible sabre of the
executioner, decreed the death of the Vazier, in accordance with the
instructions of the Prince. Orders were issued forthwith, and the
blind Fath Khan was led to the place of execution : round him the
Durani. chiefs took their stand. To each chief a certain stroke had
been assigned, swords were drawn, .and in a moment the victim fell
beneath their blows ; nothing could disturb his splendid fortitude,
and except the creed of Islam, and verses of the Koran relating to a
martyr's death, not a sound is said to have escaped his lips. After-
wards some reverent hands gathered up his mangled remains; they were
put into a sack and carried away, and decently interred at Ghazni.

Dost Muhammad Khan with two thousand regulars, four thousand
tribal levies and two field pieces took up a position at Chauki Ar-
ghandi, covering the approach to Kabul. Kamréan on arrival at Maidan,
two marches from the capital, heard that his enemy had strengthened
a naturally strong position with field works, and retracing his steps he
moved by Aobak into the district of Chaharasia, compelling his enemy
to take up a fresh position at Hindkai. The next day a partial action
wis fought, which terminated greatly in favour of Kimran. As theissue
was very doubtful a council of war assembled in Dost Muhammad's
tent, and it was decided to resort to the time-honoured ruse of sending
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concocted letters into the enemy’s camp, to suggest the idea of there
being traitors in his army. The blind Ata Muhammad, son of the late
Mukhtar-ud-Daulah, a known adherent of the Sadozais, was a prisoner
in Dost Muhammad’s hands, and he was compelled, on pain of instant
death, to indite the letters, which were sent by the Barakzai Chief bya
trusty messenger who was carefully instructed to allow himself to be
captured. The documents were seized and carried to Prince Kamran
and were regarded by him as genuine. Knowing that he was detested,
he dared not disregard them. He at once ordered the horses of the
Royal stables to be prepared for a journey, and without bidding his
chiefs farewell, he, with his father, and their personal followers, under
cover of darkness, left the camp and fled towards the south. The next
morning his chiefs were dismayed to find that their Sovereign had
abandoned a half-won victory, and they followed on his_footsteps.

At Shashgau, where Mahmud’s party had been compelled to rest,
he was overtaken by the remains of his army, and learned that he
had been deceived. With heavy hearts the fugitives continued their
course, hoping at Kandahar to be able to rally their men, and to
collect fresh troops. At Kalat-i-Ghilzai, 147 miles further on, they
heard that Kandahar had fallen. As soon as Kamran was out of the
way, Purdil Khan had appeared before the place and blockaded it.
The Governor refused to surrender until the result of the battle at
Kabul was known, and both parties waited to hear what would
happen. On the report of the flight of Mahmud from Kabul, Kandahar
was delivered to the Barakzais. .

The fugitives turned aside and entered the Derawat country where
they lingered till Kohandil Khan, Barakzai, was reported to be on the
march in their direction, with Malik Kasim, son of H3aji Prince Firuzdin
in his camp. Mahmud thereupon retired to Herat, where he was
allowed to maintain a degree of authority by the Barakzai Chiefs.

In the same year, the branch of the Sadozais who had governed Mul-
tan for about thirty years were deprived of their government by Ranjit
Sing, and the aged chieftain Muzaffar Khan died, sword in hand, on the
day in which the citadel of Multan was stormed by the Sikh fanatics.’

Thus came to an end the Sadozai Dynasty. The Barakzai Chiefs at
first made use of princelets of that family as puppets to conciliate any
adherents they might still possess, but very soon they were able to
dispense with this pretence, and as none of the princelets were men
of character or ability, they were allowed to sink into obscurity in
their own country, or they drifted away to Ludhiana.

-

1 2nd June 1818. Cunninghani's Hist. of the Sikhs.



CHAPTER XIV.

THE MuHaMMaDzAI AMIR OF KaBuL. Dost MunaMMAD BaRraKzAl,
AND RESTORATION OF SHAH SHUJA-UL-MULK.

AVING disposed of Shah Mahmud and Prince Kamran, the
Barakzai brethren became masters of Afghanistan. When
Muhammad Azim Khan arrived in Peshawar, he found just
the right person for his purpose in Prince Ayub, one of

,Shah Zamain’s sons, who was content to surrender his rights into the
Sardar’s hands, provided he was assured of the title of King and
enough for his pleasures. He was immediately made King, while
Azim Khan assumed the position of his Vazier. As he was the
eldest surviving brother of Fateh Khan, the other brothers acknow-
ledged Azim Khan’s authority as the head of the family. Dost
. Muhammad® in Kabul had set up his own puppet—Prince Sultan Ali
Sadozai—but h: was soon put aside ; and when Azim Khan reached
Kabul, Shah Ayub was advised to sanction his kinsman’s execution,
and he proved duly amenable.

Ranjit Singh took advantage of the condition of affairs in
Afghanistan to irvade Peshawar, but on this occasion he was content
to garrison Khairabad, on the right bank of the Indus, and opposite
Attock, so as to allow of his crossing the river whenever he wished to
do so without opposition. Kashmir also was too strong a temptation
to be withstood. On the s5th July a Sikh Army scaled the Passes, and
annexed the valley, and Nawab Jabbar Khan retired to Peshawar,
Rinjit Sing continued to nibble at the outskirts of Afghanistan, and
a few months later, Dera Ghazi Khan was attached, and in 1821 Dera
Ismail Khan became a part of the Sikh Chief’s dominions. In 1822

Yar Muhammad, another of the Barakzai brethren and Governor of

! As a boy he was employed in sweeping the famous Shrine of Mihtar Lam in
the Lamghan district. At the age of 14 ; he is said to have been taken up by his
brother Fateh Khan who employed him regularly afterwards.
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Pechawar, considered it advisable to propitiate the Sikh Ruler with.
the gift of some valuable horses.

In the meantime, Mubammad Azim Khan, the Vazier, carried hjg
puppet, Ayub, to Kandahar, and thence to Shikarpur, where Shuja-
ul-Mulk had collected 5,000 horsemen, some infantry, and ten guns,
The Amirs of Sind were anxious for him to leave Shikarpur, and
when Azim Khan was marching from Kandahar, the forces of Sind
threatened the fugitives’ communications with India. Shuja disbanded
his troops and retired to Ludhiana. Having removed this source of
danger, for Shuja had been for over a year in Shikarpur, raising
troops, and had been a rallying point for all who were ill-disposed
towards the Barakzais, Azim Khan turned his attention to Peshawar
and the Sikhs : he marched in person to that place. Ranjit Singh
crossed the Indus on the the 13th, and on the 14th March 1821 he
defeated the Barakzai chieftain in a pitched battle at Naushahro.
Peshawar was sacked, and the country up to the Khyber Pass was
overrun ; but the Sikh ruler was willing to allow Yar Muhammad to
retain the government of the place as his tributary. Azim Khan

retired towards Kabul after this defeat, but on the road he fell ill, and
died at Lataband.

The value of the estate left by the late Vazier was estimated at
three crores of rupees (43,000,000 sterling at that period). The
division of this property became an additional source of trouble. The
son of the deceased chief, named Habib-ullah Khan, was at once recog-
nised as chief of the clan. In the turmoil that prevailed no one paid
any attention to Shah Ayub, and he, finding his position to be an
impossible one, wisely made his way to Lahore. Ranjit pensioned
him till his death. The quarrels between the Barakzais grew to
such a pitch that the distracted inhabitants of Kabul threatened to kill
both Dost Muhammad and Purdil Khan, the leaders of the two
parties who were wrangling over the estate of the late Vazier.
Finally it was agreed that the whole of the property left by Azim Khan
should be retained by the brothers Purdil and Sherdil Khans, and
used to defray the cost of meeting foreign invasions. By the terms
of this compact, these Sardars secured nine-tenths of the lands and
revenues of Kandahar, The widow of the late Vazier was brought to
agree to this arrangement, it was believed, by being told that, if she
withheld her consent her only son, Habib-ullah, would be blown from
a gun. -

The other brothers held unequal shares of territory somewhat in the
(ollowing proportions. Jabbar Khan was given the Ghilzai country ;.
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Sultan and Yar Muhammad held Sukar, Lohgar, and one-half of
Kabul. The other half of Kabul, with the Kohistan, and the Koh
Daman, fell to the lot of Dost Muhammad. Jalalabad went to
Zaman Khan, a nephew, and Ghazni was assigned to Mubhammad
Khan, own brother of Dost Muhammad. In about two years’ time, the
latter appropriated the Ghilzai country, and the other share of Kabul.
Habib-ullah, who was a most unsatisfactory person, was turned out of
Kabul by his uncle, and joined Yar Muhammad in Peshawar, who
gave him an yearly allowance of 50,000 rupees (1824).

Neither Mahmud nor Kamran were in a position to intervene, and
the only other enemies likely to prove troublesome were Ranjit Singh,
and Shah Shuja. The English, with whom Dost Muhammad was
fated to come into intimate contact, at this period were regarded
by him, by *his brother who governed Peshawar—and before the
annexation of Kashmir by the Sikhs—by Jabbar Khan, in the light of
possible allies against the encroachments of Ranjit Singh. The death
of Mahmud in Herat in 1828, removed one source of danger.

In 1829 Yar Muhammad was defeated and mortally wounded by
the famous Ahmad Shah. This person is said to have been a member
of a Saiad family in Bareilly (United Provinces). He commenced life
as a follower of the notorious free lance and robber, Amir Khan ; but
when the latter settled down respectably as the Nawab of Tonk,
Ahmad Shah adopted a religious life, and attained great distinction as
apreacher. He left Delhiin 1826, and at the head of several hundreds
of followers, he passed through Sind to Kandahar, where he was
coolly received by the Barakzai Sardars. He then continued through
the Ghilzai country, and eventually in the year 1827, he crossed the
Kabul river into Panjtar in the Yusufzai country. The head of the
Panjtar family welcomed the arrival of the Saiad, as his following of
Ghazis formed a very useful reinforcement to the fighting men of that
district.

’

Although Saiad Ahmad Shah had defeated Yar Muhammad, he
was unable to seize Peshawar, owing to the presence of Sikh troops
under Sher Sing and General Ventura. In 1830, this religious teacher
was defeated by the Sikhs on the left tank of the Indus, and forced
torecross it. He succeeded in gaining possession of Peshawar, which
he handed back to Sultan Muhammad Khan Barakzai, on whom he
imposed a tribute. In May 1831 Ahmed Shah was surprised and
killed at Balakot by the Sikh troops. His popularity with the Yusut-
zais had declined before this happened, as he was accused of marrying
all the eligible heiresses in the country to his needy followers, and
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also on account of his lofty pretensions. His deputies were expelled
after his death, the Ghazis were dispersed by the tribesmen, and his
family was driven to find an asylum with his old master, the Nawab
of Tonk.*

After the death of Yar Muhammad, the wretched creature Habib-
ullah removed from Peshawar to Jalalabad, where his cousin Zaman
Khan gave him a home. Here, the former fell in love with one of the
ladies of his cousin’s harem, and in order to satisfy his ill-regulated
passions, he attempted to remove Zaman by poison. He was turned
cut of Afghan Territory, and he went off in a great rage, vowing he
would join Shah Shuja. By the time he had reached Dera Ismail
Khan, he became utterly insane, and signalized himself by murdering
several of his slave-girls. He either died, or was put away soon after.

In 1832 Sir Alexander Burnes passed through Kabsl on his well
known journey to Bokhara. His writings and those of his native
assistant, the Kashmiri Mohan Lall, have thrown considerable light
on the affairs of Afghanistan. Long before this, towards the end of
the 18th century, the adventurous Englishman Forster, had travelled
overland, through Afghanistan, on his way to Europe from Hindustan.'
In 1826 Mr. Stirling of the Bengal Civil Service had spent some time
in Afghanistan. In 1827 Masson drew attention to the antiquities he
had discovered in Afghanistan. In 1828 Mr. Fraser, a Bengal Civilian,
travelled in that country. He was followed in 1829 by the adventur-
ous American Dr. Harlan. Dr. Wolff, attracted by the traditions
of the Afghans, visited Kabul on his enterprising journey undertaken
with the object of preaching Christianity to the Jews of Bokhara. He
was disgusted with the Afghans, whose Jewish origin be appears
to have scouted as a fabrication.

In 1833 Shah Shuja made his best planned independent attack on
the supremacy of the Barakzais. He used his asylum in Ludhiana
as a base of operations. On the 17th of February he left that place,
and having come to an urderstanding with Ranjit Sing, the latter
advanced him a lakh of rupees. The Amirs of Sind had promised
their aid ; but when Shuja entered Sind they withdrew from their
promises. Shuja, who had placed his head-quarters outside the town
of Shikarpore, sent troops to seize Bhakkar, a romantic stronghold
on an island in the Indus ; and on the gth January 1834, the Sind

A

1 A remnant of his followers, however, clung to the hills and they were soon
after reinforced by Wahabi zealots from Bengal Behar, and the United Provinces.
Patna in Behar was the place of origin of these zealots and their doctrines.
These formed settlements, first at Sitana, and then at Malka, in the Buner country.
They assumed the name of Mujahidin or the Holy Warriors —a title which indicates
very sufficiently their attitude towards the Indian Government later on.

-
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troops were defeated with heavy loss about twelve miles from Rohvi,
the town on the left bank of the river and opposite Bhakkar. The
Amirs paid 5 lakhs of rupees (£ 50,000), which was a welcome addition
_to Shuja’s resources ; for he had several disciplined battalions, the
mainstay of his army, composed of Rohillas and other Hindustanis.
These were 6,000 strong and commanded by a Scotsman, Campbell,’
once an officer in the East India Company’s Army, and afterwards in
the Sikh Army. The pay of Shah Shuja’s troops amounted to about
a lakh a month.

The Barakzais offered no opposition to his advance, but shut
themselves up in the City of Kandahar, and asked Dost Muham-
mad to help them. Putting aside his quarrel with his brothers, the
latter responded to their appeal. At the end of two months, Shah
Shuja gave a.reluctant consent to an attempt to take the place by
storm. The attack was unsuccessful, and he lost his best men in the
assault. Dost Muhammad also was at hand, advancing rapidly to
the succour of the beleagured town. Shah Shuja abandoned his
good position, for another not so good among the gardens of Abbas-
4bad, to the west of Kandahar, which gave him an uninterrupted line
of retreat towards the west. Here he was attacked by the combined
forces of Kabul and Kandahar. The result of two days hard fighting
was favourable to the Shah, and quarrels had broken out among the
allied forces ; but in the hour of victory Campbell was severely wounded,
one of his guns burst and killed several men, and exploded a maga-
zine. A panic seized his Hindustani troops, which nothing could
allay (2nd June 1834); his men broke, and the Shah fled to Lash on
the shore of the Lake of Seistan. He disdained the proposal to seize
Herat and to deprive his nephew of the Province ; and he made his
way across the desert to Kalat, where he found a temporary shelter
with Mehrab Khan, and then through Jesalmir? on his way to
Ludhiana. Campbell was taken prisoner by Dost Muhammad and
took service with him. The title of Sher Mubammad, and the follow-
ing robes of an Afghan noble, concealed the identity of this gallant
adventurer. He commanded the Afghan troops in Balkh and the
districts beyond the Hindu-Kush, and is believed to have died in
1856-7—a Muhammadan.

The loss of Peshawar, which was taken on the 6th May‘ 1834, by
the Sikhs under the celebrated Hari Sing, was followed by a tender of

—_—

! According to some, he was of mixed parentage.

® Lieut, Boileau of the Bengal Engineers met Shah Shuja on the 2nd March
1835 at Koilath near Jesalmir.
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friendship made by Dost Muhammad to the Indian Government ; byt
the victory he won in July over Shah Shuja restored his confidence,
On the 11th of May 1835, he was obliged to retire from the presence of
a Sikh Army with the loss of two guns, and on the 3oth May 1837, the
Afghan troops under his eldest son, Muhammad Akbar, failed in their
attempt on Jamrud, and were enticed into the open country and
defeated with the loss of many guns. The gallant Hari Sing lost his
life on this occasion, but the Afghans were unable to take advantage
of this good fortune, and were forced to retire up the Khyber Pass.

Prince Kamran had become master of Herat after his father died
in 1828 ; and in the same year a pestilence (either plague or cholera),
was raging throughout Afghanistan, and the Vazier Ata Muhammad
died of it—it had made its appearance in Herat. The Prince appointed
his late minister’s nephew, Yar Muhammad, to the &acant office.
Early in 1832 the Shah of Persia, Fateh Ali, appointed his Heir-
apparent to the government of Khurassan ; and Abbas Mirza deputed
his eldest son to lead the expedition against Herat. Prince Kamran
sent Yar Muhammad to Meshed to interview the Prince Governor,
and the latter placed the Vazier in arrest, and tortured him ; in order’
to force him to agree to the surrender of Herat. Yar Muhammad,
however, showed great fortitude under his sufferings, and Abbas Mirza
having become dangerously ill, released the captive and recalled his
son from Herat to his bed-side. In (836 Kamrin intervened in the
affairs of Seistan on behalf of Malik Jalaludin. In 1837 he marched
against Kandahar, but the Vazier was opposed to his scheme of’
meddling with the Barakzais, and after obtaining some trifling suc-
cesses, the Prince retired ; but he was allowed to amuse himself with
laying siege to Lash and Juwein in Seistan, until he was recalled to
Herat by the news of the advance of a Persian Army, led by the Shah in
person. The siege of the city was commenced on the 15th Novem-
ber 1837.

The treaty of Turkomanchai’ (signed on the 21st February 1828)
introduced a new factor into the politics of the Middle, East, and
Central Asia, which has influenced British relations with Afghanistan
until recently. In 1835 Dost Muhammad sent a representative to the
Court of Teheran, at a time when the successes of, Ranjit Sing rank-
led in his mind. The invasion of Herat by the Persians was regarded
with suspicion by the British Government, and when the demands
of the British Representative at Teheran, to induce the Shah to ve-

.1 Between Russia and Persia concluded the war between these countries,
which was so disastrous to the latter.
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linquish the siege, had no effect, on the 19th of June 1838, Indian
troops under Colonel Sheriff were landed on the island of Karak in the
Persian Gulf. The action thus taken was effectual. The Shah also
had been unable to capture Herat, and the absence of discipline in
his army had wasted the supplies of food in the country round the
scene of operations. The faithful Colonel Semineau, a French Officer
of Engineers, and an old soldier of the Empire, found his advice and
efforts neglected by the vacillating Shah, who was swayed by an un-
principled Minister, and the incompetent Persian Commanders regard-
ed him with jealousy, and active dislike, which neutralized his efforts.
Eldred Pottinger, a British Officer, who had been travelling in disguise,
and was in Herat, had been detained and impressed into the service
ofthe Vazier and constrained to advise him. On the gth of September
1838, the siege was raised, and the Shah retreated from Herat, baving
reduced the country to a condition of utter destitution. In the
Persian Camp was Colonel Blaremburg, a Russian Engineer, and a
member of the Mission, which had been despatched under Count
Simonich.* The latter remained in Teheran. The Dragoman of the
*Mission, and Captain Vitkevich, also belonging to it, were present with
the Persians. The last was a fluent linguist, and an active officer, and
he continued to make himself very busy in Afghanistan.

In the month of March 1836, Lord Auckland relieved Lord
William Bentinck as Governor-General in India. Dost Muhammad
addressed a letter of welcome and congratulation to the new Governor-
General, and was informed, in reply, that it was not the practice of the
British Government to meddle in the affairs of other independent
States. But in September 1837, Sir Alexander (at that time Captain)
Burnes was sent on a professedly commercial mission to Dost Muliam-
mad, which, however, was in reality a journey of political discovery.
He was accompanied by Doctor Lord and Lieutenant Leech of the
Bombay Engineers. From Kabul the last was despatched to Kandahar
on a similar journey of discovery, also under a commercial disguise.

The Ruler of Kabul appears not to have made a secret of his
dealings with Persia and the Russians, to which he professed British
neglect of his overtures had driven him in despair. The situation was
complicated by the appearance in Kabul of the energetic C:aptain
Vitkevich?, who posed asthe envoy of Russia; he had been, it was

! A Dalmatian, taken prisoner while serving in the French Army, on the
retreat from Moscow, he entered the Russian service, He arrived in Teheran in
February 1833 as Minister to the Shah—Markham's History of Persia.

* Both Simonich and Vitkevich were disavowed by Pri_nce I\:essglrode. ) The
former was superseded by Count Meden in 1839 and Vilkevich cdmmitted suicide.
—Markham’s History of Persia.
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said, at the time, encouraging the Barakzai Sardars of Kandahar
to strengthen their alliance with Persia. Burnes appears to have
been strongly in favour of attaching Dost Muhammad to the British
by strengthening his hands against foreign and domestic enemies.
Calcutta and Simla, however, are a long way from Kabul’, and in those
days of dik posts, he may have been unable to keep step with altera-
tions in ideas and policy which had taken place. In his eagerness to
detach the Chief of Kandahar from their Persian alliance, he exceeded
his instructions, and made them definite promises of aid, and for this
he was reprimanded, and he left Kabul thoroughly discredited in
August 1838. It was finally decided to support Shah Shuja by force
of arms, and on the 1st of October 1838, the Governor-General issued
his proclamation declaring the object of the Expedition to Afghanistan
and war was declared. .

On the 10th of December 1838, the army of the Indus marched
from Ferozepore and arrived at the town of Rohri on its banks, on the
24th of January 1839. The strength of the current, the depth, and the
steady rise of the water, rendered the bridging of the river a very
difficult task; but it was successfully carried out by Captain Thomson
of the Bengal Engineers, and the troops crossed to the right bank on
the 4th of February. The bridge of boats was swept away very soon
after Shah Shuja forded the Indus seven miles up stream of Robhrj,
and his contin.gent of 6,000 men with its baggage, and animals,
took seven days to cross. The Bombay Army under Sir John Keane
had landed at Vikkar, at the mouth of the Indus, and was on its march
to join the Bengal troops. The junction was effected at Kandahar.

On the 8th of May Shah Shuja was installed as sovereign in
Kandahar ; the Barakzai Chiefs having fled, on the advance of the
troops, towards Persia. The attitude of the Durani Chiefs and the
people was not all that could be desired, or had been expected.
While the Army halted in Kandahar, Captain D’Arcy Todd was de-
spatched to Herat on a mission to Prince Kamran, He carried with
him treasure intended for the restoration of the defences of that place
which had suffered greatly in the siege.

The move on Kabul was next made by Sir John Keane, and he
was accompanied by the Shah. Dost Muhammad had provisioned
Ghazni for a prolonged siege, had garrisoned it and placed his
son Ghulam Haidar Khan in command. His idea was apparently that
it should detain the invaders sufficiently to allow of his raising the
Ghilzais and of recalling his son Akbar Khan and his forces from the

1 Calcutta about 1,850 miles; Simla abgut 650 miles.
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head of the Khyber. Ghulam Haidar had orders to brick up the
gateways, and he had obeyed these instructions, except with regard
to the Kabul gate, which had not been closed permanently in order to
keep communication with Kabul. The defences of Ghazni proved
stronger than they had been said to be, and as the heavy guns had
been left behind, and provisions were almost at an end, it was decided
to blow in the Kabul gate and storm the place. Before dawn of the
23rd July 1839, a party under Captain Peat of the Bombay Engineers,
with Lieutenants McLeod, and Durand (afterwards Sir H. M. Durand),
of the same corps demolished the gate, and Ghazni was taken by storm.
Ghulam Haidar Khan was made prisoner.” Great stores of provisions
were found, and were welcomed by the troops, who had been on
reduced allowances of food. This success decided the Durani nobles,
who had hithesto held aloof, to join Shah Shuja, and it upset all Dost
Mubammad’s plans. The latter had taken up a position at Maidan
two stages in advance of Kabul ; but on receiving news of the fall of
Ghazni and the capture of his son, he gave up the idea of making a
stand, and sent away his family towards Balkh. Akbar Khan also had
fallen back before the advance of Sir Claude Wade, accompanied by
a mixed force of Sikh auxiliaries and of locally raised levies, and by
Prince Timur. Akbar Khan joined his father, and at the head of a
band of resolute followers he covered the retreat of the Amir.

The progress of Shah Shuja from Ghazni to Kabul wore an air of
triumph, owing to the crowds that thronged the road, and who had
‘abandoned their villages and daily avocations, to witness the spectacle.
To the people of the country, accustomed to the tumult of their
natjonal forces, the orderly movements of the foreign troops, which
were bringing back Shah Shuja to his capital, must have appeared
most wonderful. It was probably not the Shah whom they wished so
much to see, as the white-faced strangers of whose existence the
greater number of the spectators had never even heard. The State
entry into Kabul was, however, the crowning event of the campaign.
It was effected on the 7th of August. Everything that could
render it imposing was done.  Au escort was furnished by mounted
European Corps, the 4th Light Dragoons, the 16th Lancers, a squadron
each, and a troop of Horse Artillery. The Shah was accompanied by
the Envoy and Minister, by Sir John Keane, the Political and Military
staff, and most of the officers of the Army, which had brought him
bagk. It was a pageant that might well have recalled the visits of

T This was the first Military operation undertaken in the reign of our late
Gracious Majesty Queen Victoria, and the first victory in her reign.
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the Emperors of Delhi to this city in days long passed. The Jewels
that decked the person of the Shah, and the brilliant uniforms of his
imposing retinue, were seen to full advantage in the light of that
summer afternoon, as the cavalcade paced through the streets of
Kabul towards the citadel ; the tread of the horses echoing between
the buildings on either side of the narrow thoroughfares, and under
the massive archways of the gate that had been thrown open to admit
the King and his followers into the precincts of the Bala Hisar. A
candid witness, one who left Kabul before the troubles began, has
recorded the fact that the dense crowds that lined the streets, and
crowded the walls, and house tops, gazed at the procession with an
impassive demeanour. Merely rising as the Shah rode by and
sitting down at once after he had passed.* Shah Shuja-ul-Mulk had
not seen the Bala Hisar of Kabul for 30 years, and it is.said that the
tears streamed from his eyes, as he noted the ravages which neglect
and the Civil wars had wrought, the signs of which were visible on
every side ; and as he recounted the splendours which as a young man
he had witnessed, during the life-time of his father Shah Timur, and
in the brief siege of his brother—the unhappy Shah Zaman.

1 Major W Hough Depy Judge Advocate-General of the ‘‘ Bengal Column”
of the Army of the Indus.

For the relations between the Amir Dost Muhammad and the Persian Govern-
ment, which led up to the siege of Herat in 1837-38, see Appendix V.




CHAPTER XV.

THE FIRST AFGHAN WAR.—RESTORATION OF THE SADOZAIS. —~NATIONAL
MOVEMENT AGAINST FOREIGN INTERFERENCE IN THE GOVERNMENT,
AND PRESENCE IN THE COUNTRY—MURDER OF SHAH SHUjA—
FINAL ABANDONMENT OF KABUL, AND EXTINCTION
OF THE SADOZAIS.

>

OST MUHAMMAD, who had ruled for 13 years in the city
which witnessed his rival's apparent triumph, had made
good his flight to Balkh, where he collected his followers
and made plans for the future. He had been in communi-

cation with the Rulers of Bokhara and decided to seek an asylum in
his capital. In deference, however, to the opposition of his brother,
the Nawab Jabbar Khan, the families of the Amir, and his sons, and

9

their followers, were left in Khulm in the care of his brother. The
fugitives received an honourable welcome in Bokhara; but after a
time the demeanour of their host changed, and restrictions were
placed on the movements of the refygees who were unable to leave
the capital.

The restoration of Shah Shuja apparently had been successful. No-
where had any serious opposition been experieaced. The Army on
which Dost Muhammad had expended the greater part of his slender
revenue, had been stationed in the vicinity of the Khyber Pass front-
ing the Sikhs, and had not been available to oppose the invasion.
The Kandahar Sardars, owing to their unpopularity, had been unable
to offer any resistance to the Shah and his foreign supporters.
Ghazni, which Dost Muhammad had hopad would delay the advance,
and give time f(or the raising of the tribal forces, had fallen, and no
opposition could be offered to the occupation of the capital itself.
Left to himself, Shah Shuja might have been able to restore his
authority, for the supremacy of the Barakzais had not been firmly
¢stablished.

““The Shah was known to be by no means deficient in ability.
Macnaghten himself described him to Rawlinson as-a shrewd, cool,
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sensible, calculating character. His courage was of a doubtful hue”
(the result probably of his reverses, the weakness of his cause and
adherents—and the certainty of death, or of a more dreadful fate if
he fell into the hands of his enemies); ‘‘but this natural timidity
could not fail of receiving assurances from the presence of a discj.
plined body of foreign mercenaries—the contingent—well-armed and
well-officered, whilst the occupation of the key points of his country
would have enabled the Shah to maintain such a grip of Kabul,
Ghazni, and Kandahar, that nothing but an army well provided
with battering guns could have shaken his hold upon these important
points. Shah Shuja might possibly, with such a bit in the mouths of
the people, and with conciliatory conduct towards the chiefs, for
whose restless but petty ambition he could have found scope in the
Civil and Military service of the State, soon would haye been in a
position to brave the return of Dost Muhammad. Freed from the
dictation of a British Envoy, and from the domineering presence
of a British Army, provided that his financial measures had proved
judicious, his popularity would have increased, and with it his real
strength.

‘““ He would have had the winter, which from its severity imposes
rest and peace, as a season in which to consolidate his administra-
tion ; it would have given him leisure to work on the characters and
wishes of the chiefs, and raise an influential party favourable to his
reign,”t

In addition, there was a party in his favour, whom the severities of
Dost Muhammad had alienated—led by an influential chief of the
Popalzai clan. This would have proved a valuable nucleus round
which to create a group of influential persons favourable to the
restored government of the Sadozais. The revolutions, and blood-
shed, of the past thirty years had probably rendered a large section
of the population not sorry for a respite; and lastly an important
factor in favour of the Shah was his previous friendship with the
Ghilzais. A great part of these warlike, powerful, tribes had held
aloof from the Barakzais. Against these advantages, however, there
was the autocratic, and haughty character of the Shah himself, too
deeply ingrained to allow of a change. The infirmities of mind and
body, due to his advanced age, added to his difficulties. None of the
younger members of the Sadozai Family possessed any force of charac-
ter, or ability, and they were of no assistance at all to the aged Shah

1 The first Afghan war and its causes ; by Sir H. M. Durand, K.C.S.1,, C.B.,
Pp- 190-191,
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in his critical position ; the Sadozais also had no clan at their back on
whose devotion they could rely. The misfortunes, and the ill-success
attending Shah Shuja, had probably caused men to be very chary of
joining an unlucky Prince, and of supporting a dying cause. Every
Barakzai on the other hand acknowledged Dost Muhammad’s claim
on his services ; and Afghans’ reverence for a strong and trave man

had been won by him.

The determination to occupy the country until such time as the
government of the Shah had been sufficiently established to be able to
dispense with the presence of foreign troops, proved fatal to our own
influence in Afghanistan ; and to the Shah himself. The situation is
summed up in a few words by one who was competent to pronounce a
verdict :—** A mock king, a civil administration hated because, under
foreign dictation and dissonant from the feelings of the Afghans, an
envoy, the real king ruling by the gleam of British bayonets, and
thus enabled to impose his measures, however crude or unpalatable.
A large army, raising by its consumption the price of provisions and
preying on the resources of a very poor country.””

As early as October 1839, the Khyberis, who had once been Shah
Shuja’s very good friends, were in rebellion on account of reductions of
the subsidies which they received. In the following month, Lord
Keane, with the troops returning to India,had to fight his way through
the Pass. The Ghilzai rising (the spring of 1840) was quieted by the
rough handling they received at the hands of a small expeditionary
¢ force despatched frcm Kandahar, and an annual subsidy of £ 3,000.

The surrender of Nawab Jabbar Khan, with the families in his
charge, on the 3rd of July, was the result of the operations of British
troops and the Shah’s local corps in the valleys to the north of the
Hindu-Kush. The escape of Dost Muhammad from Bokhara and his

appearance on the left bank of the Oxus, was followed by revival of

intrigues in his favour. His agents were busy in the Kohistan and

in the capital, and two of his sons were stirring up the Ghilzais in
Zurmat. A column under Sir Robert Sale, in the Kohistan, met with

determined resistance. But the measures taken to counteract the

efforts made by Dost Muhammad’s partisans, and by him in person,
proved so effectual that he decided to avoid an ignominious betrayal
into the hands of his enemies by the more dignified course of a

voluntary surrender to the envoy in person, which he put into effect

cn the 3rd of November. It showed his own opinion as to the con-

! The first Afghan war and its causes ; by Sir H. M. Durand, K.C.S.1., C.B
PP. 193-194.
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dition of his affairs. On the 12th he marched to India wit
Sir Willoughly Cotton, and for a time he resided in Ludhiana, from
where he was removed to Calcutta.

Prince Timur governed Kandahar as his father’s representative,
but the officials about him owed their selection to the sole qualificatiop
of having shared the exile of the Shah. They were the creatures of
Mulla Shakur (the Ishakzai), an ancient adherent of the Shah, whom
the latter had appointed to be his first Minister.  The tardy removal
of Mulla Shakur, and the appointment of Muhammad Usman Khap
in his place, however, did nothing to mitigate the popular feeling of
dislike that was rapidly gaining strength. The rapacity and venality
of the Kandahar officials soon provided Major Rawlinson, the Political
Officer, and General Nott, Commanding the troops at Kandabar, with
grave cause for apprehensions of impending troublgs. With the
support afforded to the Government by the presence of British troops,
the right hitherto enjoyed by the Afghans of rebelling against their
sovereign's tyranny, could not be exercised with impunity, In
December 1840, Akhter Khan, an Alizai Chief of the Zamindawar, drew
together the bolder spirits among the discontented in Southern
Afghanistan, and the native Royalist party had been driven from the
field. The victories of Wymer, on the gth May, over the Ghilzais, and
of Griffin on the 17th of August, and the success won by Chambers
over the Ghilzais once more on the 3th of August, had cowed for
time the insurgents in the south. But neither the Political nor the
military officers in Kandahar were deceived by the success of tha
operations. Under the surface the evil spread in all directions, but the
warnings from Major Rawlinson in Kandahar and from Pottinger in
the Kohistanere failed to disturb the false sense of security that
prevailed in Kabul.

Other causes also created a bitter feeling against the foreigners,
whowereoccupying theircountry,andinspiredthe Afghans with a deadly
hatred towards them. The reduction of the subsidies paid to the
Ghilzai tribes, who occupied the country between Kabul and Jalalabad,
caused these tribesmen to break out into open rebellion. Amin-ullah
Khan, Chief of Lohgar, had been threatened with removal by the
Vazier (whom the Shah had created Nizam-ud-daulah), and this
brought matters to a crisis at the capital, where a report had been
circulated that certain influential persons were to be removed to India,
when Sir William Macnaghten left Kabul, to take up the appointment
of Governor of Bombay, and the time of his depature was drawing

1 Son of the Vazier to Shah Zamian, Wafadar Khan.
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aear. The indecisive actions fought by Sir Robert Sale, against the
Ghilzais, were magnified into victories by the nationalists; and a
colour was given to the reports by the ill-advised Treaty of Tezeen made
with the insurgents by Major Macgregor. Moreover, Akbar Khan, the
second son of Dost Muhammad, had escaped from Bokhara, and was
now at hand to direct the national movement, and lead the insurgents.
The people of the Kohistan were thoroughly disaffected, and resolved
to avenge the destruction of their forts and villages. Foremost among
them was the Saiad Mir Masjidi, who had rendered himself famous for
the defence of his fort at Tutamdarra. The preachings of the Mullas,
and the exhortations of Akbar Khan, roused the Kohistanis to action.

On the night of the 1st November they entered Kabul. They were
met by insurgent Ghilzais, and by the local malcontents headed by the
Chief of Lohgarh—the Kazilbash held aloof from the movement,—who
was deep in the confidence of both the Shah and the Envoy : they deter-
mined to act at once. On the morning of the 2nd November 1841, the
storm burst, and Kabul was in an uproar. Burnes was killed and the
Treasury containing £170,000 in cash was plundered. The Shah
who knew the temper of his people called for aid to the British troops
in Cantonments, and the blundering attempt to save Burnes, and the
Treasury, made by Campbell at the head of the Shah’s Hindustani
corps was unsuccessful, and was defeated with heavy loss.

There were some 4,500 good troops in Cantonments, a force
sufficient under an able commander to have crushed the rising effectually.
3bility, however, was lacking, and that which followed is too well
known to need repetition—well might the Shah, as he saw from the
Bala Hisar the melancholy spectacle presented by the inaction of our
troops, exclaim—*‘ the English are mad.”

“ There was an unearthly faintness upon their hearts ; and it was
as though some great crime had caused the wrath of God to settle
down upon the host, withering the hearts of its leaders, unnerving the
right arms of England’s soldiery, and leaving them no power to stand
before their enemies.z” On the 23rd of December 1841 the British
Envoy was murdered at an interview with Muhammad Akbar, and
on the 6th of January the disastrous retreat towards Jalalabad was
commenceéd ; a week later, Dr. Brydon brought the news to the garrison
of Jalalabad that *¢ Elphinstone’s army, guns, standards, honour, all

being lost, was itself completely annihilated."’s

)

! The first Afghan War and its causes ; by Sir H. M. Durand, K.C.S.I., C.B. 357
3 Ibl'd. 372, '

* Ibid, 378.
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The retreat of the British troops from Kabul,and the efforts made
by Muhammad Akbar Khan to effect the destruction of Sale's force in
Jalalabad, either by treachery or by force, had drawn most of the
turbulent spirits of the national party from the capital, and Shal
Shuja made frantic efforts to create a party in his own interests, The
Prince Shahpur was so far successful that he induced the Chiefs in
Kabul to visit the Shah, who gave them a formal reception on the 1gth
February. Muhammad Akbar did not relish the turn that affairs had
taken in the -capital, combined with his ill-success at Jalalabad ; and
he vehemently urged the leaders to force the Shah to declare himself
openly on the side of the nationalists. Mir Haji, son of the Chief Priest
of Kabul, was elected as their leader, and a great crowd of Ghazis
streamed out of Kabul with banners displayed, to reinlorce their
countrymen round Jalalabad, and the Shah declared hisewillingness to
accompany them. On the 2nd of April 1842, his tents were pitched at
Siah Sang,' and the next day he held a reception of the leading men
at that place. In order to be prepared for another term of exile, he is
said to have concealed on his person, a bag containing his choicest
jewels, the value of the gems was estimated at 5o lakhs of rupees.
After the reception was over, he was left to be the prey of his melan-
choly forebodings, and in his perturbation, he decided to return to the
Bala Hisar. After a restless night, he finally made up his mind to
return to camp. At the last moment he is said again to have
‘hesitated, but in the end he entered his litter and passed out for ever
from the gate of the citadel. )

The Shah’s movements had been made known to Shuja-ud-Daulah,
son of that Zaman Khan Barakzai, whom a faction of the nationalists
had made their Amir at the commencement of the outbreak. Shuja-ud-
Daulah had waited all night in the cemetery between the Bala Hisar
and Siah Sang, and when the litter of the aged Shah approached, the
conspirators opened fire on the party. The Shah sprang from his
conveyance and ran for his life and took shelter from the bullets in a
dry irrigation channel. When the Chief rode up to the litter, which the
bearers were hurrying towards the Bala Hisar, and found it empty, he
lost his nerve, and was about to fly, when his principal adherent Jafir
Khan, a Murad Khani Kazilbash, whom the Vazier had proscribed,
seized his bridle and adjured him to complete the task he had under-
taken. A careful search revealed the Shah crouching in his shelter
and with their weapons the conspirators set him free from the cxres
of this life. His corpse was stripped of the jewels he wore on his

1 About 2 miles to the east of the Bala Hisar
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clothes, and when all was quiet, one of his personal attendants, who
was concealed close by, crept out of his hiding place and carried his
master’s body to the Bala. Hisar., Shah Shuja was murdered in the
morning of the 4th April 1842 ; in the 65th year of his life. He was a
scholar, and had attained to some distinction in literature. His poems
are still admired in India, and in his own country. He amused himself
in his exile by writing his memoirs in Persian. His fidelity to his foreign
allies gradually became doubtful. His position as a puppet must
have galled his autocratic and proud nature, and he must have seen
that he was regarded with contempt by those whom his foreign
allies held down by force, and he may have tried hard to remove
this feeling, and to create a party that would be not inimical to him,
in case of a general rising of his countrymen : the extreme prabability
of which he was quite able to foresee.

Prince Fath Jang was raised to the throne of the Sadozais in the
Bala Hisar, by the members of the Royal Family, and their adherents.
He obtained some trifling successes over the partisans of Zamian
Khan, but he was eventually forced to shut himself up in the citadel,
‘and his cause was weakened by the defection of the Lohgar Chief
Amin-ullah Khan, who joined Muhammad Akbar, when that redoubt-
able Chief reached Kabul, wounded alike in body and in his pride by
his complete defeat in the open field by the despised garrison of
Jalalabad on the 7th April.

The relief of Jalalabad and the advance of British troops on Kabul
4rom that direction and from Kandahar, had tamed Akbar Khan's pride,
and he agreed to recognise Fath Jang as his sovereign, claiming the
position of Vazier for himself. This was a short-lived arrangement,
for the latter obtained possession of letters written by his master to
General Pollock, and these gave the Barakzai an opportunity to depose
the puppet King, who was stripped of the remains of Shah Shuja’s
wealth. He made his escape from the Bala Hisar, and a solitary
Afghan, clad in filthy rags, who rode into the British camp at Gandamak
in September 1842, announced himself as Fath Jang, King of Kabul.

After the re-occupation of the city, he was restored to the throne,
with Ghulam Muhammud Khan, the Bamizai, son of the late Mukhtar-
ud-Daulah, as his first minister. Prince Shahpur accompanied Sir John
McCaskil's column into the Kohistan, which dispersed the formidable
gathering of the tribesmen headed by the Naib Amin-ullah Khan
Lshgari, and burnt Istalif. On the withdrawal of the British troops,
Prince Fath Jang very wisely seized the opportunity of removing the
family of the Sadozais from Afghanistan, and of resigning a position he
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saw no prospect of retaining after that army had retired ; and on the
11th October he abandoned Kabul. Prince Shahpur, however, wag
advised by some of the Chiefs, for he had become popular with a party
of the latter, to make an attempt to govern the country. The
Sadozais had been thoroughly discredited, and their cause was récog-
nised as dead, The Vazier Ghulam Muhammad was intriguing for
the return of Akbar Khan, who had been lurking behind the Hindu
Kush at Tashkurgan. Prince Haidar, who tried to govern
Bamian, fled before the redoubtable Barakzai and arrived at Kabul
without a single follower. Prince Shahpur, wisely followed his
friends’ advice, and while there was yet time to escape, he made off
with his family by the Karkagh Pass, across the hills towards Jalalabad,
where the ill-omened Muhammad Usman Khan, Sadozai, was still the
governor. The Jabbar Khel Ghilzais, who inhabif" the Assarah
(Hisarak) district, captured the fugitives, but owing to the good offices
of Azimgul Khan, the Prince was allowed to pass on to Peshawar,
while the Jabbar Khel escorted his family with all due respect to that
place. ‘

In the occupation of Afghanistan by foreigners, and especially by
pork-eating Europeans, the Afghans professed to recognise the fulfil-
ment of that vision of the holy Ako, in which he had seen the skin ot
a hog spread in the dwelling of his host; andin the retreat, and
massacre, of the foreign troops the prediction of the Shekh that it was
not to be regarded as altogether an unfavourable omen. The belief in,
the fulfilment of the vision was greatly strengthened by the coincidence
that the invasion of Afghanistan by British troops, occurred in the
year of the Hog, according to the Turkish mode of reckoning in which
each year in a cycle is named after an animal. v

The effect of the recovery of the British captives, and the destruc-
tion of the Bazar in Kabul as a retributive measure calculated to restore
lost prestige, was completely neutralized by spectacles that everywhere
met the eye of travellers along the dreary mountain track from Ganda-
mak to the end of the defile of the Khurd Kabul, where the remains of
brave men, helpless camp followers (16,000 souls) lay thick ; in some
places paving thenarrow way between the steep hillsides that
formed the defiles. In the cool and dry climate of this region, the
melancholy evidence of the greatest blow that England had ever
experienced to her honour and prestige, endured for years ; and only
very slowly were they resolved into their elemental dust. Succeeding
generations of Afghans were able to gloat over the proof (from their
point of view) of the success that had crowned the efforts of the
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Ghazis, and of Akbar Khan, over the hated foreigners whom Providence
had delivered into the hands of the holy warriors of Islam. The
destruction of the bazar in Kabul faded from the minds of all, but its
peaceful occupants, who had been friendly to our presence ; but every
Afghan, who traversed this route—one of the high roads of the country
—could not help but feel his national pride and religious fanaticism
stimulated, as his heavily shod foot, or the hooves of his ponies
or mules, crushed the bones with which the path was strewn, and which
were to him a testimony of national prowess, and the fulfilment of the
ancient prediction of the saintly Ako, the Pir of the Alizais.

The disaster at Kabul terminated the career of the debauched
Prince Kamran, whom the astute Vazier had allowed to retain a sem-
blance of authority, as long as he thought the puppet was likely to be of
any usé. Yar Muhammad had been intriguing with all his neighbours—
he Persians ‘at his gates, the British in Kandahar, and even with the
ulers of the remote Khanates along the Oxus. When, however, he
found that no more money was to be obtained from the British
authorities (who had disbursed some £200,000 in Herat), he turned
Major Todd out of the city'. As soon as it became quite certain that
no effort would be made on behalf of Prince Kamrdan by the allies
of the Sadozais, he seized him and his sons, and the Prince was sent
away to Kuhsan, where lands had been assigned for his support.
The presence of the Sadozai Prince was, however, inconvenient, and
the Vazier despatched two of his creatures—the Alakozais Taj and

.Daud—to put an end to Prince Kamran at Kuhsan, Kamrén’s sons
who were quite worthless, found an asylum in Persia. These
degenerate descendants of the great Ahmad Shah, were Jahangir,
Seif-ul-Muluk, Saadat Muluk, Alamgir, Nadir, Ahmad Ali, Jalaludin,
Sikandar, and Shihab. The doles which they received from the Shah
enabled them to lead lives given up to low pleasures, and the
indulgence of their depraved appetites. Alamgir and Ahmad Ali are
said to have made their way eventually to India.

The Sadozais disappeared from History.

1 Major Todd's proceedings at Herat were disapproved by Lord Auckland.
He was remanded to his regiment (Bengal Artillery) and was killedin the battle
of Firuzshah (Sikh War).



CHAPTER XVI,

THE AMIR Dost MuHAMMAD, MUHAMMADZAI, BARAKZAL —-
CONSOLIDATION OF HIS GOVERNMENT IN AFGHANISTAN.

NHE Sadozai Princelets having proved failures, the Amir Dost
Muhammad was allowed to return to his country, and
while the army of retribution was returning through the
Punjab to take part in the pageant at Ferozepur, Dost

Muhammad was passing through that Province bound for Kabul.
The DBarakzai Chiefls, who had possessed Kandahar, emerged from -
their obscure retreat in Persian territory and took possession
of that city again. Even the change-loving Afghans may have had
a surfeit of alterations of fortune, and a stable government may not
have been unwelcome to allow them to recover their breath after the
violent excitement of the past three or four years. Dost Muhammad
held only a fourth part of Afghanistan after his return to Kabul. The
petty Chiefs to the north of the Hindu-Kush were independent, or
under the influence of the Ruler of Bokhara. The Barakzai Sardars
were independent Rulers of Kandahar, and the Vazier Yar Muhammad
held the Province of Herat. The Amir of Kabul had enough to do
to reorganise the government of his small territory, and for some time
he was unable to enter into disputes with the Kandahar Chiefs or the
Ruler of Herat. His task was materially helped by his relations with
the Indian Government. His residence at the seat of Government
in Calcutta, had probably a very much greater effect on him than his
Afghan pride would allow him to acknowledge ; and the experience he
had gained of the resources and real strength of that government,
undoubtedly influenced his conduct at a time when his attitude towards
the Indian Government had become a matter of very great importance.
His native ability could not have failed to appreciate ail that he
saw during his short term of exile, for in 1843 he was back in
Kabul,
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Of the four parties, who were concerned in the late war, he
alone had benefited. Shah Shuja was dead. The British Government
had poured out blood and treasure, and the loss toits prestige barely
had been recovered by the achievements of the avenging army. His
old enemy Ranjit Sing, was dead, and his Stale was on the verge of
destruction. With Yar Muhammad in Herat and his own brethren in
Kandahar, Dost Muhammad was quite able to deal ; and the Ruler of
Bokhara was of no account. From the Persians he had nothing to
fear. The intervention of the Shah's government, his alliance with the
Indian government, had rendered impossible. The quality of the
Persian troops placed their government in the position of an enemy
which the Afghans might well despise.

Dost Muhammad is said to have been the twentieth son of Sardar
Sarfaraz Khan Barakzai, and with the exception of the eldest Fateh
Khan ; and the next in seniority, Sardar Azim Khan, he was the
ablest and most capable member of the family. The unambitious
character of Nawab Jabbar Khan, rendered him an invaluable coun-
seller to his younger brother the Amir, who was said to have highly
appreciated the Nawab's ability, foresight and prudence. The mother
of Dost Muhammad belonged to the Siah Mansur, one of the tribes of
Tajik or Persian origin, near Kandahar, and 1he wisdom and intellect of
her famous son was probably inherited from her. Although on account
of her Tajik origin, her co-wives very likely looked down on her, she
was said to have been the favourite of her husband ; and to have always
accompanied him on his expeditions. Her son’s education, probably
for this reason, seems to have been neglected, for he is said to have
only learnt to read the Koran at a comparatively late age. After the
execution of Sarfaraz Kbhan, a cousin of the Sardar, Abdul Mayjid
Khan, asserted his right, according to the well known Afghan custom,
by which the nearest relation can claim to marry a widow of a
deceased kinsman, and married the mother of the future Amir. A
brother of Majid Khan married one of Dost Muhammad’s sisters at
the same time. After the remarriage of his mother, Dost Muhammad
lived in Maruf, or the Toba plateau, in one of the forts belonging to
his step-father. The eldest sister of Dost Muhammad married Shah
Shuja, to whom she bore several children, her only sonis said to
have died while the Shah was in Kabul. A third sister was a
widow at the time of the occupation of Kabul. She obtained per-

. ., 0
mission to remain with her sister in Kabul, when the Amir’s family

was deported to India. She became a very active canvasser 1n her

brather’s interests, and was said to have gained many adherents to her
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brother’s cause in Bamiian and the Kohistan. She successfully evaded
all attempts made to seize her, and finally escaped to Jalalabad, and
thence to Peshawar. As the youngest but one of a large family of
brothers, the Amir was brought up in a hard school, his elder brothersg
making use of his services very freely. He got his chance at last
when Sardar Azim Khan was unable to leave Kashmir at a moment’s
notice, to -avenge the cruelties practised on the Vazier Fath
Khan, and he was obliged to send Dost Muhammad to seize
Kabul.

Dost Muhammad appears to have had none of the morose, and
fanatical qualities ot the Afghan nature in his composition. The
strain of Persian blood inherited from his mother modified very greatly
the rude Afghan temperament in her son. He is said to have possessed
an equable and good temper, a lively imagination and rqady speech.
He is said to have been gifted with an extraordinary taste for music
and to have attained to great proficiency as a performer on the Rabib
(a description of the guitar). At social gatherings he unbent freely,
and entertained his friends with songs—ballads of his native land or
the more elaborate odes of Persian Poetry. Even after he returned
from exile, his favorite resort was the picturesque village of Nanachi,
near the capital, surrounded by vineyards, and gardens, and pleasantly
situated on the banks of a small lake. He used to repair to this
place with his intimate associates and pass the time with music and
songs, while flasks of the famous Kabul wine {mmade by the Armenians
settléd there) circulated, and warmed the hearts of the company and
diverted their minds from the cares and recurring problems of state
craft. It is not to be wondered at, if as it was said, the bounds of
moderation were sometimes exceeded in these assemblies even at the
risk of offending his gloomy and bigotted subjects. His frank and
courageous bearing, and his accessibility endeared him to his subjects,
and it is said that any man might stop him when he rode abroad,
and demand redress for wrongs or speak his mind freely to the Amir
without incurring any risk of offending him.*

»

! The title of Amir which is still used by the Barakzai Rulers of Kabul,
has a peculiar significance. It denotes the possessor of delegated authority.
Sultan from an Arabic root also, which signifies predominance, denotes a
ruler who holds that position by right of conquest. The Sultan of Turkey owes
his presence in Europe to the conquests of his ancesters. Shah on the other
hand signifies a despotic sovereign ruling by virtue of Divine Right, an autocrat.
The Sadozais by virtue of the prediction relating to their ancestor Asadullah
claimed this right ; but it was established by the great Ahmad Shah at great risk
of offending his turbulent nobility ; whom his successful foreign campaigns alone
rendered complaisant. It implies a power over the persons and property of the
subject, repugnant to the character of the Afghan people.
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Within his jurisdiction, roads were safer than they had been in
former days. Two and a half per cent. was the duty levied on merchan-
dise passing through his territory, and in the later period of his govern-
ment after the war, M. Ferrier was informed in Kandahar, and Herat,
that even including illegal gratifications to venal officials, the duty was
not more than four per cent, This broughtin revenue (according to the
notorious Mohan Lall, who professes to have obtained the figures from
Mirza Samiullah the Amir's Minister), estimated at 4,15,500 Kabuli
rupees, or about 440,000 at that time. The whole revenue at the
Amir's disposal from the territory that acknowledged his authority was
23 lakhs of Kabuli rupees, said to have been equivalent to 24 lakhs of
the East India Company’s rupees, or to about £226,000 at exchinge
of that period. As the Amir is said to have expended 21 lakhs on his
army, there was not much money available for other purposes. The
Amir was obliged to have recourse to arbitrary measures to find the
means to meet his expenditure—forced loans which rarely or never were
repaid. Notwithstanding the security of the roads, and low transit
dues, owing to these irregular demands trade had declined below what it
had been during the troubled reign of Shah Mahmud. Even during the
second period of his reign, before he took Kandabar from his brothers,
the revenue at the disposal of Amir Dost Muhammad was esti-
mated at a little more than 32 lakhs, and the assistance he received
from the Government of India was vitally necessary to the
maintenance of his administration—a necessity which has not
disappeared in the days of his successors. The revenue of Kabul
bad fallen below the amount realized in the 17th century by the
Moghul Emperors, but the decrease was due very largely to the loss
of districts in the time of the Amir Dost Muhammad, which in the
earlier period had been part of the Province of Kabul.

The decrease in the revenues of the Kandahar Province under the
rapacious Barakzai Sardars was still greater. In the 17th century, the
revenue under the Moghul administration had been 15 lakhs of rupees.
At the end of the 18th century, when the traveller Forster passed
through the country during the reign of Shah Timur, Sadozai, 18
lakhs was the revenue of the Province. Under the Barakzai Sardars
only 80,000 rupees were realized. Holding as they were supposed,
nine-tenths of the land round Kandahar, they acted in a most arbitrary
manner in their dealings with the more peaceful section of their
S(}lbjects. In several of the districts the power of the tribes were too
great to allow the Sardars to oppress them ; but wherever it could be
done with impunity the country was taxed according to the pleasure of
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the rulers. The revenue was farmed, and the contractors with the aid
of soldiers extracted all they could get from the people. After these
demands had been satisfied ‘‘ shoals of hungry soldiers and followers
of Chiefs are let loose on the villages to gather for themselves what
they can pick up.”*

After the Amir Dost Muhammad had taken possession of Kandahar,
his heir Ghulam Haidar Khan governed the Province, but under him
the cultivator found no relief. In the height of the summer ‘¢ when
water to the cultivator is worth any money, the Sardar frequently puts
all the water in a canal up to auction, and has been known to realize as
much as 470 rupees (Kandahari) for one day’s supply of water to a
promising vinery.” 2

These exactions fell on the Tajik section of the population. ‘¢ The
result is, that in the immediate vicinity of towns, and close to the
ruler the agriculturist continues to till the land ; but in m;my parts of
the country you approach large and apparently flourishing villages,
enter them, and no human voice greets or curses you there, as the case
may be. Oncerich vineyards are dried up, and all around is desolation.
This is especially the case in the Kandahar district, where every fresh
change of rulers has only brought increased taxation, until the popula-
tion has been decimated and tax gatherers, enraged at not being able
to squeeze money out of mud walls, have seized and sold into
slavery the last wretched inhabitant of a once prosperous and
influential village."s

The revenues at the disposal of Ahmad Shah, according to the.
Mizan-ul-Mamalik, of Muiz-ullah Mohmandi, of Peshawar, who
prepared it for the Minister Shah Wali Khan, is said to have been, or
was estimated, at a little more than thirteen crores and thirteen lakbs.
Kashmir contributed, it is stated, 29,90,800 rupees (of Ahmad Shah's
period), and Sind, about 26 lakhs. Nothing is mentioned of any
revenue from the Persian territory held by that monarch, nor from
Herat or Kandahar. In those days, the Sutlej and the Indus formed
the eastern limits of the Afghan Kingdom, but the Durani monarch
also held districts on the left bank of the Sutlej, governed by his
representative in Sirhind. The greater part of the land on the
Kandahar and Herat Provinces was probably held by the great Afghdo
clans, who gave in return their services in the field ; and who were

1 Mission to Kandahar, 1857.
* Ibid,
3 1bid.
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too powerful to be meddled with. The burden in those times also
of the taxes, fell on the peaceful Tajik and Indian sections of the
subjects of Ahmad Shah.” As Province after Province was lopped off
during the lifetime of Ahmad Shah’s degenerate successors, and as the
tribute from Sinil declined to what the Suzerain was able to take,
the revenues of the Sadozais fell away, but even in the disturbed reign of
the indolent voluptuary, Shah Mahmud, the revenue of his kingdom
is said to bhave amounted to ninety-six lakhs of rupees or just sh¥rt
of £1,000,000 sterling ; what part remained in the hands of the Vazier
of course no one ever was rash enough to ask ; but if Fath Khan was
able as he is said to have been to disburse ninety-six lakbs in advances,
before the ill-fated expedition to Herat, and his brother to have left
property valued at three crores of rupees (over £3,000,000) the office
of Vazier must have been very lucrative, and it accounts for the
eagerness with which it was sought.?

The western Ghilzais, after a fruitless struggle for years against
the authority of Amir Dost Muhammad, at last were forced to
submit, and their leader Muhammad Shah Khan was living in 1837,
-a prisoner at large in Kabul, but under strict surveillance. His
contemporary, Malik Shahdad, another of the same clan, held out in
the fastnesses of Tagao where he found shelter and continued to defy
the Amir, who was unable to capture him or restrain his raids, though
the nephew and rival of the outlaw had been put into possession by
the Amir of his uncle’s lands and chiefship.3
+ About August 1855 Amir Dost Muhammad deprived his brothers
and their sons of Kandahar ; and Sardar Rahmdil Khan with the Amir's
consent retired to Persia. ‘

The Kandahar Sardars were of the lower type of Afghan
character, but Yar Muhammad, the Alakozai, who had taken posses-

sion of Herat, was quite a different person, and showed great ability

in governing his Province. He summoned his clansmen to Herat and

gave them lands in the districtg which were under his sway. He
styled himself Vazir-i-Kabir, the Grand Vazier. He put down dis-
orders with a firm hand. The year after he assumed the government,
he invaded Ghor, and extended his authority as far as Tizli and Karz

1 Moorcroft, the famous traveller, esiimated the value of the.shawl manu-
facture, for which Kashmir was famous, at as much as 300,000 4 in the earlier
part of the 1.st century (1822). )

? The Punjab had been the most v
amd its importance to the sovereign o
efforts of Shah Zaman to regain possession o

® Mission to Kandahar.

aluable portion of the Durani kingdom,
f Afghanistan accounts for the frantic
f at least some portion of it.
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districts of the Zamindawar. He brought the Hazara Zaidnats to
his feet, and having reinstated their chief Karimdad Khan as hjg
governor, and fixed an annual tribute on the tribe, he returned to
Herat. At the close of the winter he set out to add Maimanah to his
possessions ; but for several reasons he decided to return to Herat
(1846), and the next year he sent Mir Hashim Khan, the Alakozaj
Chief, to subdue Hikmat Khan, the Chief of Maimanah, The reason of
Yar Muhammad’s return to Herat was his desire to arrange for the
departure of his daughter to Kabul, where she was to be married to
the famous Akbar Khan, second son of the Amir. _

The Chief of Ghor had given shelter to two .of Prince Kamran's
sons, and one of these Chiefs, Din Muhammad, had visited Kandahar
and had tried to induce Major Rawlinson to take up Kamran’s feud
with the Vazier. The outbreak at Kabul had just taken place, and it
was out of the question to undertake fresh adventures in the direction
of Herat, Yar Muhammad remembered this, and by the end of 1846
he had the Chiefs of Ghor under his heel. The death of Muhammad
Akbar, in 1847, gave him cause for anxiety, but he was re-assured by
the news that his daughter had been given in marriage to Sardar
Ghulam Haidar, another son of the Amir.

Yar Muhammad sought the friendship of the Persians with great
ardour, but the Shah regarded the Vazier with a virulent personal
dislike, and decided to encourage the Barakzais in their design
against Herat. The death of Shah Muhammad Shah, on the
4th of September 1848, owing to which the army destined to
co-operate with the Sardars of Kandahar was disbanded, saved Yar
Muhammad any further anxiety on this account. The latter had
been in person aiding Prince Hamza Mirza, who was blockaded
in Meshed, which had been beseiged by the son of the late Asaf-
ud-Daulah with the help of the Turkomans of Merv, after he had
rebelled against the Shah. The city continued to hold out against
the attacks of the beseigers who numbered 8,000 men. When
the news of the Shah’s death arrived and became known, two batta-
lions which had garrisoned the citadel, joined the beseigers ; the former,
however, were suffering from the effects of a famine which was raging,
and the assaults of the enemy increased their sufferings. Yar
Muhammad marched the Persian Army into his own territory, and
entertained them with the greatest hospitality for the whole of the
winter. Prince Hamza was recalled to Tehran in the beginning of
1849. Before he left Kuhsan, where the Persian troops had wintered, he
presented Yar Muhammad with four pieces of cannon as some return
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for the entertainment of his troops. Shah Nasir-ud-din, after he
ascended the throne in the summer of that year, presented Yar
Muhammad with a richly jewelled sabre, and a patent of nobility, with
the title of Zahir-udaulah. The Vazier also depatched offerings
to the Court of the Shah; and a collossal elephant (the remains
F;erhaps of the Regal Paraphernalia of the Sadozais), presented by
him to the Shah might be seen (wrote M. Ferrier), prom'enading th::
streets of Tehran. Towards the north Yar Mubhammad annexed
Andikhui, and Shibarghan, to his territories; and his authority was
acknowledged almost up to Balkh. He transplanted 7,000 families
of Taimunis from Ghor, and also Hazaras from Kala-i-Nuh to replace
those inhabitants of the Herat valley who had perished or been forced
to emigrate during the siege of 1838. Trade was encouraged, and
an unskilful «ttempt was made to work silver and iron ores existing
near Herat; and it was eveun said that he was desirous of establish-
ing machinery to work the raw produce of wool and cotton raised
in his territory. He was a most exacting ruler, and his stern measures
created enemies, who revenged themselves by accusing him of barter-
ing his subjects to the Turkomans—five men in exchange for one
Turkoman horse valued at 100 tomans.

In 1851 he marched to Lash andreduced the fort at that place,
the chieftain of which had been coquetting with the Sardars of
Kandahar. Sardar Sher Ali, son of Mihrdil Khan, was at Lash; an
army from Kandahar ~designed to frighten Yar Muhammad had
advanced to Girishk, while Muhammad Sidik Khan, son of Sardar
Kohandil Khan, had taken possession of Chakansur in Seistan. Yar
Muhammad, however, was not dismayed, and he pointed out to the
Kandahar Sardars that it would be unadvisable for him and for them
to fall out, who had a common enemy in Kabul, and that he was
going to punish Ahmad Khan, brother of Silu Khan, the Ishakzai
chieftain of Lash. The Kandahar Sardars hesitated ; and the Ruler
of Herat brought the rebellious chief to his senses. He had been
unwell when he started from Herat, and as his indisposition grew on
him, Yar Muhammad left his son, Said Muhammad, to march the
troops back, while he hurried on to reach Herat. He died on the
way, at the Rabat of Mir Mirhulah, on the 1st June 1851.* His corpse
was carried to Herat; and buried on the south side of the shrine of
Jam’i.  Yar Muhammad reigned for eleven years as an independent

Raler.

* Sir Clements Markham, in his History of Persia, p. 498, says, 8th of June 1851.
The date in the textis from the Tarikh-i-Sultani.
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His son and successor Said Khan was a worthless person, and
tainted morever with insanity. The Chiefs put up with him for some
time, till at last his Naib or Deputy, Isa Khan, a Bardurani, invited a
grandson of Haji Prince Firuz-ud-din, Sadozai, to Herat, and put him
in possession of the seat of authority on the 15th September 1855.
Said Khan was murdered at once without an effort on the part of
any one, but Haji Khairullah, an Alakozai headman, to defend him.
This solitary partisan of the unworthy son of Yar Muhammad was
overpowered and mortally wounded. Naib Isa, the Bardurani, and the
Sadozai Prince, next compelled the Alakozais to disgorge some of the
wealth they had acquired during Yar Mahammad’s life-time.

On learning what had taken place, the Shah of Persia assemb